
 
 

  County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Wednesday 30th August 2017 

 

 
Notice of meeting  

 

Economy and Development Select Committee 
 

With Members of the Planning Committee and Strong 
Communities Select Committee invited 

 
Thursday, 7th September, 2017 at 10.00 am 

 
The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

THERE WILL BE A PRE MEETING FOR MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE 30 MINUTES 
PRIOR TO THE START OF THE MEETING 

 

Item No 
 

Item  Pages 

1.   Apologies for absence. 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest. 

 
 

3.   Public Open Forum. 

 
 

4.   To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
1 - 12 

5.   Monmouthshire Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring Report. 
 
Members of the Planning Committee and Strong Communities Select 
Committee are invited to attend the meeting to scrutinise this 
agenda item. 

 

13 - 156 

6.   Revenue & Capital Monitoring 2017/18 Outturn Statement. 

 
157 - 184 

7.   List of actions arising from the previous meeting. 

 
185 - 188 

8.   Economy and Development Select Committee Forward Work 
Programme. 

 

189 - 192 

Public Document Pack



 

9.   Council and Cabinet Business Forward Plan. 

 
193 - 208 

10.   Next meeting. 
 

Thursday 19th October 2017 at 10.00am. 
 

 

 
Paul Matthews 

 
Chief Executive  

 
 

 



 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
CYNGOR SIR FYNWY 

 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
County Councillors: P.Pavia 

J.Becker 
D. Blakebrough 
A.Davies 
D. Dovey 
M.Feakins 
R.Roden 
B. Strong 
A. Watts 

 
Public Information 

 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public 
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please 
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a hard 
copy of this agenda.  
 
Watch this meeting online 
This meeting can be viewed online either live or following the meeting by visiting 
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk or by visiting our Youtube page by searching MonmouthshireCC. 
 
Welsh Language 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh or 
English.  We respectfully ask that you provide us with adequate notice to accommodate your 
needs. 

 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/


 

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Outcomes we are working towards 
 
Nobody Is Left Behind  

 Older people are able to live their good life  

 People have access to appropriate and affordable housing  

 People have good access and mobility  

 
People Are Confident, Capable and Involved  

 People’s lives are not affected by alcohol and drug misuse  

 Families are supported  

 People feel safe  

 
Our County Thrives  

 Business and enterprise 

 People have access to practical and flexible learning  

 People protect and enhance the environment 

 
Our priorities 
 

 Schools 

 Protection of vulnerable people 

 Supporting Business and Job Creation 

 Maintaining locally accessible services 

 
Our Values 
 

 Openness: we aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting relationships. 

 Fairness: we aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and experiences and become an 

organisation built on mutual respect. 

 Flexibility: we aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become an effective and 

efficient organisation. 

 Teamwork: we aspire to work together to share our successes and failures by building on 

our strengths and supporting one another to achieve our goals. 



 

Monmouthshire Scrutiny Committee Guide 
 

Role of the Pre-meeting 

1. Why is the Committee scrutinising this? (background, key issues) 

2. What is the Committee’s role?  

3. What outcome do Members want to achieve?  

4. Is there sufficient information to achieve this? If not, who could provide this?  

5. Discuss the committee’s approach:  

- Agree the order of questioning and which Members will lead  

- Agree questions for officers and questions for the Cabinet Member  

Questions for the Meeting  
Scrutinising Performance  

1. How does performance compare with previous 
years? Is it better/worse? Why?  

2. How does performance compare with other 
councils/other service providers? Is it 
better/worse? Why?  

3. How does performance compare with set 
targets? Is it better/worse? Why?  

4. How were performance targets set? Are they 
challenging enough/realistic?  

5. How do service users/the public/partners view 
the performance of the service?  

6. Have there been any recent audit and 
inspections? What were the findings?  

7. How does the service contribute to the 
achievement of corporate objectives?  

8. Is improvement/decline in performance linked 
to an increase/reduction in resource? What 
capacity is there to improve?  

Scrutinising Policy  

1. Who does the policy affect ~ directly and 
indirectly? Who will benefit most/least?  

2. What is the view of service 
users/stakeholders? Do they believe it will 
achieve the desired outcome? 

3. What is the view of the community as a whole - 
the ‘taxpayer’ perspective?  

4. What methods were used to consult with 
stakeholders? Did the process enable all those 
with a stake to have their say?  

5. What practice and options have been 
considered in developing/reviewing this policy? 
What evidence is there to inform what works? 

6. Have all relevant sustainable development, 
equalities and safeguarding implications been 
taken into consideration? For example, what are 
the procedures that need to be in place to protect 
children?  

7. How much will this cost to implement and what 
funding source has been identified?  

8. How will performance of the policy be 
measured and the impact evaluated.  

Questions for the Committee to conclude…  
Do we have the necessary information to form conclusions/make recommendations to the executive, 
council, other partners? If not, do we need to:  

(i) Investigate the issue in more detail?  

(ii) Obtain further information from other witnesses – Executive Member, independent expert, 
members of the local community, service users, regulatory bodies…  

(iii) Agree further actions to be undertaken within a timescale/future monitoring report… 

 



 

 
 



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

 

PRESENT:  
 

County Councillor P.Pavia (Chairman) 
County Councillor D. Blakebrough (Vice Chairman) 
 

 County Councillors: J. Becker, A. Davies, D. Dovey, M. Feakins and 
B. Strong 
 

 Also in attendance, County Councillor V. Smith 

 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 

Sian Hayward Head of Digital  
Sarah Stephens Acting Assistant Director - Shared Resource Service 
Richard Jones Policy and Performance Officer 
Hazel Ilett Scrutiny Manager 
Richard Williams Democratic Services Officer 

 

APOLOGIES: 
 

County Councillor R.Roden 
 
 

1. Declarations of Interest  
 

County Councillor D. Blakebrough declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest pursuant 
to the Members’ Code of Conduct in respect of agenda item 5 – ICT in Schools Project 
Update, as she is a governor of Monmouth Comprehensive School. 
 
County Councillor D.L.S. Dovey declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest pursuant 
to the Members’ Code of Conduct in respect of agenda item 5 – ICT in Schools Project 
Update, as he is a governor of Chepstow Comprehensive School and a former Chair of 
Governors at Mounton House School. 
 
County Councillor P. Pavia declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest pursuant to the 
Members’ Code of Conduct in respect of agenda item 5 – ICT in Schools Project 
Update, as he is a governor of St. Mary’s Roman Catholic Primary School. 
 
County Councillor V. Smith declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest pursuant to the 
Members’ Code of Conduct in respect of agenda item 5 – ICT in Schools Project 
Update, as she is a governor of Usk Primary School and has grandchildren attending 
Goytre Fawr Primary School. 
 

2. Public Open Forum  
 
There were no members of the public present. 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

3. Confirmation of Minutes  
 

The minutes of the Economy and Development Select Committee meeting dated 13th 
June 2017 were confirmed and signed by the Chair. 
 
4. ICT in Schools Project Update  

 

Context: 
 
To provide a progress update on the investment programme for ICT in schools. This 
programme involved the upgrade and renewal of the ICT infrastructure in schools, 
providing a common platform and standard in line with Welsh Government and 21st 
Century Schools’ aspirations. 
 
Key Issues: 
 
The investment programme is predicted to finish on time, within budget and to the 
required standard and specification. It is expected that all work will be fully completed 
over the summer period, with a post project review in September 2017 to address any 
residual issues. Schools are already reporting an overall increase in performance of the 
infrastructure upgrade and the level of technician support within the Service Level 
Agreement (SLA). 
 
Member Scrutiny: 
 

 With regard to moving schools to the Shared Resource Service (SRS) 
Infrastructure, this is a dedicated education infrastructure so it is not shared with 
the corporate infrastructure. 

 

 All of the machines within the schools are connected to this programme providing 
access to internet sources, printing windows devices and I pads, for example. If a 
school requests something new, then this is looked at with a view to providing it 
to all schools, i.e., doing it once for all schools. 
 

 Schools have the option to use the Cloud and some are doing this via the Hwb 
platform and google apps. Schools are being urged to use the Hwb, as it is a 
platform for Wales. 
 

 A centralised network is being provided in which schools can connect their 
devices to. Machines are virus protected and are up to date. 
 

 Capacity is regularly monitored and increased when required. More capacity is 
now available. This is funded and provided separately from the corporate 
network. 
 

 Under the SLA arrangement there are 4 levels, namely, Comprehensive and the 
Group A, B & C primary schools. 
 

Page 2



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

 It is paramount that each school maintains the level of equipment to ensure that 
the service being provided by the SRS can be sustainable. Schools will be 
required to update their equipment on a routine basis. An audit will be 
undertaken every year and SRS will rate equipment accordingly.  This will help 
schools to manage their ICT budgets. 
 

 The £885,000 had been costed out.  A large part of the budget went on 
employing the four technicians to undertake the work required and upgrading the 
broadband lines to 100mb.  Welsh Government has looked at what has been 
done with regard to increasing broadband lines to 100mb and is looking to fund 
100mb provision across all schools in Wales. 
 

 In response to a question raised regarding bandwidth and whether the system 
was adequate to support the present and future infrastructure, service provider 
constraints and whether capacity could be sold back to the open market, it was 
noted that officers would investigate the matter regarding selling back capacity. 
Bandwidth will be monitored with a view to ensuring that adequate capacity was 
available. The infrastructure itself is fully resilient and will create minimal 
disruption to schools should a server fail. New storage has been purchased and 
opportunities to store via the Cloud were also being looked at. Other authorities 
are keen to examine what Monmouthshire County Council has been undertaking. 
 

 A rolling audit process will commence in April every year as part of the SLA 
delivery. 
 

 The Team meets with schools in order to understand what they are trying to 
achieve with a view to checking off any infrastructure complexities that might 
occur.  From a primary school perspective, many of the applications that schools 
are using are web based and the Team are available to ensure resilience of the 
systems used. In a secondary school capacity, it differs, as schools tend to 
operate ‘higher end’ machines.  Therefore, the Team works with the schools to 
ensure the right equipment is required before purchasing it. 
 

 The Education Achievement Service (EAS) goes into schools to coach how to 
teach in a digital world. 
 

 A question was asked whether communities could benefit from using the 100MB 
lines that have been installed.  It was noted that this matter would be 
investigated. 
 

 Capacity has to be regularly reviewed and monitored. 
 

 Schools have IT coordinators.  However, a web based call logging system is in 
place within schools allowing individuals to log calls rather than this being 
undertaken by an IT coordinator. There is also a technician in post per cluster to 
respond to issues quickly.  
 

Page 3



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

 The 100MB upgrade to Mounton House School will go live during the schools’ 
summer holidays. 
 

 Joint scrutiny between the Economy and Development Select Committee and the 
Children and Young People Select Committee could be undertaken in respect of 
the pipeline of development from primary school to secondary school. 
 

 A user working group will be established whereby selected head teachers, with 
representatives of the authority, will review progress. 
 

 Lines are monitored to see how well they are performing.  Capacity maps can be 
provided to schools on a quarterly basis so that they might ascertain capacity 
levels. This will allow schools to plan, going forward. 
 

  As part of the equipment refresh within schools, the aim was to remove all of the 
XP machines and the removal of any devices that could not support Windows 7. 
Replacement programmes for older versions of I Pads are also being brought 
forward so that they can support the latest versions of IOS.  
 

 A post evaluation review will be undertaken with all schools within 
Monmouthshire which will run from September 2017. 

 

 
Committee’s Conclusion: 
 

 The post evaluation review will be brought back to the Select 
Committee for scrutiny. 

 

 A Joint Select Committee meeting will be held in the future between 
the Economy and Development Select Committee and the Children 
and Young People Select Committee to scrutinise the outcomes for 
young people in terms of the pathway from implementing the 
technology to delivering the teaching and learning and raising digital 
attainment levels. 
 

 To establish whether bandwidth could be sold to the open market. 
 

 To establish whether rural communities could use the 100MB 
bandwidth. 

 
The Chair thanked the officers for presenting the report. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

5. Performance report 2016/17  
 

Context: 
 
To scrutinise the 2016/17 performance information under the remit of the Economy and 
Development Select Committee. This includes: 
 

 Reporting back on how well the Authority performed against the objectives which 
the previous Council set for 2016/17. 
   

 Information on how the Authority performed against a range of nationally set 
measures used by all councils in Wales. 

Key Issues: 
 
The Council currently has an established performance framework, this is the way in 
which the Authority translates its vision - building sustainable and resilient communities 
- into action and ensures that everyone is pulling in the same direction to deliver real 
and tangible outcomes.   
 
Over the coming years the shape of public services in Wales is likely to change 
significantly influenced by two very significant pieces of Welsh legislation, The Well-
being of Future Generations Act and The Social Services and Well-being Act, as well as 
financial pressures, demographic changes, changes in customer needs and 
expectations and regulatory and policy changes. Services need to continue to think 
more about the long-term, work better with people and communities, look to prevent 
problems before they arise and take a more joined-up approach.  
 
The Council has recently completed two substantial assessments of need as a result of 
this legislation. This information has provided a much deeper evidence base of well-
being in the County and, as required by the Future Generations Act, this has been used 
to produce the Council’s well-being objectives and statement 2017. 
 
The shift in focus in the well-being objectives means that activities will need to be 
focused on longer term challenges at a community level rather than some of the internal 
process issues and outputs that could sometimes be found in its predecessor, The 
Improvement Plan. When dealing with more complex societal challenges it will take 
longer for measurable change to come about and longer still to be able to evidence 
those changes in a meaningful way. In the short-term there will continue to be 
milestones that can be used to track the Authority’s improvement journey. This will be 
supported by a range of performance reports select committee can request as part of its 
work programme and the structure of performance reports received by committee will 
be revised to reflect this emphasis.  
 
Appendix 2 of the report sets out performance achieved in 2016/17 against the actions 
and performance measures approved by Council in May 2016 as part of its 
Improvement Plan. As well as being presented to select committees, the objectives will 
be included alongside a further evaluation of performance in 2016/17 that will be 
reported to Council and published by October 2017. The Welsh Government has 

Page 5



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

recently consulted on plans to repeal the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 
which means this is likely to be the final plan and report in this format.   
 
Appendix 3 of the report sets out further key performance indicators from the national 
set that are under the committee’s remit. Benchmarking data compared to other 
Council’s in Wales will be published in September 2017. 
Activity that contributes to the delivery of some objectives cross cuts select committee 
remits and these have also been reported to the other relevant committees.   
 
Member Scrutiny: 
 

 Monmouthshire Public Service Board (PSB) has its own wellbeing objectives. 
The Council also has its own set of objectives.  The Future Generations Act 
legislation requires the Authority to produce its own wellbeing objectives which 
were required to be published by March 2017. The PSB is required to publish its 
wellbeing objectives by March 2018.  It is anticipated that there will be alignment 
between the two wellbeing objectives, as this would make sense. 

 

 Some projects are behind the original timescale and there is no reviewed 
timescale or reviewed plan for completion against these projects. This was noted 
and could be implemented in future performance reports to the Select committee. 
 

 In response to a question raised regarding how agile the report is and its ability to 
adapt to changes to the population, e.g., the proposed removal of the Severn 
Bridge tolls and the affect that this will have on house prices in Chepstow, it was 
noted that the framework is being updated in Council planning with a view to 
being in a position to address these issues that are likely to arise in the near 
future. The wellbeing assessment has identified house prices as being an issue 
and the Public Service Board is investigating ways in which to respond to the 
assessment. 
 

 The Future Wellbeing Plan will identify potential changes and looks to establish 
ways in which to address these issues. 
 

 Appendix 2 of the report, Objective 3 – there is an issue that needs to be 
addressed regarding affordable housing, Monmouthshire is falling behind in 
relation to some of its affordable housing targets. 
 

 Cabinet approval of the Local Development Plan needs to be identified. 
 

 More information regarding the Vibrant and Viable Places plan was required. 
 

 Due to the decline in footfall in the County’s libraries, a question was raised 
whether the Select Committee needed to review the remodelling of Community 
Hubs.  
 

Page 6



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

 Due to the decline in the numbers of people accessing leisure centre services 
within the County there might be a need to review this matter with a view to 
ascertaining the financial impact that this might be creating. 

 

 Tourism targets had not been met. 
 

 
Committee’s Conclusion: 
 
The Chair thanked the Policy and Performance Officer for presenting the 
report. 
 
We resolved that the Policy and Performance officer would collate 
responses to the following questions raised: 
 

 Economic impact of Tourism in Monmouthshire. 
 

 Affordable housing and the Local Development Plan (LDP) review. 
 

 Financial performance of leisure services. 
 

 Community Hubs and the decrease in library visitor numbers. 
 

 Welsh Government’s ‘Vibrant and Viable Places’ initiative. 
 

 
6. Work Programme Report  

 

Context: 
 
A ‘planned approach’ to Scrutiny Forward Work Programming is required in order to 
maximise the effectiveness and added value of scrutiny activity, ensuring focus upon 
topics of the highest priority for the Council and those which reflect the public interest.  
 
Key Issues: 
 
Work programme discussion meetings have taken place between the new Chair of the 
Select Committee and the former chair. Chief Officers provided an overview of the 
Enterprise Directorate at the June 2017 Select Committee meeting, highlighting the 
following topics for consideration for future scrutiny: 
 

 Broadband, Infrastructure and connectivity. 
 

 Employability Grant. 
 

 Rural Development Programme Update. 
 

 Agri Urban Update. 

Page 7



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

 Impact of the Severn Bridge Toll Reduction ~ South East Monmouthshire Future 
Economies Analysis. 
 

 Rights of Way Improvement Plan ~ suggested joint scrutiny with Strong 
Communities Select Committee. 
 

 Affordable Housing. 
 

 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal. 
 

 Local Development Plan. 
 

 Tourism and the Destination Management Plan. 
 

 Events Strategy and return on investment. 
 

 Cycling and Walking Product. 
 

 Outdoor Education Review. 
 

 Alternative Service Delivery Model. 
 

 Health and well-being goals (leisure provision, agreements with schools). 
 
Member Scrutiny: 
 
Having considered the report the following points were noted.  Also, the following topics 
were identified by Select Committee Members for scrutiny: 
 

 In addition to the topics outlined in the report it was agreed that an additional 
three or four topics should be agreed by the Select Committee to be added to the 
topics already identified. 

 

 Some of the topics identified could potentially be merged and considered as one 
topic. 
 

 In response to a Select Committee Member’s question regarding bringing in 
academic opinion into a select committee meeting, it was noted that this would 
depend on the topic.  The Scrutiny Manager would extend an invitation to the 
relevant people / organisation to attend such a meeting. 
 

 Planning sessions can be arranged for Members to prepare and identify 
questions in advance of meetings with representatives from organisations that 
have been invited to attend a select committee meeting. This will depend on the 
topic. 
 

Page 8



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

 Cross border issues should be added to the work programme with a view to 
working with local authorities that border Monmouthshire to scrutinise issues that 
affect all authorities. 
 

 Outside of the select committee meetings members could meet with the public 
and talk about specific issues that are relevant to local people. 
 

 The Future Monmouthshire agenda needs to be added to the work programme 
as an item for scrutiny.  In time, topics such as affordable housing, could be 
added to an overarching theme that is Future Monmouthshire. Additional topics 
could also be considered under this overarching theme in which the Select 
Committee could scrutinise and make a difference. 
 

 It was noted that Business Improvement for small businesses had been 
scrutinised by the Economy and Development Select Committee from the 
previous administration.  The Scrutiny Manager considered that it might be useful 
for the Select Committee to have sight of this document and she would email it to 
Members for context. 
 

 The following topics were suggested to be added to the Work Programme: 
 
- Impact of the Severn Bridge tolls. 
- Affordable housing and transport. 
- Tourism. 
- Enterprise that includes leveraging the City Deal. 

 

 A workshop session would be held to discuss the Future Monmouthshire agenda 
with discussion to establish which items would be incorporated into this topic. 

 

 The impact of the Severn Bridge tolls could be considered as part of the cross 
border issues. Each topic to be considered needs to be initially assessed, to 
determine whether it will have a cross border effect 
 

 Broadband, Infrastructure and connectivity to be scrutinised at a Select 
Committee meeting. 
 

 Employability Grant, as well as other reports identified in the report could be 
emailed to the Committee, initially.  Members could then decide whether it 
required further scrutiny via the Select Committee. 
 

 The Tourism and the Destination Management Plan will be presented to the 
Select Committee for Scrutiny in October 2017. 
 

 The report regarding the return on Investment of the Velothon 2016 will be 
emailed to Select Committee Members by the Scrutiny Manager. 
 
 
 

Page 9



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

 Topics agreed: 
 
- A workshop regarding the Future Monmouthshire Plan. 

 
- Broadband, Infrastructure and connectivity – September 2017. 
 
- Employability Grant and the Agri Urban update – the reports would be sent to 

Select Committee Members to ascertain whether there is a need for further 
scrutiny. 

 
- The Rural Development Programme Update report to be presented to the 

Select Committee. 
 
- The Scrutiny Manager to liaise with Scrutiny Managers within border 

authorities with a view to initiating dialogue regarding cross border issues for 
further discussion later in the year. 

 
- The Scrutiny Manager will arrange for some workshops to be established 

from September 2017. 
 

 
Committee’s Conclusion: 
 

 The Chair thanked Select Committee Members and officers for 
submitting the topics for consideration by the Select Committee. 

 
We resolved to adopt the process outlined in the report to develop the 
Select Committee work programme, taking into account: 
 

 The responsibility to scrutinise performance and key risks in order to 
provide effective challenge to the Council’s Executive. 

 

 The duty to scrutinise wider public services provided to 
Monmouthshire residents as a result of powers afforded to them 
through the Local Government Measure. 

 

 Capacity / resources when prioritising topics for scrutiny and 
agreeing their inclusion into the work programme. 

 

 
7. List of actions arising from the previous meeting  

 
We noted the list of actions arising from the previous meeting. 
 
8. Economy and Development Select Committee Forward Work Programme  

 
We resolved to receive and note the Economy and Development Select Committee 
Forward Work Programme. 

Page 10



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Economy and Development Select Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Thursday, 13th 

July, 2017 at 10.00 am 
 

9. Council and Cabinet Business Forward Plan  
 
We resolved to receive and note the Council and Cabinet Business Forward Plan. 
 
10. Next Meeting  

 

The next meeting of the Economy and Development Select Committee will be held on 
Thursday 7th September 2017 at 10.00am. 
 
 

The meeting ended at 1.25 pm. 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 PURPOSE: 
1.1 To outline the purpose, key findings and conclusions of the Local Development Plan 

(LDP) third Annual Monitoring Report (AMR), attached at Appendix 1. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION: 
2.1 To note the contents of the LDP third AMR for submission to the Welsh Government 

by 31 October 2017 and comment accordingly. 
 
3. KEY ISSUES: 
3.1 Background – Adopted Monmouthshire LDP 
3.1.1 The Monmouthshire LDP 2011-2021 was formally adopted by the Council on 

27 February 2014.  As part of the statutory development plan process the Council is 
required to prepare an Annual Monitoring Report. 
 

3.2 The Annual Monitoring Report 
3.2.1 The AMR provides the basis for monitoring the effectiveness of the LDP and ultimately 

determines whether any revisions to the Plan are necessary.  It aims to demonstrate 
the extent to which the LDP strategy and objectives are being achieved and whether 
the Plan’s policies are functioning effectively.  It also allows the Council to assess the 
impact the LDP is having on the social, economic and environmental well-being of the 
County and identifies any significant contextual changes that may influence plan 
implementation or review. 
 

3.2.2 This is the third AMR to be prepared since the adoption of the Monmouthshire LDP 
and is based on the period 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017.   
 

3.3 LDP Monitoring Framework 
3.3.1 The LDP policy and sustainability appraisal (SA) monitoring frameworks form the basis 

for the AMR, assessing how the Plan’s strategic policies, and associated supporting 
policies, are performing against the identified key monitoring targets and outcomes 
and whether the LDP strategy and objectives are being delivered.  This has enabled 
the Council to make an informed judgement of the Plan’s progress in delivering the 
targets/monitoring outcomes and policies during this monitoring period. 

 
3.4 Key Findings 
3.4.1 Section 5 of the AMR provides a detailed assessment of Plan’s performance.  The 

results of the monitoring process demonstrate that many of the indicator targets and 

monitoring outcomes are being achieved.  Some of the most significant findings in 

relation to these are: 

 Progress continues to be made towards the implementation of the spatial strategy. 

  

 The Council approved proposals for a total of 484 dwelling units of which 93 

(19.2%) are for affordable homes. 

 

SUBJECT: MONMOUTHSHIRE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 

MEETING:     ECONOMY AND DEVELOPMENT SELECT COMMITTEE 
DATE: 7 SEPTEMBER 2017 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: ALL 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 Four LDP allocated housing sites gained planning permission during the year: 

o The Former Paper Mill, Sudbrook (SAH7) 212 dwellings including 20 

affordable units;  

o Coed Glas, Abergavenny (SAH9) 51 dwellings including 18 affordable units; 

o Main Village site at Penallt (SAH11xii) 10 dwellings comprising 6 affordable 

and 4 general market dwellings; 

o Main Village site at Shirenewton (SAH11xiv(b)) 5 dwellings comprising 3 

affordable and 2 general market dwellings.    

Significant progress has been made in relation to three other strategic housing 

sites.  

 

 Affordable housing policy targets set out in Policy S4 are generally being met in 

relation to planning permissions granted in the main towns and main villages.  

 

 The County has a total of 40.76 hectares of employment land available, indicating 

that sufficient employment land is maintained to meet the identified take up rate. 

The take-up of employment land stood at 3.21 hectares which is attributable to 

development on identified business and employment (SAE1) sites (Quaypoint 

Magor and Westgate Business Park Llanfoist) and protected employment (SAE2) 

sites (Union Road Abergavenny and Magor Brewery).  

 

 There has been significant progress in terms of employment permissions within the 

County, with permissions granted for a range of B use class employment uses on 

identified business and industrial sites (SAE1), protected employment sites (SAE2) 

and non-allocated sites (totalling 2.26 hectares). A number of rural diversification 

and rural enterprise schemes have also been approved (6). 

 

 The Council approved proposals for a total of 24 tourism facilities, all of which 

related to tourist accommodation ranging from holiday lets to glamping 

accommodation. The new Sustainable Tourism Accommodation SPG has helped 

clarify our general support for this important sector of our economy.  

 

 Vacancy rates in the central shopping areas in all of the County’s town and local 

centres remain below the Wales rate. Vacancy rates in all bar one (Usk) of the 

County’s central shopping areas remain below the UK rate.  

 

 The proportion of A1 retail uses within the towns’ Primary Shopping Frontages 

generally accord with the thresholds identified in the Primary Shopping Frontages 

SPG. 

 

 A total of 4 community and recreation facilities have been granted planning 

permission.  

 

 51.2% (18.6 hectares) of development permitted1 was on brownfield land. This is 
significant in Monmouthshire terms given the limited opportunities for brownfield 
development in the County. 

 

 No applications were permitted on areas of open space not allocated for 

development in the LDP.  

 

                                                 
1 Excludes householder, conversions and agricultural buildings.  

Page 14



 Ample land remains available for potential waste management sites and there has 

been no reduction in the minerals land bank. 

 

 There has been no loss of listed buildings or historic sites and no development 

permitted which would have an adverse impact on the historic environment. 

 

 A total of 5 schemes incorporating on-site renewable energy generation were 

permitted2 and 3 such schemes were completed, including two large scale PV solar 

parks (Shirenewton and Crick).   

 

 There were no developments permitted in C1/C2 floodplain areas which did not 

meet TAN15 tests. 

 
3.4.2 There are, however, several key policy indicator targets and monitoring outcomes 

relating to housing provision that are not currently being achieved.  The most 
significant findings in relation to these are: 

 

 A total of 238 new dwelling completions (general market and affordable) were 
recorded during the current monitoring period. This, coupled with the 439 
completions recorded during the last two monitoring periods, equates to a total of 
667 dwelling completions since the Plan’s adoption. This is significantly below the 
identified LDP target of 488 dwelling completions per annum (shortfall of 797 
dwelling completions since the Plan’s adoption). 

 

 A total of 47 affordable dwelling completions were recorded during the current 
monitoring period. This, together with the 80 affordable dwelling completions 
recorded during the previous two monitoring periods, amounts to a total of 127 
affordable dwelling completions since the Plan’s adoption. This is significantly 
below the identified LDP target of 96 affordable dwelling completions per annum 
(shortfall of 161 affordable dwelling completions since the Plan’s adoption). This 
relates directly to the construction progress of housing sites, but also to viability 
issues.  

 

 The Monmouthshire Joint Housing Land Availability Study (JHLAS) for the 2016-17 
period demonstrates that the County had 4.0 years housing land supply (based on 
the residual methodology prescribed in TAN1). This is the second consecutive year 
that the land supply has fallen below the 5 year target.  

 

 There has been limited progress with the delivery of allocated strategic housing 
sites. With the exception of the Former Paper Mill site at Sudbrook which achieved 
planning permission during the current monitoring period and the Wonastow Road 
site which is under construction, the remaining strategic sites have yet to obtain 
planning permission, albeit that some have been approved but are awaiting 
completion of the legal agreements. Progress on the delivery of the LDP strategic 
housing sites is provided in the policy analysis section for Policy S3. 

 
3.4.3 This indicates that the LDP’s key housing provision policies are not being delivered as 

anticipated and the subsequent lack of a 5 year housing land supply remains a matter 
of concern. The fundamental contributing factor to this shortfall is the slower than 
anticipated progression of allocated strategic housing sites, albeit that progress is 
being made in bringing these sites forward and there is no evidence to suggest that 
the allocations are not deliverable (as detailed in Section 5 of the AMR). Nevertheless, 

                                                 
2 Excludes householder, change of use and agricultural use. 

Page 15



the slower than anticipated delivery rate does suggest that there is a need for 
additional site allocations.  

 
3.4.4 This continues the trend identified in last year’s AMR and Joint Housing Land 

Availability Study (JHLAS) which lead to the recommendation to initiate an early 
review of the Plan as a result of the need to address the shortfall in the housing land 
supply and facilitate the identification and allocation of additional viable and 
deliverable housing land.  

 
3.5 Contextual Information 
3.5.1 Section Three of the AMR provides an analysis of the relevant contextual material that 

has been published since the adoption of the Plan at a national, regional and local 
level, along with general economic trends.  This concludes that the changes identified 
to date do not suggest the need for an early review of the Plan.  

 

3.6 Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
3.6.1 Progress has been made in the preparation and adoption of SPG to help to facilitate 

the interpretation and implementation of LDP policy.  This is detailed in Section Three 
of the AMR. SPG preparation and adoption will continue in the next monitoring period. 

 
3.7 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Monitoring 
3.7.1 Section Six of the AMR expands on the assessment of LDP performance against the 

SA Monitoring Objectives, providing a short term position statement on the 
performance of the Plan against a number of sustainability indicators. There is an 
overlap between some of the LDP and SA indicators helping to demonstrate how the 
two monitoring processes are interlinked. 

 
3.8 Conclusions and Recommendations 
3.8.1 Section Seven sets out the conclusions and recommendations of the third AMR.  The 

2016-17 AMR maintains the trends identified in last year’s AMR, that is while good 
progress has been made in implementing many of the Plan’s policies and that overall 
the strategy remains sound, a number of key housing provision policy targets are not 
being met which indicates that these policies are not functioning as intended. The 
continued lack of a 5 year housing land supply remains a matter of concern that needs 
to be addressed if the Plan’s housing requirements are to be met.    

 
3.8.2 The position remains, therefore, that an early review of the LDP is considered 

necessary because of the housing land supply shortfall. As there are no concerns with 
other Plan policies at this stage the AMR concludes that is not considered necessary 
to review other aspects of the Plan at this time. Accordingly, the AMR evidences the 
need for an early review of the Monmouthshire LDP as a result of the need to address 
the shortfall in the housing land supply and facilitate the identification and allocation of 
additional housing land. This will involve the production of a Review Report which will 
set out and explain the scope of the Plan revision required. The Plan revision is likely 
to involve the identification/allocation of additional viable and easily deliverable sites to 
boost the land supply.   
 

3.8.3 It is further recommended that this AMR be submitted to the Welsh Government in 
accord with statutory requirements.  The AMR will be published on the Council’s web 
site and publicised via our Twitter account @MCCPlanning. 

 
 

 
 
 
 Page 16



3.9 Next Steps 
3.9.1 The Plan will continue to be monitored on an annual basis through the preparation of 

successive AMRs, with the broad structure of the AMR remaining the same from year 
to year in order to provide ease of analysis between successive reports. 
 

3.9.2 Given the importance attached to the land supply issue an early review is considered 
necessary, as set out in the AMR. This would also assist in seeking to avoid ‘planning 
by appeal’ and ad hoc development coming forward outside the development plan 
system and not in accordance with the Plan’s strategy. However, it is also recognised 
that adopting a pragmatic approach to the determination of departure applications for 
residential development sites will assist in this context (as recognised in TAN1, 
paragraph 6.2).   

 
3.9.3 The Regulations allow for a ‘selective review’ of part (or parts) of an LDP. Such a 

provision would allow for a partial review of the LDP to cover issues associated with 
the housing land supply and site selection, in accordance with the recommendation of 
the AMR. The Council, however, is required to commence a full review of the LDP 
every four years.  This would mean that a full review to meet statutory requirements 
would have to commence in February, 2018. It is considered, therefore, that it would 
be more appropriate for a review to be commenced to consider all aspects of the LDP 
at this stage in order to fully assess the nature and scale of revisions that might be 
required. An early full review will also assist in meeting the 2021 deadline for having 
an adopted revised LDP in place to avoid the local policy vacuum that the new 
Regulations threaten to create.  

 
3.9.4 The next stage of Plan review requires the preparation of a Review Report. This 

should set out clearly what has been considered, which key stakeholders have been 
engaged and, where changes are required, what needs to change and why, based on 
evidence; including issues, objectives, strategy, policies and the SA as well as the 
implications of anticipated revisions on any parts of the Plan that are not proposed to 
be revised. It must also make a conclusion on the revision procedure to be followed, 
i.e. full or short form. The LDP Review Report may conclude that the issues involved 
are of sufficient significance to justify undertaking the full revision procedure. 
Alternatively, a short form revision procedure is available for circumstances where the 
issues involved are not of sufficient significance to justify undertaking the full revision 
procedure.  

 
3.9.5 A LDP Review Report would be produced for future political reporting, setting out a 

recommendation for the type of Plan revision (full or short). That decision would need 
to consider timescales, fit and the relationship with the emerging Future 
Monmouthshire work, Cardiff Capital Region City Deal work and a South East Wales 
Strategic Development Plan.  

 
4. REASONS: 
4.1 Under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) and associated 

Regulations, all local planning authorities are required to produce a LDP.  The 
Monmouthshire LDP was adopted in February 2014 and provides the land use 
framework which forms the basis on which decisions about future development in the 
County are based.  The Council has a statutory obligation, under section 61 of the 
2004 Act, to keep all matters under review that are expected to affect the development 
of its area.  In addition, section 76 of the Act requires the Council to produce 
information on these matters in the form of an AMR for submission to the Welsh 
Government at the end of October each year following plan adoption.  The preparation 
of an AMR is therefore an integral part of the statutory development plan process.  
The Welsh Government has issued regulations and guidance on the required contents 
of AMRs.  The completion of the 2017 Monmouthshire AMR is in accord with these 
requirements and guidance. 

Page 17



 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 
5.1 Officer time and costs associated with the data collection and analysis of the 

monitoring indicators and preparation of the AMR.  These costs will be met from the 
Planning Policy budget and carried out by existing staff. 

 
6. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS: 
6.1 The Council must comply with European Directives and Regulations to monitor the 

state of the environment and this forms an integral part of the AMR.  The adopted LDP 
and completion of the AMR accord with these requirements. 

 
Sustainable Development 

6.1.1 Under the 2004 Act the LDP is required to be subject to a Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA).  The role of the SA is to assess the extent to which planning policies would help 
to achieve the wider environmental, economic and social objectives of the LDP.  In 
addition, the European Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive requires 
the ‘environmental assessment’ of certain plans and programmes prepared by local 
authorities, including LDP’s.  All stages of the LDP were subject to a SA, whose 
findings were used to inform the development of LDP policies and site allocations in 
order to ensure that the LDP would be promoting sustainable development.  The SEA 
Directive also requires that the Council monitor the state of the environment through 
monitoring the sustainability objectives set out in the SA Report.  This forms an 
integral part of the AMR. A third Future Generations Evaluation (including equalities 
and sustainability impact assessment) is attached to this report at Appendix 2.  
 

6.2 Equality 
6.2.1 The LDP was also subjected to an Equality Challenge process and due consideration 

given to the issues raised.  The AMR provides an analysis of existing LDP policies, 
which were prepared within this framework.  Assessments of Equality Impact will be 
required throughout the Plan’s implementation wherever there is likely to be significant 
impact.  Future review of LDP policies and proposals will require an Equalities and 
Well-being of Future Generations Impact Assessment to be carried out. 

 
7. OPTIONS CONSIDERED  
7.1 It is a requirement of the Regulations to monitor the LDP and to submit an AMR, so no 

other options were considered.   
 
8. HOW WILL SUCCESS BE MEASURED  
8.1 Submission of the AMR to the Welsh Government by 31 October 2017 means the 

legal requirement has been met.  
 
8.2 In the wider sense, the purpose of the AMR is to measure the extent to which the 

LDP’s objectives are being met. The report sets out the way this has been measured 
and the successes and challenges experienced.  

 
9. CONSULTEES: 

 Economy and Development Select Committee 

 Planning Committee 

 SLT 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
European Legislation: 

 European Strategic Environment Assessment Directive 2001/42/EC. 

 Strategic Environmental Assessment Regulations 2004. 

 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended 2011). 
 Page 18



 National Legislation and Guidance: 

 Planning (Wales) Act 2015 

 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005 

 Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) (Amendment)     
Regulations 2015 

 Local Development Plan Manual, Welsh Assembly Government, Edition 2, 2015. 

 Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9), Welsh Government, November 2016. 
 

Monmouthshire LDP: 

 Monmouthshire Adopted LDP, Monmouthshire County Council, February 2014. 

 Monmouthshire LDP ‘Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Report Addendum’, February 2014. 

 Monmouthshire Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring Reports, 2014-15, 
2015-16. 
 
Monmouthshire County Council publications: 

 Monmouthshire LDP ‘Retail Background Paper’, March 2017. 

 Monmouthshire LDP ‘Employment Background Paper’, June 2017. 

 Monmouthshire ‘Joint Housing Land Availability Study’, July 2017. 
 
 

11. AUTHORS & CONTACT DETAILS: 
Mark Hand (Head of Planning, Housing and Place-Shaping)  
Tel: 01633 644803. 
E Mail: markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
Rachel Lewis (Planning Policy Manager) 
Tel: 01633 644827 
E Mail: rachellewis@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 19

mailto:rachellewis@monmouthshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

     

     Monmouthshire County Council  

     Adopted Local Development Plan 2011 - 2021  

     Annual Monitoring Report  

     
Monitoring Period 1st  April 2016 – 31 st  March 2017 

   

         

Page 21

jones.s2
Typewritten Text

jones.s2_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1 



 
 

 
 
 

 
Monmouthshire County Council 

Adopted Local Development Plan 

2011 - 2021 

 
 
 

 
Annual Monitoring Report 

 

 
Monitoring Period 1st April 2016 – 31st March 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning Policy Service 

Enterprise Directorate 

Monmouthshire County Council  

County Hall 
Usk 

 

NP15 1GA 
 

Tel.  01633 644644 

E-mail: planningpolicy@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

 

 

Page 22

mailto:planningpolicy@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 
 

 

Contents Page 

 
 Page  
  

1. Executive Summary  
 

1 

2. Introduction 
 

7 

3. Contextual Information  
  

11 

4. LDP Monitoring Process 
 

17 

5. LDP Monitoring – Policy Analysis  
 

21 

6. Sustainability Appraisal Monitoring  
 

92 

7. Conclusions and Recommendations  
 

112 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



  

 
1.1 The Monmouthshire Local Development Plan (LDP) was adopted on 27 February 2014.  

As part of the statutory development plan process the Council is required to prepare 

an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). 

1.2 The AMR provides the basis for monitoring the effectiveness of the LDP and ultimately 

determines whether any revisions to the Plan are necessary.  It aims to demonstrate 

the extent to which the LDP strategy and objectives are being achieved and whether 

the Plan’s policies are functioning effectively.  It also allows the Council to assess the 

impact the LDP is having on the social, economic and environmental well-being of the 

County and identifies any significant contextual changes that may influence plan 

implementation or review. 

1.3 This is the third AMR to be prepared since the adoption of the Monmouthshire LDP 

and is based on the period 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017.   

Key Findings of the Third Annual Monitoring Process 2016-2017 

Contextual Information 

1.4 A summary of the relevant contextual material that has been published since the 

adoption of the Plan at a national, regional and local level, along with general 

economic trends is included in Section 3.  While some of these identified changes may 

have implications for the future implementation of the LDP, none of the changes 

identified to date suggest the need for an early review of the Plan.  The implications 

of some of the contextual changes will take place over the longer term and subsequent 

AMRs will continue to provide updates on relevant contextual material and give 

further consideration to any changes which could affect the Plan’s future 

implementation. 

Local Development Plan Monitoring – Policy Analysis 

 

1.5 Section 5 of the AMR provides a detailed assessment of how the Plan’s strategic 

policies and associated supporting policies are performing against the identified key 

monitoring targets and outcomes and whether the LDP strategy and objectives are 

being delivered. This has enabled the Council to make an informed judgement of the 

Plan’s progress in delivering the targets/monitoring outcomes and policies during this 

monitoring period.  The table below provides a visual overview of the effectiveness of 

policies during the current monitoring period based on the traffic light rating used in 

the assessment. 

 
 
 

1       Executive Summary 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

1
Page 26



 
Targets / monitoring outcomes* are being achieved 
 

 
52 

 

Targets / monitoring outcomes* are not currently being 
achieved but there are no concerns over the 
implementation of the policy 

 
22 

 

Targets / monitoring outcomes* are not being achieved with 
subsequent concerns over the implementation of policy 

 
8 
 

 
No conclusion can be drawn due to limited data availability 
 

2 

*For those indicators with no target/trigger the monitoring outcomes are assessed and rated 

accordingly 

Key AMR Findings 

1.6 The results of the monitoring process demonstrate that many of the indicator targets 
and monitoring outcomes are being achieved (green traffic light rating), indicating that 
the relevant Plan policies are performing as intended. Of particular note over this 
monitoring period:   

 

 Progress continues to be made towards the implementation of the spatial strategy.  
 

 The Council approved proposals for a total of 484 dwelling units of which 93 
(19.2%) are for affordable homes. 
 

 Four LDP allocated housing sites gained planning permission: 
o The Former Paper Mill, Sudbrook (SAH7) 212 dwellings including 20 

affordable units;  
o Coed Glas, Abergavenny (SAH9) 51 dwellings including 18 affordable units; 
o Main Village site at Penallt (SAH11xii) 10 dwellings comprising 6 affordable 

and 4 general market dwellings; 
o Main Village site at Shirenewton (SAH11xiv(b)) 5 dwellings comprising 3 

affordable and 2 general market dwellings.    
Significant progress has been made in relation to three other strategic housing 

sites.  

 

 Affordable housing policy targets set out in Policy S4 are generally being met in 

relation to planning permissions granted in the main towns and main villages.  

 

 The County has a total of 40.76 hectares of employment land available, indicating 

that sufficient employment land is maintained to meet the identified take up rate. 

The take-up of employment land stood at 3.21 hectares which is attributable to 

development on identified business and employment (SAE1) sites (Quaypoint 

Magor and Westgate Business Park Llanfoist) and protected employment (SAE2) 

sites (Union Road Abergavenny and Magor Brewery).  

2 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 27



 There has been significant progress in terms of employment permissions within 

the County, with permissions granted for a range of B use class employment uses 

on identified business and industrial sites (SAE1), protected employment sites 

(SAE2) and non-allocated sites (totalling 2.26 hectares). A number of rural 

diversification and rural enterprise schemes have also been approved (6). 

 

 The Council approved proposals for a total of 24 tourism facilities, all of which 

related to tourist accommodation ranging from holiday lets to glamping 

accommodation. The new Sustainable Tourism Accommodation SPG has helped 

clarify our general support for this important sector of our economy.  

 

 Vacancy rates in the central shopping areas in all of the County’s town and local 
centres remain below the Wales rate. Vacancy rates in all bar one (Usk) of the 
County’s central shopping areas remain below the UK rate.  

 

 The proportion of A1 retail uses within the towns’ Primary Shopping Frontages 
generally accord with the thresholds identified in the Primary Shopping Frontages 
SPG. 

 

 A total of 4 community and recreation facilities have been granted planning 
permission.  

 

 51.2% (18.6 hectares) of development permitted1 was on brownfield land. This is 
significant in Monmouthshire terms given the limited opportunities for brownfield 
development in the County. 

 

 No applications were permitted on areas of open space not allocated for 
development in the LDP.  

 

 Ample land remains available for potential waste management sites and there has 
been no reduction in the minerals land bank. 

 

 There has been no loss of listed buildings or historic sites and no development 
permitted which would have an adverse impact on the historic environment. 

 

 A total of 5 schemes incorporating on-site renewable energy generation were 

permitted2 and 3 such schemes were completed, including two large scale PV solar 

parks (Shirenewton and Crick).   

 

 There were no developments permitted in C1/C2 floodplain areas which did not 

meet TAN15 tests.  

1 Excludes householder, conversions and agricultural buildings.  
2 Excludes householder, change of use and agricultural use. 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

3
Page 28



1.7 The analysis also indicates that there are various policy indicators which are not being 
achieved but with no corresponding concerns over policy implementation, as detailed 
in Section 5 (amber traffic light rating). Further investigation has determined that 
there are justified reasons for the performance recorded and this is not representative 
of any fundamental issue with the implementation of the policy framework or strategy 
at this time. 

 
1.8 There are, however, several key policy indicator targets/monitoring outcomes relating 

to housing provision that are not progressing as intended (red traffic light rating). 

Further investigation has determined that there are concerns with the implementation 

of these aspects of the policy framework. These are as follows: 

 A total of 238 new dwelling completions (general market and affordable) were 

recorded during the current monitoring period. This, coupled with the 439 

completions recorded during the last two monitoring periods, equates to a total of 

667 dwelling completions since the Plan’s adoption. This is significantly below the 

identified LDP target of 488 dwelling completions per annum (shortfall of 797 

dwelling completions since the Plan’s adoption). 

 

 A total of 47 affordable dwelling completions were recorded during the current 

monitoring period. This, together with the 80 affordable dwelling completions 

recorded during the previous two monitoring periods, amounts to a total of 127 

affordable dwelling completions since the Plan’s adoption. This is significantly 

below the identified LDP target of 96 affordable dwelling completions per annum 

(shortfall of 161 affordable dwelling completions since the Plan’s adoption). This 

relates directly to the construction progress of housing sites, but also to viability 

issues.  

 

 The Monmouthshire Joint Housing Land Availability Study (JHLAS) for the 2016-17 

period demonstrates that the County had 4.0 years housing land supply (based on 

the residual methodology prescribed in TAN1). This is the second consecutive year 

that the land supply has fallen below the 5 year target.  

 

 There has been limited progress with the delivery of allocated strategic housing 

sites. With the exception of the Former Paper Mill site at Sudbrook which achieved 

planning permission during the current monitoring period and the Wonastow Road 

site which is under construction, the remaining strategic sites have yet to obtain 

planning permission, albeit that some have been approved but are awaiting 

completion of the legal agreements. Progress on the delivery of the LDP strategic 

housing sites is provided in the policy analysis section for Policy S3. 

 

1.9 This indicates that the LDP’s key housing provision policies are not being delivered as 

anticipated and the subsequent lack of a 5 year housing land supply remains a matter 

of concern. A fundamental contributing factor to this shortfall is the slower than 

expected progression of allocated strategic housing sites, albeit that progress is being 

4 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 29



made in bringing these sites forward and there is no evidence to suggest that the 

allocations are not deliverable (as detailed in Section 5). Nevertheless, the slower than 

anticipated delivery rate does suggest that there is a need for additional site 

allocations.  

1.10 This continues the trend identified in last year’s AMR and Joint Housing Land 

Availability Study (JHLAS) which led to the recommendation to initiate an early review 

of the Plan as a result of the need to address the shortfall in the housing land supply 

and facilitate the identification and allocation of additional viable and deliverable 

housing land.    

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
 
1.11 Progress has been made with the preparation and adoption of supplementary 

planning guidance to help to facilitate the interpretation and implementation of LDP 

policy which is detailed in Section 3.  SPG preparation and adoption will continue in 

the next monitoring period. Where essential, however, resources will be focused on 

Plan review/revision.  

 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Monitoring 

1.12 Section 6 expands the assessment of the performance of the LDP against the 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) monitoring objectives.  There is an overlap between some 

of the LDP and SA indicators helping to demonstrate how the LDP monitoring and SA 

monitoring are interlinked. 

1.13 Some of the most notable findings specific to the SA during the current monitoring 

period include: 

 87% of major new development3 is located within a 10 minute walk from a 

frequent and regular bus service. 

 2ha of open space created as a result of planning permissions.  

 Approximately 20 trees protected by a woodland Tree Preservation Order were 

lost to development as a result of the planning permission for residential 

development at the allocated site at Coed Glas, Abergavenny (SAH9).   

 One location where the annual objective levels of nitrogen dioxide was exceeded 

(Hardwick Hill, Chepstow). 

 8 of 20 proposals permitted on LDP allocated sites and sites of over 10 

dwellings/1ha incorporated Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS)4 into the 

scheme.  

 64.1% of Monmouthshire’s total household waste was recycled or composted. 

3 Major development is defined as development involving one or more of the following: developments of 10 or more dwellings or 
0.5ha; development of building or buildings where the floor space to be created is 1000m2 or more; developments on site with an 
area of 1ha or more; winning or working of minerals, or use of the land for mineral working deposits; or, waste development. 

4 SUDS are drainage solutions that provide an alternative to the direct channelling of surface water through networks of pipes and 
sewers to nearby watercourses. By mimicking natural drainage regimes, SUDS aim to reduce surface water flooding, improve 
water quality and enhance the amenity and biodiversity value of the environment. SUDS achieve this by lowering flow rates, 
increasing water storage capacity and reducing the transport of pollution to the water environment (British Geological Society). 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

5
Page 30



 0 instances where rivers across the County experienced summer low flow. 

 0 hectares of agricultural land at Grade 3a and better lost to major development. 

 1.8% increase in tourism expenditure (£190.05 million)  

 

1.14 The SA monitoring provides a short term position statement on the performance of 
the Plan against a number of sustainability indicators.  As such it is compared to the 
previous two AMRs only, emerging trends will become more apparent in future AMRs. 
 

Conclusions and Recommendations  

1.15 The 2016-17 AMR maintains the trends identified in last year’s AMR, that is while good 

progress has been made in implementing many of the Plan’s policies and that overall 

the strategy remains sound, a number of key housing provision policy targets are not 

being met which indicates that these policies are not functioning as intended. The 

continued lack of a 5 year housing land supply remains a matter of concern that needs 

to be addressed if the Plan’s housing requirements are to be met.    

1.16 The position remains, therefore, that an early review of the LDP is considered 

necessary because of the housing land supply shortfall. As there are no concerns with 

other Plan policies at this stage the AMR also concludes that it is not considered 

necessary to review other aspects of the Plan at this time.  

1.17 Accordingly, the AMR recommends the following: 

1. Continue with an early review of the Monmouthshire LDP as a result of the 

need to address the shortfall in the housing land supply and facilitate the 

identification/allocation of additional housing land. This will involve the 

production of a Review Report which will set out and explain the scope of the 

Plan revision required. 

 

2. Submit the third AMR to the Welsh Government by 31 October 2017 in 

accordance with statutory requirements.  Publish the AMR on the Council’s 

website. 
 

3. Continue to monitor the Plan through the preparation of successive AMRs.  

 

1.18 This third AMR represents the first part of the LDP Review Report. Subject to the 

conclusion of ongoing discussions regarding regional strategic planning, officers 

propose to present the Draft Review Report to Members later this calendar year. 

 

 

 

6 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 31



 

2.1 The Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) provides the basis for monitoring the 
effectiveness of the Local Development Plan (LDP) and ultimately determines whether 
any revisions to the Plan are necessary. It aims to demonstrate the extent to which the 
LDP strategy and objectives are being achieved and whether the Plan’s policies are 
functioning effectively.  It also allows the Council to assess the impact the LDP is having 
on the social, economic and environmental well-being of the County and identifies any 
significant contextual changes that might influence the Plan’s implementation or 
review. 

 
2.2 Monitoring is a continuous part of the plan making process.  It provides the connection 

between evidence gathering, plan strategy and policy formulation, policy 
implementation, evaluation and plan review. 

 

Adoption of the Monmouthshire Local Development Plan 
 

2.3 Under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) and associated Regulations, 
local planning authorities (LPAs) are required to produce a LDP. The Monmouthshire 
Local Development Plan was formally adopted by Monmouthshire County Council on 
27 February 2014.  The LDP provides the land use framework which forms the basis on 
which decisions about future development in the County, including planning 
applications, are based. 

 
2.4 This is the third AMR to be prepared since the adoption of the Monmouthshire LDP 

and is based on the period 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017.   
 

The Requirement for Monitoring 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
2.5 The Council has a statutory obligation, under section 61 of the 2004 Act, to keep all 

matters under review that are expected to affect the development of its area.  In 

addition, under section 76 of the Act, the Council has a duty to produce information 

on these matters in the form of an Annual Monitoring Report for submission to the 

Welsh Government at the end of October each year following plan adoption.  The 

preparation of an AMR is therefore an integral part of the statutory development plan 

process. 

 

2.6 In order to monitor LDP performance consistently, plans should be considered against 
a standard set of monitoring indicators and targets.  The Welsh Government has issued 
regulations and guidance on the required content of AMRs. 

 
 
 
 

2        Introduction 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

7
Page 32



Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015 

2.7 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations have 
been amended to simplify certain aspects of the local development plan procedures, 
however, these do not affect the LDP monitoring process.  Under Regulation 37 the 
AMR is required to: 

 Identify policies that are not being implemented; 
And for each policy: 

 Identify the reasons why the policy is not being implemented; 

 Identify the steps (if any) that are intended to be taken to enable the policy to be  
implemented; 

 Explore whether a revision to the plan to replace or amend the policy is required. 
 

2.8       In addition, the AMR is required to monitor identified core indicators by specifying: 

 The housing land supply from the current Housing Land Availability Study, and; 

 The number (if any) of net additional affordable and general market dwellings built 
in the LPA area. 

These are both for the year of the AMR and for the full period since the LDP was first 
adopted. 

 
Local Development Plan Manual (Edition 2, 2015)  

2.9 The 2006 LDP Manual outlined additional LDP indicators which the AMR should report 
on. These were incorporated into the LDP monitoring framework where relevant. 
Some of these indicators were adapted to better fit with local circumstances and some 
were discounted as being inappropriate. The revised LDP Manual has deleted many of 
the additional LDP indicators included in the first Manual. However, as some of these 
indicators are included in the adopted LDP monitoring framework the Council will 
continue to monitor these to ensure consistency. The revised manual incorporates a 
smaller number of additional core output indicators relating the housing provision, 
employment and retail matters. However, as these are not included in the adopted 
monitoring framework it is not considered appropriate to include these 
retrospectively.  Rather any necessary changes to the monitoring framework will be 
considered as part of the LDP revision process.  

 
Monmouthshire LDP Monitoring Framework 

2.10 A Monitoring Framework is provided in Chapter Eight of the LDP comprising a series 
of 50 indicators, with corresponding targets and triggers for further action, in relation 
to the Plan’s strategic policies.  It also indicates the linkages between the Plan themes, 
objectives, strategic policies and other Plan policies.  The indicators were developed 
in accordance with the above Welsh Government Regulations and guidance on 
monitoring.  The Monitoring Framework forms the basis of the AMR. 

 

 
 

8 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 33



Strategic Environmental Assessment Regulations (2004) and The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended 2011)  

2.11 In addition the LDP and AMR must comply with European Directives and Regulations. 
The Sustainability Appraisal Report Addendum (2014) identifies a further set of 
indicators (60) that are used to monitor progress on sustainability issues. Whilst 
interlinked, these are set out separately from the LDP Policy Monitoring Framework 
and have been used in the AMR to measure the environmental, economic and social 
impacts of the LDP.    

 
2.12 The completion of the AMR accords with the requirements for monitoring the 

sustainability performance of the Plan through the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Regulations (2004) and The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 (as amended). 

 

 
AMR Format and Content 

 
2.13 The AMR has been designed to be a succinct and easily accessible document that can 

be used as a convenient point of reference for all strategic policy areas. 

2.14 The structure of the AMR is as follows: 

Section 1 Executive Summary - Provides a succinct written summary of the key 

monitoring findings. 

Section 2 Introduction - Outlines the requirement for, the purpose and structure of 

the AMR. 

Section 3 Contextual Information - Provides a brief overview of the relevant 

contextual information which, although outside the remit of the Plan, could affect the 

performance of the LDP policy framework. Policy specific contextual information is 

provided in the relevant policy analysis section.  

Section 4 LDP Monitoring Process - Explains the monitoring process undertaken. 

Section 5 LDP Monitoring - Policy Analysis - Provides a detailed analysis of the 

effectiveness of the LDP policy framework in delivering the identified aims/outcomes 

and targets, together with recommendations for further action. 

Section 6 Sustainability Appraisal Monitoring - Provides an assessment of the LDP’s 

performance against the SA monitoring indicators. 

Section 7 Conclusions and Recommendations – Gives an overview of the AMR findings 

with reference to the analysis made in the preceding sections and, where relevant, 

provides recommendations on issues that require further consideration. 

Publication – The AMR will be published on the Council’s website.  

 
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

9
Page 34



Future Monitoring 

 
2.15 The broad structure of the AMR should remain the same from year to year in order to 

provide ease of analysis between successive reports. However, given that the 

monitoring process is dependent upon a wide range of statistical information that is 

sourced from both the Council and external sources, any changes to these sources 

could make certain indicators ineffective or out-dated.  Accordingly, the monitoring 

framework may evolve over the Plan period and AMRs will be used as a means of 

identifying any such inevitable changes to the framework.  

2.16 The Council is required to commence a full review of the LDP every four years.  This 
means that from the date of the LDP’s initial adoption a full review would be required 
to commence in 2018 in accordance with the statutory LDP process.  A review of the 
LDP in advance of the formal review will only take place if the conclusions of the AMR 
or other exceptional circumstances (as set out in paragraph 4.4) indicate otherwise. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 35



3       Contextual Information 

 
3.1 This section provides a brief summary of the relevant contextual material that has 

been published during the current monitoring period. This includes national legislation 

and relevant plans, policies and strategies at the national, regional and local level. Any 

potential overall implications for the LDP as a whole are outlined where appropriate. 

General economic trends which have occurred since the LDP’s adoption are also set 

out, together with progress on key supplementary planning guidance. 

 

3.2 Contextual information which is specific to a particular LDP policy area is provided in 

the relevant policy analysis section for ease of reference and is therefore not repeated 

in detail here.  

Legislative Changes 

3.3 The Welsh Government did not introduce any national legislative changes during the 

current monitoring period.  

 

National Planning Policy  

National Development Framework (NDF)  

3.4 The Welsh Government has commenced work on the production of a National 

Development Framework (NDF) which will replace the Wales Spatial Plan.  The NDF 

will set out the 20 year spatial framework for land use in Wales, providing a context 

for the provision of new infrastructure/growth. It will concentrate on development 

and land use issues of national significance which the planning system is able to 

influence and deliver. Welsh Government undertook a Call for Evidence and Projects 

during the current monitoring period. Future progress on the NDF and any subsequent 

implications for the LDP will be reported in future AMRs. It is expected that the NDF 

will be adopted in 2022.  

National Planning Policy Amendments 

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, November 2016)  

 

3.5 A revised version of Planning Policy Wales (PPW) was published in November 2016. 

The main changes contained in Edition 9 relate to the following matters:  

 Introduction (Chapter 1): 

This has been updated to reflect the introduction of the ‘Planning Performance 

Framework’ and to take account of the introduction of validation appeals policy 

expectations. 

 Local Development Plans (Chapter 2):  

This has been updated to reflect changes in legislation, including provisions within 

the Planning (Wales) Act 2015. 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

11
Page 36



 Development Management (Chapter 3): 

The procedural content has been streamlined as a result of the publication of the 

Development Management Manual covering these processes. The revised chapter 

also includes reference to ‘Developments of National Significance’ following the 

coming into force of the relevant Regulations related to the Planning (Wales) Act 

2015. 

 Planning for Sustainability (Chapter 4):  

This has been updated to include the statutory purpose of the planning system as 

introduced by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015. There have also been minor 

amendments to take account of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015 and regarding Design and Access Statements, linked to the Planning (Wales) 

Act 2015. 

 Historic Environment (Chapter 6):  

This chapter has been revised in conjunction with Cadw following Royal Assent of 

the Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

 Retail and Commercial Development (Chapter 10)  

This chapter has been updated to reflect the Welsh Government’s revised national 

planning policy for retailing and commercial development.  

  

Technical Advice Notes (TANs) 

3.6 TAN 4 Retail and Commercial Development was updated during the current 

monitoring period. The potential implications of the changes to this TAN for the LDP 

are provided in the relevant policy analysis section (Section 5, Policy S6). 

Regional Context   

Strategic Development Plans (SDP)  

3.7 The Planning (Wales) Act provides a legal framework for the preparation of Strategic 

Development Plan. This will allow larger than local issues such as housing demand, 

search areas for strategic employment sites and supporting transport infrastructure, 

which cut across a number of local planning authorities, to be considered and planned 

for in an integrated way. SDPs will address cross-boundary issues at a regional level 

and must be in general conformity with the NDF. The Regulations make reference to 

three potential strategic planning areas including South East Wales. It is anticipated 

that Monmouthshire will be part of this strategic planning area, in alignment with the 

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal proposals.  Regional discussions on the options for 

progressing a SDP were held during the current monitoring period. Future progress on 

the SDP and any subsequent implications for the LDP will be reported in future AMRs.  

 

 

 

12 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 37



Cardiff Capital Region and City Deal  

 

3.8 The Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) is made up of an area of South East Wales, consisting 

of the ten local authorities, including Monmouthshire. These local authorities have 

joined forces in order to tackle issues that affect the whole of the region, such as 

worklessness and poor transportation links, with the aim of working together and 

collaborating on projects and plans for the area.  The Authorities forming the Capital 

Region are progressing the City Deal to fund projects aimed at boosting the 

competitiveness of the region over the next 20 years. The CCR City Deal will help boost 

economic growth by improving transport links, increasing skills, helping people into 

work and giving businesses the support they need to grow. It will also establish strong 

governance across the region through the Cardiff Capital Region Joint Cabinet. The 

Leaders of the ten local authorities in South East Wales formally ratified the Cardiff 

Capital Region City Deal on March 1st 2017. Following this the City Deal will enter a 

transition phase and the Cardiff Capital Region Transition Plan will be created. This 

plan will detail the key activities to be undertaken, including the establishment of a 

Regional Office to drive the delivery of the Regional Cabinet’s work programme in 

anticipation of receiving proposals for investment.  The progress of the Cardiff Capital 

Region agenda, City Deal Bid and any subsequent implications for the LDP will be given 

further consideration in subsequent AMRs where appropriate. This investment 

represents a significant opportunity for Monmouthshire and for the region.  

 

Local Context  

Monmouthshire Well-being Assessment and Plan 

3.9 Under the provisions of the Well-being of Future Generations Act every Public Service 

Board in Wales must publish a Well-being Plan by May 2018. Replacing the Single 

Integrated Plan (SIP), the plan will look at the economic, social, environmental and 

cultural well-being of the each county and will have clear links with the LDP.  Work 

progressed on the preparation of a draft Local Well-being Assessment during the 

current monitoring period, with extensive community engagement undertaken across 

the County and the draft assessment issued for public consultation. It is anticipated 

that the Local Well-being Assessment will be published during the early part of the 

next monitoring period. The findings of the assessment will inform the priorities of the 

Local Well-being Plan. Further progress on the preparation of the Local Well-being 

Plan will be reported in subsequent AMRs insofar as it relates to the LDP.  

 

Future Monmouthshire 

3.10 Monmouthshire County Council has embarked on a project to re-evaluate the needs 

and aspirations of our communities and how a ‘Council of the Future’ will seek to meet 

those challenges.  The community engagement work will run alongside and integral to 

work on the Local Well-being Plan.  The results of this engagement and other relevant 

evidence gathered for this exercise will be of relevance to any LDP review and revision. 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

13
Page 38



 

Monmouthshire Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Update 

3.11 Consultation on the CIL Draft Charging Schedule was completed during the current 

monitoring period. The findings of the national CIL Review were also published during 

the current monitoring period which recommended fundamental changes to the CIL 

process. Consequently, the implementation of CIL in Monmouthshire has been 

deferred pending the outcome of the Government’s response to the CIL Review which 

is expected during the next monitoring period. The progress of the CIL and any 

subsequent implications for the LDP will be given further consideration in successive 

AMRs where appropriate. 

 

Monmouthshire 21st Century Schools 

3.12 Of note work on two 21st Century Schools in the County is well advanced, reflecting 

key corporate priorities of children having the best possible start in life and no-one 

being left behind.  

General Economic Trends  

Economic Activity 

3.13 Key economic activity data for Monmouthshire and Wales from the LDP base date of 

2011 to the current monitoring period is shown in the tables below. The data 

demonstrates that unemployment and earnings indicators have shown improvement 

over this period for both areas, although Monmouthshire outperforms Wales overall. 

Of note, Monmouthshire has experienced improved economic performance in relation 

to these indicators during the current monitoring period with unemployment at the 

lowest level since 2011 and earnings at the highest level since 2011. In contrast, the 

proportion of Monmouthshire residents that were economically active in employment 

over the current monitoring period fell to 76.5% (down from 78.8% during the 

previous year). Despite this marginal decline, the proportion of those economically 

active in employment in the County remains higher than the levels recorded between 

April 2011 to March 2015, and remains above the Wales figure. Such changes are not 

considered to be so significant to have any implications for the LDP.  These economic 

indicators will be considered in subsequent AMRs and any potential implications 

recorded. 

 

Economically Active – In Employment  

 Monmouthshire Wales 

April 2011-March 2012 73.8% 66.7% 

April 2012-March 2013 74.2% 67.6% 

April 2013-March 2014  73.0% 69.5% 

April 2014-March 2015 74.5% 69.3% 

April 2015-March 2016 78.8% 71.1% 

April 2016-March 2017  76.5%  71.4%  
 Source: Nomis (Annual Population Survey, July 1017)  

 

14 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 39



 

 

Economically Active – Unemployed  

 Monmouthshire Wales 

April 2011-March 2012 5.1% 8.4% 

April 2012-March 2013 5.6% 8.3% 

April 2013-March 2014  5.1% 7.4% 

April 2014-March 2015 4.9% 6.8% 

April 2015-March 2016  3.3% 5.4% 

April 2016-March 2017  2.9% 4.4%  
 Source: Nomis (Annual Population Survey, July 2017)  

 

Gross Weekly Pay Full-Time Workers (Earnings by Residence) 

 Monmouthshire Wales 

2011 £560.3 £455.1 

2012 £530.7 £454.9 

2013  £579.5 £475.3 

2014 £577.6 £479.4 

2015 £610.1 £484.4 

2016 £623.4 £498.3 
 Source: Nomis (Annual Population Survey, July 2017)  

 

3.14 Evidence continues to suggest that the income for economically active women who 

both live and work within the County is significantly lower than that of men within the 

same category.  It is unlikely that this is something that the land use planning system 

can directly influence, however, further consideration will be given to this as part of 

the Future Monmouthshire project and, if relevant, via future Plan review/revision. 

 

House Prices  

3.15 As demonstrated in the graph below, Land Registry data indicates that average house 

prices in Monmouthshire have increased over the current monitoring period. 

Subsequently, average prices in quarter 1 2017 (January to March) at £231,857 were 

higher than the 2012 quarter 4 baseline price (£188,720). If the average house price 

trend data recorded exceeds the identified trigger for further investigation set out in 

relation to Policy S4, the Council will consider re-assessing the viability evidence which 

informed the affordable housing policy targets. This is given further consideration in 

the policy analysis section relating to Policy S4. 

 

3.16 A number of recently announced proposals, including the abolishment of the Severn 

Bridge tolls at the end of 2018 and plans for the South East Wales Metro, could have 

potential impacts on house prices in Monmouthshire. Any such impacts will be 

considered in subsequent AMRs.  

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

15
Page 40



Source: Land Registry UK House Price Index (June 2017)  

 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

3.17 The Primary Shopping Frontages SPG was adopted during the current monitoring 

period.  

3.18 Additional draft SPG has been prepared during this monitoring period, namely 

Sustainable Tourism Accommodation and Rural Conversions to a Residential or 

Tourism Use (Policies H4 and T2). It is anticipated that these will be consulted on and 

progressed through to adoption during the next monitoring period. Work on the 

Landscape SPG is on-going. Progress on these will be reported in the next AMR.  

Summary  

3.19 As detailed above, revised/new national, regional and local plans, policies and 

strategies have emerged during the current monitoring period, some of which may 

have implications for the future implementation of the LDP. However, none of 

contextual changes identified to date suggest the need for an early review of the Plan.  

Subsequent AMRs will continue to provide updates on relevant contextual material 

which could affect the Plan’s future implementation.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 41



4       LDP Monitoring Process 

 

How is the LDP Monitored?  

4.1 Section 5 provides a detailed analysis of the effectiveness of the LDP policy framework 

in delivering the identified policy aims/outcomes and targets, together with 

appropriate recommendations for further action. Consideration is also given to any 

significant policy specific contextual issues that have arisen over the monitoring period 

which could affect policy implementation. Aligned with the LDP monitoring 

framework, the analysis is grouped according the Plan’s strategic policies and is 

structured as follows: 

Monitoring Aims / 
Outcomes  

The monitoring aim / outcome identifies what each strategic 
policy is seeking to achieve.  Supporting objectives, 
development management and site allocation policies are also 
set out to demonstrate the interlinkages between the policies.  
 

Contextual 
information 
 

Significant contextual information that has been published 
over the monitoring period is outlined where relevant to a 
particular strategic policy.  This will enable the AMR to 
determine whether the performance of a policy has been 
affected by contextual changes.   These can include new or 
amended legislation, national, regional and local plans, 
policies or strategies as well as external social and economic 
trends which could affect the delivery of the LDP such as 
economic conditions. Any such changes lie outside the remit 
of the LDP.  
 

Indicators, targets 
and triggers  
 

Policy performance recorded during the monitoring period in 

relation to the indicators and relevant targets /triggers for 
further investigation is set out for each strategic policy.  
 
The targets and triggers for certain indicators have been sub-
divided to enable the effective monitoring of these indicators. 
This includes indicators relating to the following strategic 
policies: 

 S1 Spatial Strategy 

 S3 Strategic Housing Sites 

 S4 Affordable Housing 

 S6 Retail 

 S8/S9 Enterprise and Economy/ Employment Sites 
Provision   

The total number of targets and triggers in the monitoring 
framework has subsequently increased.  
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

17
Page 42



Where relevant, indicator data recorded in previous AMRs is 
provided in the tables. Such data is colour coded (i.e. red, 
amber, green) to enable trends to be readily identified.  
 

Analysis  
 

Having regard to the indicators, relevant targets, triggers and 
monitoring outcomes, the AMR assesses whether the Plan’s 
strategic policies are being implemented as intended and 
whether the LDP objectives and strategy are being achieved.  
This includes the identification and further investigation of any 
policy that fails to meet its target and/or has reached its trigger 
point. However, the fact that a policy reaches its trigger level 
does not automatically imply that the policy is failing. The 
analysis will consider whether such performance may be due 
to extraneous circumstances or could be justified in the 
context of the overall policy framework. 
 
The analysis excludes those indicator targets with no 
applicable planning applications or completions to assess 
during the monitoring period. These totalled 6 during the 
current monitoring period.  
 

Recommendations  
 

Taking account of the policy analysis, appropriate 
recommendations are provided including a statement of any 
necessary actions required. If policies are found to be failing 
the AMR will set out clear recommendations on what, if 
anything, needs to be done to address this.  
 
Consideration of the LDP against all of the information 
gathered over the monitoring period will allow the Council to 
determine whether a review of the Plan is required.  
 

 

 Policy Performance Traffic Light Rating  

4.2 As a visual aid in monitoring the effectiveness of the Plan’s strategic policies and to 

provide a quick reference overview of policy performance a ‘traffic light’ rating is 

included for relevant indicators as follows:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

18 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 43



 

 

 

 
 
 

Policy targets/monitoring outcomes* are being achieved  

 
 
 

Policy targets/monitoring outcomes* are not currently being 
achieved but there are no concerns over the implementation 
of the policy   

 
 
 

Policy targets/monitoring outcomes* are not currently being 
achieved with subsequent concerns over the implementation 
of the policy   

 
 
 

No conclusion can be drawn due to limited data 

*For those indicators with no target/trigger the monitoring outcomes are assessed and rated accordingly.  

 

Replacement Indicators  

4.3 In instances where the Council has been unable to monitor an indicator or where an 

indicator has been superseded, an explanation will be provided in the relevant policy 

analysis section and, where appropriate, an alternative indicator will be identified.  

There may also be instances where it is necessary to amend an indicator, for example, 

to improve the clarity of the indicator or realign it with relevant data sets. In such cases 

an explanation will be provided in the relevant policy analysis section and the indicator 

amended as appropriate.  

 

Triggers for Plan Review  

4.4 The Council is required to commence a full review of the LDP every four years. It is, 
however, recognised that the following exceptional circumstances could elicit an early 
review of the Plan:  

 A significant change in external conditions 

 A significant change in national policy or legislation 

 A significant change in local circumstances e.g. closure of a significant employment 
site that weakens the local economy  

 A significant change in development pressures or needs and investment strategies 
of major public and private investors 

 Significant concerns from the results of the AMR in terms of policy 
effectiveness/implementation and site delivery, including a fall in the housing land 
supply below 5 years. 

All of these issues will be taken into consideration in determining whether a full or 
partial review of the Plan is necessary.   
 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

19
Page 44



Sustainability Appraisal Monitoring Framework 

4.5 The Sustainability Appraisal Monitoring expands the assessment of the performance 

of the LDP against the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) monitoring objectives. The SA 

identifies 17 objectives and 61 indicators to measure the environmental, economic 

and social impacts of the LDP.  This is set out in Section 6 of the AMR.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 45



5      LDP Monitoring – Policy Analysis   

 

5.1 This section provides a detailed assessment of whether the Plan’s strategic policies, and 

associated supporting policies, are being implemented as intended and whether the LDP 

objectives and strategy are being achieved. Appropriate recommendations are 

subsequently provided, together with necessary actions to address any policy 

implementation issues identified through the monitoring process.  Aligned with the LDP, 

the analysis is set out in strategic policy order.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

21
Page 46



Spatial Strategy  
 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: New housing development to be distributed in accordance 
with the LDP Spatial Strategy  

Strategic Policy:  S1/S2 Spatial Distribution of New Housing Provision  

LDP Objectives Supported:  1, 3 & 4  
 

Contextual Changes  

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area during the 

monitoring period.  

 

Of note, additional information on Monmouthshire’s current housing land availability, 

including dwelling completions/permissions and their location, is available in the 2017 Joint 

Housing Land Availability Study (JHLAS) which can be accessed via the following link: 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/08/JHLA-Study-2017.pdf  

 

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

 
Performance 
1 April 2016 – 

31 March 
2017 

 

Proportion of new 
housing development 
provided in accordance 
with the spatial 
strategy Policy S1 / 
settlement hierarchy 
set out in Policy S2*  

Location of new 
residential 
development should 
correspond to the 
requirements set out in 
the Tables to Policy S2:   

Housing completions 
are +/- 10% of the 
requirements set 
out in the tables to 
Policy S2 in any 1 
year  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Dwelling 
Completions 

a) Main towns 41% 
 

(2014-15: 27%) 
(2015-16: 40.2%) 

38.2% 
 
 

b) Severnside 
Settlements 33% 

 
(2014-15: 43%) 
(2015-16: 8.1%) 

19.3% 
 
  

c) Rural Secondary 
Settlements 10% 

 
(2014-15: 6%) 
(2015-16: 37.2%) 

21.4% 
 

  

22 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 47

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/08/JHLA-Study-2017.pdf


d) Rural General 16% 
 
(2014-15: 24%) 
(2015-16: 14.5%) 

21% 
 

  

Analysis – Dwelling Completions  

a) Main Towns 
Of the 238 dwelling completions recorded during the monitoring period, 38.2% (91 units) 
were in the County’s main towns which is marginally below the identified target of 41%. 
The vast majority of these completions (85%, 77 units) were in Monmouth, with 38 
completions on two large windfall sites** in Monmouth (Dixton Road Clinic, 18 and Former 
Cottage Hospital, 20), 21 completions at the LDP allocated site at Wonastow Road (SAH4) 
and 18 completions on small sites***. Over the monitoring period completions totalled 6 
in Abergavenny and 8 in Chepstow, all of which were on small sites.  The completions were 
predominantly general market dwellings, with 4 affordable dwelling completions in 
Monmouth (Dixton Road Clinic).   
 
As may be expected, given that the LDP allocated site at Wonastow Road, Monmouth 
gained reserved matters permission during the last monitoring period, development at the 
site is progressing with a number of completions recorded (21), accounting for 23% of total 
main town completions. Conversely, the allocated LDP sites in Abergavenny and Chepstow 
have not yet obtained permission and subsequently there have been no completions on 
these sites over the current monitoring period.  However, it is anticipated that as these 
sites obtain permission and are developed dwelling completions in Abergavenny and 
Chepstow will align more closely with the spatial strategy. Further details on the progress 
of these sites is set out in the analysis of strategic housing sites (Policy S3). A significant 
proportion of the completions recorded in the main towns (42%) was due to large windfall 
sites. Indeed, the relatively high proportion of dwelling completions in the main towns 
reflects the fact that windfall sites accounted for almost half (49%) of all completions 
recorded in Monmouthshire over the monitoring period.  
 
Dwelling completions recorded in the main towns during this monitoring period are similar 
to those recorded last year (40.2%) and compare more favourably to those recorded during 
the first monitoring period (27%). Again, this is predominantly attributable to a high 
number of large windfall site completions recorded, rather than the 
progression/development of strategic site allocations, albeit that development at 
Wonastow Road has commenced.  
 
In view of the above, there is not considered to be any significant issue with the 
implementation of Plan’s spatial strategy in relation to dwelling completions in the main 
towns. While it is recognised that windfall sites accounted for a significant proportion of 
completions these are in accordance with the spatial strategy.  The Council will continue to 
monitor this issue closely in order to determine the effectiveness of the spatial strategy 
over the Plan period.    
 
 
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

23
Page 48



b) Severnside Settlements  
19.3% (46 units) of dwelling completions recorded during the monitoring period were in 
Severnside settlements which is lower than the identified target of 33% for this area. This 
signifies that the trigger for this indicator has been met. Over half (59%, 27 units) of these 
completions were on windfall sites (both former primary school sites) – one in Caldicot (8 
units) and one in Rogiet (19 units) – all of which were affordable dwellings. The remaining 
completions (19 units) were on small sites – 9 completions in Caldicot, 3 completions in 
Portskewett, 3 completions in Rogiet, 3 completions in Sudbrook and 1 completion in Undy. 
Of these small site completions, 14 were general market dwellings and 5 were affordable 
dwellings.   
 
The lower than anticipated completion rate may be expected as allocated LDP sites in the 
Severnside area, which are in accordance with the spatial strategy, have not progressed to 
completion stage. It is anticipated that as these sites obtain permission and are developed 
the proportion of completions in the Severnside Settlements will align more closely with 
the target figure of 33%. The allocated site at Sudbrook Paper Mill (SAH7) gained permission 
during the current monitoring period with development expected to progress during the 
next monitoring period.  Nevertheless, delivery of these sites is slower than anticipated as 
detailed in the analysis of strategic housing sites (Policy S3).  
 
The completion rate recorded in Severnside during the current monitoring period is well 
above that recorded in the previous AMR which stood at 8.1%. As evidenced, this is due to 
a number of windfall sites completions recorded in the Severnside area, rather than 
development on allocated sites in the area.   It is, however, below that recorded in the first 
AMR (43%) which was attributable to completions on residual UDP sites which are now 
built out. 
  
This indicator is considered to signal a temporary issue with the delivery of the Plan’s spatial 
strategy, rather than an issue with the suitability or effectiveness of the strategy itself. The 
Council will continue to monitor this issue closely in order to determine the effectiveness 
of the spatial strategy over the Plan period.    
 

c) Rural Secondary Settlements  
21.4% (51 units) of all dwelling completions recorded during the monitoring period were in 
the County’s rural secondary settlements. As this is +10% above the identified target the 
trigger for further investigation has been reached.  
 
Two large windfall sites in Llanfoist accounted for all of the completions recorded – 
Westgate, 28 dwellings and Gavenny Gate (Former Coopers Filter Site), 23 dwellings, all of 
which were general market housing.  There were no completions recorded in the other 
rural secondary settlements of Penperlleni, Raglan and Usk over the current monitoring 
period.  
 
The completions recorded on windfall sites has resulted in completions exceeding the 
target figure in the rural secondary settlements. However, this is not reflective of any issue 
with the implementation of the LDP strategy or allocations as these sites were approved 
under the Unitary Development Plan policy framework. The high proportion of windfall 

24 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 49



completions in the rural secondary settlements also reflects the fact that windfall sites 
accounted for almost half (49%) of all completions recorded in Monmouthshire over the 
monitoring period. 
 
Furthermore, allocated LDP sites in the rural secondary settlements were not sufficiently 
progressed to generate completions during the current monitoring period. It is anticipated 
that as the aforementioned windfall sites are built out and allocated sites are developed in 
Raglan, Usk and Penperlleni (the latter gained planning permission during the previous 
monitoring period) the proportion of completions in these settlements will align more 
closely with the target figure.  
 
The completion rate in rural secondary settlements, whilst lower than that recorded in last 
year’s AMR (37.2%) was considerably above that recorded during the first AMR (6%). As 
evidenced, the higher than target completion rate is attributable to completions on large 
windfall sites approved under the UDP progressing over the last two monitoring periods.  
 
In view of the above, there is not considered to be any issue with the implementation of 
the Plan’s spatial strategy in relation to dwelling completions in the rural secondary 
settlements. The Council will continue to monitor this issue closely in order to determine 
the effectiveness of the spatial strategy over the LDP period.  
 

d) Rural General  
21% (50 units) of all dwellings completions recorded during the monitoring period were in 
the County’s rural general areas which is marginally above the identified target (16%). 
Accordingly, the trigger for further investigation has not been reached.  
 
As may be expected in rural settlements small sites accounted for the vast majority of 
completions (35 dwellings), nearly three quarters of which were for conversions/change of 
use. Of these, 23 were general market dwellings and 2 were affordable dwellings. The 
allocated main village site at Trellech (SAH11xv) accounted for the remaining 15 
completions recorded in rural general areas over the monitoring period, with 6 general 
market dwellings and 9 affordable dwellings. As the Plan’s other allocated main village sites 
(SAH11) are developed, together with continued opportunities for small site conversions 
and infill development, it is anticipated that the proportion of completions in these 
settlements will align with the target figure of 16% over the plan period.  
 
The completion rate is the County’s rural areas is higher than that recorded in last year’s 
AMR (14.5%) and slightly below that recorded in the first AMR (24%). Generally, however, 
the completion rate in rural general areas has been within + / - 10% of the identified target 
and the trigger for further investigation has not been met during any monitoring period.  In 
view of this, there is not considered to be any issue with the implementation of the Plan’s 
spatial strategy in relation to dwelling completions in the rural general areas as set out in 
Policy S1 and therefore no further investigation is required at present. The Council will 
continue to monitor this issue closely in order to determine the effectiveness of the spatial 
strategy over the Plan period.  
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

25
Page 50



Recommendation  

a) No action is currently required. Continue to monitor.  

b) No action is currently required. Continue to monitor.   

c) No action is currently required. Continue to monitor. 

d)  No action is currently required. Continue to monitor. 

*Dwelling completions and permissions are monitored in order to gain a comprehensive picture of the spatial strategy’s 

implementation  

**Large site windfall >10 dwellings 

***Small site windfall <10 dwellings   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 51



 

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

 
Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 
 

Proportion of new 
housing development 
permitted in 
accordance with the 
spatial strategy Policy 
S1 / settlement 
hierarchy set out in 
Policy S2*  

Location of new 
residential development 
should correspond to the 
requirements set out in 
the Tables to Policy S2:   

Housing permissions 
are +/- 10% of the 
requirements set 
out in the tables to 
Policy S2 in any 1 
year  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Dwelling 
Permissions 

e) Main towns 41% 
 
(2014-15: 81%) 
(2015-16: 31%) 

30.2% 
 

  

f) Severnside 
Settlements 33% 

 
(2014-15: 11%) 
(2015-16: 10%) 

54.1% 
 

  

g) Rural Secondary 
Settlements 10% 

 
(2014-15: 1%) 
(2015-16: 37%) 

5.2% 
 

  

h) Rural General 16% 
 
(2014-15: 7%) 
(2015-16: 22%) 

10.5% 
 

  

Analysis – Dwelling Permissions  

Dwelling permissions in Monmouthshire as a whole are significantly higher than recorded 
during the last monitoring period (up from 212 to 484). This is predominantly attributable 
to the permissions obtained for the allocated LDP sites at Sudbrook Paper Mill (212 
dwellings) and Coed Glas (51 units) which collectively accounted for over half (54.3%) of all 
permissions recorded in the County over the current monitoring period. Large windfall sites 
in Abergavenny and Sudbrook also accounted for a significant number of permissions, 
totalling 116 dwellings (24% of all permissions).  
 
e) Main Towns 
Of the 484 dwelling units granted planning permission during the monitoring period, 30.2% 
(146 units) were in the County’s main towns. As this is 10.8% less than the identified LDP 
target (41%), the trigger for further investigation has been reached. 
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

27
Page 52



Three sites accounted for the majority of dwellings permitted over the monitoring period, 
all of which were in Abergavenny (121 units). These comprised of two large windfall sites in 
Abergavenny, accounting for 70 dwellings (The Hill, 45 units and Mulberry House, 25 units) 
and the LDP allocation at Coed Glas Abergavenny (SAH9) accounting for a further 51 units. 
Although small sites accounted for 18 planning permissions in the main towns, they 
accounted for just 25 of the units permitted – 10 in Abergavenny, 9 in Monmouth and 6 in 
Chepstow.  Of note, 98 (67%) of the dwellings permitted in the main towns during the 
monitoring period were for general market dwellings and 48 (33%) were for affordable 
dwellings, with all of the affordable units permitted in Abergavenny (46 associated with the 
large windfall sites and LDP allocation).  
 
Evidently, Abergavenny accounted for the majority of dwellings permissions recorded 
(90%), with few permissions recorded in the County’s other main towns of Chepstow (4%) 
and Monmouth (6%). As evidenced, this is attributable to the permissions granted for 
windfall sites and an allocated LDP site in the town.   
 
In terms of LDP allocations, the Coed Glas allocation (SAH9) gained planning permission 
during the monitoring period which added significantly to dwelling permissions recorded in 
Abergavenny. However, other LDP allocations in the main towns (Deri Farm Abergavenny, 
Fairfield Mabey Chepstow, Tudor Road Monmouth) did not gain planning permission during 
the monitoring period due to a variety of factors, albeit that headway is being made in 
progressing the allocated sites in Abergavenny and Chepstow. However, as these sites 
advance and obtain permission it is anticipated that the proportion of permissions in the 
main towns will increase in line with identified target thus ensuring improved alignment 
with the LDP spatial strategy. An update on the progression of allocated sites in the main 
towns is provided in the strategic sites policy analysis (Policy S3). 
 
The number of dwellings permitted in the main towns during the current monitoring period 
is comparable with those recorded in last year’s AMR which stood at 31%. However, the 
past two AMRs contrast with the first AMR when the total percentage of such permissions 
stood at 81%. Although this was considerably above the LDP target, it was attributable to 
the outline permission at Wonastow Road Monmouth which accounted for 88% of main 
town permissions.  
 
In view of the above, there is not considered to be any significant issue with the 
implementation of the Plan’s spatial strategy in relation to dwelling permissions granted in 
the main towns and therefore no further investigation is required at present. The Council 
will continue to monitor this issue closely in order to determine the effectiveness of the 
spatial strategy over the Plan period.  
 

f) Severnside Settlements  
Over half (54.1%, 262 units) of the 484 dwellings granted planning permission during the 
monitoring period were in Severnside settlements. This is considerably higher than the 
identified target for this area (33%), meaning that the trigger for further investigation has 
been reached.  
 

28 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 53



The high proportion of permissions recorded in Severnside settlements is a result of the full 
permission for 212 units at the LDP allocated site at Sudbrook Paper Mill (SAH7) which 
accounted for the majority of permissions (80.9%) in Severnside. This is the second of the 
LDP allocated strategic sites to gain permission since the Plan’s adoption. A large windfall 
site at the Old Shipyard, Sudbrook accounted for an additional 46 dwellings permitted.  
Small sites accounted for the remaining permissions in Severnside – 2 dwellings in Caldicot, 
1 dwelling in Portskewett and 1 dwelling in Undy. Of the dwellings permitted in Severnside 
settlements, 237 were for general market dwellings and 25 for affordable dwellings, with 
20 of the affordable units associated with the strategic allocation at Sudbrook Paper Mill.  
The number of dwellings permitted in Severnside settlements during the current monitoring 
period is significantly higher than those recorded in both the 2014/15 and 2015/16 AMRs 
which stood at 11% and 10% respectively. This was identified in the 2015/16 AMR as being 
a matter of concern with the implementation of the policy. In the current monitoring period, 
however, the Severnside area accounted for the highest proportion of permissions recorded 
in the County.  As evidenced, this is predominantly attributable to the allocated strategic 
site at Sudbrook Paper Mill achieving consent over the current monitoring period – the first 
of the four strategic sites to gain permission in Severnside.   
 
There are a further 3 strategic housing allocations in Severnside and as these and allocated 
sites in the County’s other settlements are advanced, it is expected that the proportion of 
permissions in these settlements will align more closely with the target figures. This, 
coupled with continued opportunities for windfall/small sites, should ensure improved 
alignment with spatial strategy as set out in Policy S1. An update on the progression of 
allocated sites in Severnside is provided in the Strategic Sites policy analysis. 
 
The fact that only one of the area’s allocated sites has gained permission is considered to 
signal a temporary issue, rather than an issue with the suitability or effectiveness of the 
strategy itself.  As indicated in the analysis of Policy S3, there is no evidence to suggest that 
the site allocations in Severnside are not deliverable or that their allocation needs to be 
reviewed. The delays in them coming forward, however, have implications for other 
monitoring targets and triggers and the need for any further action is being considered in 
connection with those particular indicators.  
 
The Council will continue to monitor this issue closely in order to determine the 
effectiveness of the spatial strategy over the Plan period.  
 

g) Rural Secondary Settlements  
25 (5.2%) of all dwellings permitted during the monitoring period were in the County’s rural 
secondary settlements. Although this is less than the identified LDP target, the trigger for 
further investigation has not been reached as this allows for a +/- 10% buffer.  
 
Small sites accounted for the majority of units permitted – 12 in Llanfoist, 2 in Usk and 1 in 
Raglan, all of which were for general market dwellings. A windfall site in Raglan accounted 
for the remaining 10 dwellings permitted which will provide 100% affordable housing units.  
 
The lower than anticipated proportion of permissions recorded in the rural secondary 
settlements is predominantly due to limited progression with two of the allocated LDP sites 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

29
Page 54



in these settlements. While the site at Penperlleni gained consent during the last monitoring 
period, the allocated sites at Raglan and Usk have not yet acquired permission. It is 
anticipated that as these sites are progressed and opportunities for infill / windfall 
development continue, the proportion of permissions in these settlements will align more 
closely with the target figure of 10%. 
 
While the number of dwellings permitted in rural secondary settlements during the current 
monitoring period compares more favourably to those recorded during the first AMR (1%), 
the rate is considerably lower than those recorded in last year’s AMR (37%). This variation 
is attributable to the allocated site at Penperlleni gaining consent during the last AMR 
period, coupled with the lack of progress on allocated sites (which are in accordance with 
the spatial strategy) elsewhere in the County.  
In view of the above, there is not considered to be any significant issue with the 
implementation of the Plan’s spatial strategy in relation to dwelling permissions granted in 
the rural secondary settlements. The Council will continue to monitor this issue closely in 
order to determine the effectiveness of the spatial strategy over the plan period.  
 

h) Rural General  
51 (10.5%) of all dwellings permitted during the monitoring period were in the County’s 
rural areas. While this is lower than the identified LDP target (16%), the trigger for further 
investigation has not been reached as this is within the +/- 10% buffer.  
 
Unsurprisingly, small sites accounted for the majority of dwelling permissions recorded 
(51%, 26 units) in a range of rural settlements throughout Monmouthshire. Many of these 
related to barn conversions and all bar one unit were for general market housing. There has 
also been further progress with the LDP rural allocations in main villages during the current 
monitoring period, with permission granted for 10 dwellings (6 affordable, 4 general 
market) at the allocated site in Penallt (SAH11xii) and 5 dwellings (3 affordable, 2 general 
market) at one of the allocated sites in Shirenewtown (SAH11xiv(b)). A site at Llanvihangel 
Rogiet accounted for the remaining 10 dwellings permitted as conversions during the 
current monitoring period, all of which were for general market housing (although the 
permission was subject to an off-site affordable housing contribution).  
 
Permissions recorded in rural areas during this monitoring period are comparable to those 
recorded in the first AMR (7%) and lower than those recorded in the second AMR (22%). 
Despite these variations, the proportion of permissions in the County’s rural areas recorded 
over the past three years has been within +/-10% of the target meaning that the trigger for 
further investigation has not been met to date which signifies that there are no significant 
concerns with the permissions achieved in rural areas.   
 
It is anticipated that the progression of all LDP site allocations, including those within the 
County’s main villages, will ensure that the proportion of permissions in rural settlements 
more closely reflects the identified target and enables improved alignment with the spatial 
strategy.  
 

30 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 55



Of note, three rural enterprise worker’s dwellings were approved during the monitoring 
period5, all of which were considered to be in accordance with TAN6 and relevant LDP 
policies. 
   
In view of the above, there is not considered to be any issue with the implementation of the 
Plan’s spatial strategy in relation to dwelling permissions granted in the County’s rural 
settlements.  The Council will continue to monitor this issue closely in order to determine 
the effectiveness of the spatial strategy over the plan period.  

Recommendation  

e) No action is currently required. Continue to monitor. 
 

f) No action is currently required. Continue to monitor.  
 

g) No action is currently required. Continue to monitor. 

h) No action is currently required. Continue to monitor. 

*Dwelling completions and permissions are monitored in order to gain a comprehensive picture of the spatial strategy’s 

implementation  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 DC/2016/00486 – rural enterprise worker’s dwelling, Cwm Newydd, Rockfield; DC/2014/01467 – rural 
enterprise worker’s dwelling, Pen y Lan Farm, Cwmcarvan; DC/2015/00459 – retention of equine worker’s 
dwelling, Tan Gwyn Stables, Ponthir. 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

31
Page 56



 

Housing Provision  
 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: To provide 4,500 dwelling units (including 960 affordable 
dwelling units) in the County over the plan period.  

Strategic Policy:  S2 Housing Provision  

LDP Objectives Supported:  1, 3 & 4  

Other LDP Policies 
Supported:  

H1-H9, SAH1-SAH11 

 

Contextual Changes  

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area over during the 

monitoring period.  

 

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 – 31 

March 2017 

1. The number of 
additional general 
market and 
affordable dwellings 
built over the plan 
period*  

 

Up to 488 dwellings 
to be built per 
annum 2013-2021  
 
 
(2014-15: 205) 
(2015-16: 234) 
 

10% less or greater 
than the LDP 
strategy build rate 
for 2 consecutive 
years  

 
238 

2. Housing land supply*  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Maintain a 
minimum 5 year 
housing land supply 
throughout the plan 
period  
 
(2014-15: 5.0) 
(2015-16: 4.1) 
 

Less than a 5 year 
housing land 
supply in any 1 
year  

 
4.0 

3. Density of housing 
permitted on 
allocated sites  

 

Meet the target 
densities set out in 
site allocation 
policies SAH1 to 
SAH10  

Planning 
permissions 
granted that do not 
meet these 
densities  

 
SAH7: 30 dph 
SAH9: 26 dph 

 

32 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 57



4. Review of Gypsy/ 
Traveller 
Accommodation 
Needs and Sites 
Study to be 
completed within 
two years of the 
LDP’s adoption  

 

If a need for 
additional site(s) is 
identified seek to 
allocate a suitable 
site by Spring 2017  

Identified need not 
met by Spring 2017  

Gypsy Traveller 
Accommodation 

Assessment 
approved by WG 

January 2017.  
Suitable site not 

identified.  
 

Analysis  

1. 238 general market and affordable dwellings were built during the monitoring period 
(191 general market and 47 affordable). 116 (48.7%) of these completions were on 
windfall sites, including the former primary schools in Rogiet and Caldicot (West End), 
Westgate (Land off Merthyr Road) and Gavenny Gate in Llanfoist, Dixton Clinic and Former 
Cottage Hospital in Monmouth. Small sites (including conversions) accounted for a 
significant number of completions over this period, totalling 86 (36.1%).  Two LDP site 
allocations accounted for the remaining 36 completions, with 21 completions at the 
strategic mixed use site at Wonastow Road, Monmouth (SAH4) and 15 completions at the 
main village site at Trellech (SAH11xv).  
 
The 238 completions recorded is considerably below the LDP target of 488 dwelling 
completions per annum between 2013 and 2021. This figure, coupled with the completion 
rate of 439 dwellings recorded during the last two monitoring periods (205 completions 
in 2014/15; 234 completions in 2015/16), means that a total of 677 completions have been 

recorded since the Plan’s adoption and as such the trigger for this indicator has been met for 
the second consecutive year.  
 
Completions recording during this period are comparable to those recorded in last year’s 
AMR (234) and are marginally higher than completions in the first AMR (205).  Comparison 
with last year’s AMR also indicates that general market completions were higher during 
the current monitoring period (191 in 2016/17 compared with 171 in 2015/16), while 
affordable housing completions were lower (47 in 2016/17 compared with 63 in 2015/16).   
 
Given that few of the LDP allocated sites have progressed to development stage, with 
completions recorded on just two allocated sites during this period, the lower than target 
completion rate may be expected. Moreover, as this is the third year that the LDP has 
been operational, a significant number of completions on LDP allocations would not 
necessarily be expected given the time it takes to progress sites through the planning 
process. However, as allocated sites obtain permission and are developed dwelling 
completions will undoubtedly increase over the remainder of the Plan period. Given that 
a further four of Plan’s allocated sites gained permission during this monitoring period, it 
is anticipated that there will be completions on these sites during next year’s monitoring 
period.  The delivery of the LDP strategic housing sites in particular will enhance the 
completion rate in line with the identified target.   An update on the progression of 
allocated strategic sites is provided in the strategic sites policy analysis (Policy S3). 
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

33
Page 58



There are numerous wider economic factors that influence housing delivery above and 
beyond the planning system.  While only two strategic site allocations had gained consent 
by the end of this monitoring period, significant progress is being made on bringing the 
other strategic sites forward, as indicated in the analysis of Policy S3. There is no evidence 
to suggest that the remaining strategic site allocations are not deliverable or that their 
allocation needs to be reviewed. Where possible, the Council will seek to expedite the 
delivery of the existing allocated sites. Nevertheless, the continued slow delivery rate of 
these sites does seem to confirm the need for additional site allocations through a LDP 
revision and/or through a pragmatic approach to the determination of departure 
applications as identified in last year’s AMR. These matters are further considered below 
in relation to the housing supply indicator. 
 
The Council will continue to monitor dwelling completion rates closely in future AMRs to 
determine the effectiveness of the policy framework in enabling delivering both general 
market and affordable dwellings.  
 

2. The Monmouthshire Joint Housing Land Availability Study (JHLAS) for the 2016-17 
period demonstrates that the County had 4.0 years housing land supply (based on the 
residual method). The overall total land supply is 2,754 units, comprising 2,317 units on 
large sites and 437 units on small sites.  
 
As indicated in the table below, this is the second consecutive year that the land supply 
has fallen below 5 years (based on the residual methodology prescribed in TAN1), and as 
such the trigger for this indicator has been met.  
 
Where the land supply is less than 5 years, TAN1 states that local planning authorities 
should consider the reasons for the shortfall and whether the LDP should be reviewed 
either in whole or in part.  
 
The fundamental reason for the shortfall in the land supply is the slower than anticipated 
delivery rate of the LDP allocated sites, as indicated in the analysis above and in relation 
to Policy S3. This suggests that there is a need for additional site allocations to increase 
the supply of housing land. It is considered that the most effective way of achieving this 
will be through an early review/revision of the adopted LDP.  While it is recognised that 
an early review would be in advance of the statutory 4 year review (due in 2018), given 
the importance attached to the land supply issue an early review is considered necessary.  
This would also assist in seeking to avoid ‘planning by appeal’ and ad hoc development 
coming forward outside the development plan system and not in accordance with the 
Plan’s strategy.  
 
The adoption of a pragmatic approach to the determination of residential development 
sites will also assist in this context (as recognised in TAN1, paragraph 6.2). That is, where 
sites are a departure from the LDP but are otherwise acceptable in planning terms a 
recommendation for approval may be considered.  
 
 
 

34 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 59



The TAN1 requirement for LPAs to base the 5 year housing land calculations on the 
residual method is also considered to be a contributing factor to the current shortfall in 
the Authority’s land supply. It is worth noting that, under the previous TAN1 guidance, 
past build rates could also be used to calculate the housing land supply.  Based on past 
build rates over the last ten years, Monmouthshire would have an 11 year housing land 
supply.  This method of calculation was retracted in the revised TAN1: the point is simply 
made to help illustrate that this issue is not a simple case of the LDP not delivering, it is a 
complex combination of rules around how land supply is measured and external economic 
factors affecting house building and the housing market. The Welsh Government has 
commissioned research into TAN1 and housing land supply and Monmouthshire took part 
as a case study Authority.  The results of this research are with Welsh Government who 
may recommend changes to the way housing land availability is currently calculated, 
however, until such time any changes are made the current system applies.   
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Study Date Number of Years Supply 

1 April 2011-12 4.4 

1 April 2012-13 3.6 

1 April 2013-14 5.2 

1 April 2014-15 5.0 

1 April 2015-16 4.1  

1 April 2016-17 4.0 

3. The following allocated LDP sites** acquired planning consent over the monitoring 
period with site densities as follows: 

 Former Sudbrook Paper Mill (SAH7) 212 units, density of 30 dwellings per hectare.  

 Coed Glas, Abergavenny (SAH9) 51 units, density of 26 dwellings per hectare.  
 

The Former Sudbrook Paper Mill site achieved a density of 30 dwellings per hectare which 
is marginally above the target density for this site of 28.8 dwellings per hectare, as set out 
in the LDP. In contrast, the allocation at Coed Glas recorded a density of 26 dwellings per 
hectare which is lower than the site’s target density of 31.6 dwellings per hectare. The 
lower density achieved was, however, considered acceptable given the site’s specific 
characteristics, including the high number of trees with tree preservation orders on the 
site. Accordingly, the site benefited from a lower density development and this is not a 
matter of concern.  
 
As there have been relatively limited permissions granted on allocated LDP sites, the 
conclusions drawn in relation to site density remain preliminary. Design quality, place-
making and respecting site context are more important that strict adherence to this 
density figure. The effectiveness of the LDP target densities will become more evident as 
allocated sites are progressed. The Council will therefore continue to monitor this issue 
closely in future AMRs.  
 

4. The Council is committed to monitoring the accommodation needs of Gypsies and 
Travellers and has prepared a Gypsy Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) which 
was submitted to the Welsh Minster during the current monitoring period.  The aim of the 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

35
Page 60



assessment is to provide data which will identify Gypsy and Traveller pitch needs 
separately from wider residential demand and aspiration. A key finding of the assessment 
is that there is an estimated unmet need for eight pitches to 2021, based on overcrowding, 
unauthorised occupation and the likelihood of cultural aversion to conventional housing.  
In accordance with the monitoring framework, as the identified need had not been met 
by Spring 2017 the trigger for further investigation has been reached, albeit that this 
matter is being progressed as detailed below.  
 
In view of this and as reported in last year’s AMR, the Council’s intention is to make 
provision for an appropriate site(s) to meet identified unmet need by working proactively 
with the Gypsy and Traveller households to establish their preference for site provision 
(private or Council). The findings of the GTAA process suggest that there is an aspiration 
within much of the Gypsy Traveller community for private site provision in 
Monmouthshire. Where necessary, the Council will work with and support Gypsy Traveller 
households to identify and develop suitable private sites to address the identified unmet 
need in accordance with the LDP policy framework.  It is considered that the provision of 
such sites would be best dealt with through the existing LDP policy framework (Policy H8).  
If a private site(s) cannot be achieved there may be a need to identify a public 
gypsy/traveller site in accordance with the LDP policy framework.  
 
During the current monitoring period, there has been limited progress in terms of 
progressing the recommendations of the GTAA, including liaising with the Gypsy/Traveller 
community in relation to the identification/development of private sites. This is partly due 
to the WG delay in approving the GTAA in the last quarter of the monitoring period which 
gave limited scope to progress the recommendations within the current monitoring 
period.  Furthermore, reflecting the findings of the GTAA, the Council’s Housing Strategy 
Service is in the process of establishing a Gypsy and Traveller Pitch Accommodation Policy 
(a waiting list based on bands (levels) of need to assist in the allocation of pitches). This 
will need to be in place before consideration is given to identification of suitable sites. 
 
Of note, 2 planning applications for Gypsy/Traveller accommodation were refused over 
the monitoring period. The applications relate to a private gypsy site comprising of an 
additional 5 pitches and associated development at land in Llangeview and a 4 pitch 
private Gypsy site in Llancayo.  Both proposals were considered to be contrary to LDP 
policies in relation to development in the open countryside and it was considered that the 
applicants had failed to demonstrate that there were overriding exceptional 
circumstances that would outweigh the LDP policy framework.  It is likely that both 
decisions will be appealed by the applicants and any progress on this will be reported in 
the next AMR.  
 
LDP criteria-based policy H8 will be used to consider any applications for Gypsy/Traveller 
accommodation that arises in Monmouthshire.  
 

Recommendation  

1.  Commence an early LDP review.  

36 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 61



2.  Commence an early LDP review.  

3.  No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  

4.  No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  

   *Core Indicators 

   **Indicator relates to SAH1 – SAH10 allocated sites only. Therefore excludes allocated Main Village sites (SAH11).  

Amended to delete reference to ‘average’ for clarification. The indicator seeks to monitor the density achieved on   

allocated sites, rather than average density.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

37
Page 62



 

Strategic Housing Sites   
 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: To deliver the strategic housing sites in accordance with 
strategic policy S3 and site allocation policies SAH1-SAH7. 

Strategic Policy:  S3 Strategic Housing Sites  

LDP Objectives Supported:  
1, 3 & 4  
 

Other LDP Policies Supported:  SAH1-SAH7 

 

Contextual Changes  

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area during the 

monitoring period.  

Indicator Target 
Trigger for Further 

Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 – 

31 March 2017 

1. The number of 
dwellings permitted 
on strategic sites as 
identified in Policy S3 
and site allocation 
policies SAH1 to SAH7  

 
 

Secure /deliver 
housing need on the 
key strategic sites 
identified in Policy S3 
and site allocation 
policies SAH1-SAH7 
during the plan 
period:  
 

Planning 
permission is not 
granted by the end 
of 2014 for each of 
the strategic sites  

 

a) Deri Farm, 
Abergavenny  

0 

b) Crick Road, 
Portskewett  

0 

c) Fairfield Mabey, 
Chepstow  

0 

d) Wonastow Road, 
Monmouth  

(340*) 

e) Rockfield Farm, 
Undy  

0 

f) Land at Vinegar 
Hill, Undy  

0 

g) Former Paper Mill, 
Sudbrook 

 

212 

38 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 63



2. The number of 
dwellings completed 
on strategic sites as 
identified in Policy S3 
and site allocation 
policies SAH1 to SAH7  

 
 

Dwelling completions 
in accordance with 
the housing trajectory 
for each of the 
strategic sites**  

Dwelling 
completions fall 
below 10% of 
housing trajectory 
target for each of 
the strategic sites  

 

a) Deri Farm, 
Abergavenny 
(2015-16 
trajectory = 0 
completions for 
2016-17) 

N/A 

b) Crick Road, 
Portskewett  
(2015-16 
trajectory = 0 
completions for 
2016-17) 

N/A  

c) Fairfield Mabey, 
Chepstow 
(2015-16 
trajectory = 0 
completions for 
2016-17) 

N/A 

d) Wonastow Road, 
Monmouth 
(2015-16 
trajectory = 30 
completions for 
2016-17) 

21 

e) Rockfield Farm, 
Undy  
(2015-16 
trajectory = 0 
completions for 
2016-17) 

N/A 

f) Land at Vinegar 
Hill, Undy  
(2015-16 
trajectory = 0 
completions for 
2016-17) 

N/A 

g) Former Paper Mill, 
Sudbrook 
(2015-16 
trajectory = 0 
completions for 
2016-17) 

0 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

39
Page 64



Analysis  

1. Dwelling Permissions  
In terms of allocated strategic sites, the full application for Sudbrook Paper Mill was 
granted permission for 212 units during the current monitoring period.  This coupled with 
permission for 340 units at the Wonastow Road site*, means that two of the Plan’s 
allocated sites have achieved consent since the LDP adoption.  However, no additional 
strategic sites have gained planning permission and as such the trigger for further 
investigation has been met.  
 
Given the constraints associated with some of the sites, including Deri Farm and Fairfield 
Mabey, the trigger date of gaining permission for all sites by the end of 2014 was 
unrealistic. Failure to have obtained planning permission on the five additional strategic 
sites by the end of the current monitoring period, however, is a matter of concern, albeit 
that progress is being made on bringing these sites forward as outlined in brief below.  
 
Deri Farm, Abergavenny (SAH1):  
Persimmon Homes submitted a full application for 250 residential units in November 2014. 
Progress with the application has been slower than anticipated due to significant issues 
relating to site viability (affordable housing provision) and undergrounding of overhead 
power lines. However, considerable progress has been made with the application during 
the current monitoring period, with viability issues subsequently resolved, and it was 
anticipated that the application would be approved during the next monitoring period.  

 
The agreed 2016-17 JHLAS expects the site to deliver 232 units within the Plan period with 
first completions in 2018/19.  
 

 Crick Road, Portskewett (SAH2):  
Council owned site allocated for 285 residential units and 1 ha of serviced land for business 
and industrial development. A master planning consultation exercise to consider various 
options for the site was undertaken during the previous monitoring period. Further 
advancement, including pre-application meetings, has been made with the proposal over 
the current monitoring period and it was anticipated that the planning application would 
be submitted and determined during the next monitoring period.  
 
The agreed 2016-17 JHLAS expects the site to deliver 240 units within the Plan period with 
first completions in 2018/19. 

 
Fairfield Mabey, Chepstow (SAH3): 
The landowner submitted an outline application (DC/2014/01290) in October 2014 for up 
to 600 residential units (350 to be delivered within the Plan period), commercial space 
including offices and workshops (Use Class B1) and small scale retail/food and drink 
floorspace (Use Classes A1 and A3) and multi-functional green and blue open space. 
Progress with the application has been slower than anticipated due to various matters, 
including highways issues (Welsh Government Highways Division had a holding objection 
on the application for 18 months). However, considerable progress has been made with 
the application during the current monitoring period, with outstanding issues subsequently 

40 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 65



resolved. The planning application has since been approved (i.e. during the early part of 
the next monitoring period) and is awaiting completion of the legal agreement. 
 
The agreed 2016-17 JHLAS expects the site to deliver 170 within the Plan period with first 
completions in 2019/20.  

 
Wonastow Road, Monmouth (SAH4): 
Outline permission was granted for up to 370 dwellings and 6.5 ha of employment land in 
December 2014. The site developers (Barratt/David Wilson and Taylor Wimpey) submitted 
a reserved matters application (DC/2015/00392) for 340 units which was granted 
permission during the last monitoring period, with the first completions recorded on the 
site during the current monitoring period (21 completions).  
 
The overall LDP site allocation is for a total of 450 units.  The additional units relating to 
this allocation are to be delivered as an extension to the site at Drewen Farm. An 
application for this element of the site has not yet been submitted. This part of the site is 
effectively land-locked until 2019 when the Taylor Wimpey development is sufficiently 
progressed to allow access through. However, discussions are ongoing in relation to the 
possibility of providing an alternative access for construction traffic to enable the site to 
be developed more quickly.   
 
The agreed 2016-17 JHLAS expects the site to deliver 450 units within the Plan period.  
 
Rockfield Farm, Undy (SAH5): 
Council owned site allocated for 270 residential units and 2 ha of serviced land for business 
and industrial use. Progress with the site has been slower than anticipated due to various 
issues, including archaeology. However, significant headway has been made during the 
current monitoring period with an outline application (DC/2016/00883) for 266 units and 
5,575 sq m of employment land (B1 use) submitted to the Council and the application 
substantially advanced.  The site is yet to be marketed. The planning application has since 
been approved (i.e. during the early part of the next monitoring period) and is awaiting 
completion of the legal agreement.  

 
The agreed 2016-17 JHLAS expects the site to deliver 190 units within the Plan period with 
first completions in 2018/19. 
 
Land at Vinegar Hill, Undy (SAH6):  
Site for 225 residential units, linked to the adjacent Rockfield Farm site and was expected 
to progress in tandem.  However, the developer has not yet submitted an application and 
there has been limited progress over the current monitoring period.  
 
The agreed 2016-17 JHLAS expects the site deliver 120 units within the Plan period with 
first completions in 2019/20. 
 
Former Paper Mill, Sudbrook (SAH7):  
Full planning application (DC/2015/01184) was submitted by Harrow Estates (Redrow 
confirmed as the developer) in October 2015 for 212 residential units (192 market and 20 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

41
Page 66



affordable units). There had been a number of site viability issues associated with this 
application meaning that progress with the application has been slower than anticipated.  
However, these issues were subsequently resolved and the application was approved 
during the current monitoring period (November 2016) and site clearance commenced.  
 
The agreed 2016-17 JHLAS expects the site to deliver 150 units within the Plan period with 
first completions in 2017/18. 

 
It is recognised that, with the exception of Wonastow Road, allocated strategic sites have 
not progressed in accordance with the identified target of obtaining planning permission 
by the end of 2014.  The strategic allocation at Sudbrook Paper Mill gained consent for 212 
units during the current monitoring period, albeit that this was outside the identified 
target. Furthermore the agreed 2016-17 JHLAS trajectory figures demonstrate a Plan-
period shortfall of 640 dwellings from strategic sites. The limited progress of these sites 
means that the trigger for further investigation has been met for the third consecutive year. 
As stated above, significant progress is being made on planning applications relating to 
many of these sites with many substantially advanced. Accordingly, it is anticipated that a 
number of strategic sites, including Deri Farm, Fairfield Mabey and Rockfield Farm, will gain 
planning consent during the next monitoring period which will be reported accordingly. 
There is no evidence to suggest that these sites are not deliverable or that their allocation 
needs to be reviewed. The delays in them coming forward, however, have implications for 
other monitoring targets and triggers and the need for any further action is being 
considered in connection with those particular indicators.  
 
Given the importance of delivering the strategic sites, particularly in terms of their 
contribution to the 5 year land supply, the Council will continue to monitor their progress 
closely.   
 
The delivery of strategic sites has obvious implications for the spatial strategy and housing 
delivery (general market and affordable). As noted in the policy analysis for Policy S1, S2 
and S4, as these sites are progressed it is anticipated that dwelling delivery will align more 
closely with the Plan’s spatial strategy and general market and affordable dwelling targets.  
 

2. Dwelling Completions  
The only completions recorded on allocated strategic sites during the monitoring period 
were at Wonastow Road, Monmouth (21 completions) which is to be expected as this site 
gained permission during the last monitoring period. The completions recorded are in line 
with the 2015-16 JHLAS trajectory which predicted 30 completions on this site in 2016/17. 
While the strategic site at Sudbrook Paper Mill gained consent during the current 
monitoring period, this is brownfield site requiring site remediation work prior to 
commencement of development meaning that first completions are not expected until the 
next monitoring period.  
 
As evidenced above, given that considerable progress is being made on a number of 
strategic site planning applications it is anticipated that dwelling completions will align with 
the identified JHLAS housing trajectory targets as these sites progress during the next 
monitoring period.  

42 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 67



Comparison with the 2015-16 JHLAS trajectory indicates that anticipated completions on a 
number of strategic sites have not been met/pushed back because of delays in sites coming 
forward, as detailed in the table below.  

JHLAS Strategic Site Schedule Comparison     

 
2015-16 JHLAS  2016-17 JHLAS  Change in 

Number Units 
Outside 5 
Year Land 

Supply 2016 -
2017  

Within 
5 year 
Land 

Supply   

Outside 
5 Year 
Land 

Supply  

Within 5 
year 
Land 

Supply   

Outside 
5 Year 
Land 

Supply  

Deri Farm  185 65 182 68 3 

Fairfield Mabey  200 150 170 180 30 

Rockfield Farm  195 75 190 80 5 

Vinegar Hill  120 105 120 105 0 

Wonastow Road (Taylor 
Wimpey)  155 11 166 0 -11 

Wonastow Road (Barratt)  160 14 174 0 -14 

Wonastow Road (Drewen Farm)  75 35 110 0 -35 

Crick Road  200 85 140 145 60 

Sudbrook Paper Mill  115 75 150 62 -13 

 
The most significant changes in relation to the number of units removed from the land 
supply between 2016 and 2017 are: 

 Fairfield Mabey (SAH3) an additional 30 units were removed from the land supply, 
resulting in a total of 180 units being outside the 5 year land supply.  This was a 
disputed site in the 2017 JHLAS process with the Inspector determining the LPA 
delivery rate to be optimistic given the constraints associated with the site. The 
Inspector concluded that a total of 180 units should fall outside the 5 land supply.  

 Crick Road (SAH2) an additional 60 units were removed from the land supply, 
resulting in a total of 145 units being outside the 5 year land supply. Melin (who 
are working with MCC in progressing the site) advised the JHLAS study group 
meeting that the delivery rates proposed were too optimistic and they would not 
be able to achieve such build rates. This position was agreed at the meeting and 
the delivery rates amended accordingly.  

 
A total of 640 units fell outside the 5 year land supply in the 2017 JHLAS, compared with 
615 units in the 2016 JHLAS.  
 
This has implications for other monitoring targets and triggers and the need for any further 
action has been considered in connection with those particular indicators which lead to 
the recommendation in last year’s AMR to commence an early review of the Plan.  

The Council will continue to monitor this issue closely in order to determine whether the 
Plan’s strategic residential allocations are being delivered in accordance with the housing 
trajectory targets.  
 
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

43
Page 68



Recommendation  

1. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

2. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

*Wonastow Road reserved matters application (DC/2015/00392) granted 17.11.2015 for up to 340 units 

comprising 238 market and 102 affordable units. The outline permission for the site was included in the 2014 

AMR.  Target is 450 units, additional dwellings to be delivered through the Drewen Farm extension.  

**2015-16 Trajectory as this forecasts completions for 2016-17 period i.e. current monitoring period.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

44 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 69



Affordable Housing  
 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: To provide 960 affordable dwelling units over the plan 
period  

Strategic Policy:  S4 Affordable Housing  

LDP Objectives Supported:  1, 3 & 4  

Other LDP Policies Supported: H7, SAH1-SAH11 

 

Contextual Changes 

House Prices  

The recorded fluctuations in the County’s average house prices since 2012 are set out in 

Section 3 - Contextual Information. The potential implications of average house price trends 

recorded over the monitoring period are assessed in relation to indicator 5 below. 

 

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 

1. The number of 

additional 

affordable dwellings 

built over the plan 

period*1 

 

Deliver 96 affordable 
dwellings per annum 
2011-2021 (total of 960 
over the plan period) 

 
(2014-15: 17) 
(2015-16: 63) 

10% less or greater 
than the LDP 
strategy build rate 
for 2 consecutive 
years   

 
47 

2. Number of 
affordable dwellings 
secured on new 
housing sites  
 

a) 35% of the total 
number of dwellings to 
be affordable on sites 
of 5 or more dwellings 
in the Main Towns and 
Rural Secondary 
Settlements identified 
in Policy S1  
 
(2014-15: 35%) 
(2015-16: 34%)  

Proportion of 
affordable housing 
achieved on 
development sites 
in each area falls 
below the 
requirement set 
out in Policy S4  

 
43%**  

b) 25% of the total 
number of dwellings to 
be affordable on sites 
of 5 or more dwellings 
in the Severnside 
Settlements identified 
in Policy S1  

 
9.7% 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

45
Page 70



 
      (2014-15: 100%) 
      (2015-16: N/A) 

c) 60% of the total 
number of dwellings to 
be affordable on sites 
of 3 or more dwellings 
in the Main Villages 
identified in Policy S1  
 
(2014-15: 0%) 
(2015-16: 60%) 

 
60%/20%*** 

d) Minor villages: sites 
with capacity for 4 
dwellings make 
provision for 3 to be 
affordable; and sites 
with capacity for 3 
dwellings make 
provision for 2 to be 
affordable.  
 
(2014-15: N/A) 
(2015-16: N/A) 

 
N/A          
(No 

applicable 
applications)  

3. Number of 
affordable dwellings 
permitted/built on 
Main Village Sites as 
identified in Policy 
SAH11  
 

Main Village sites to 
collectively deliver 20 
affordable dwellings per 
annum 2014-2021  
 
(2014-15: 0) 
(2015-16: 9 permitted) 
 

10% less or greater 
than the target 
build rate for 2 
consecutive years  

 
9 permitted 
/9 built**** 

4. Number of 
affordable dwellings 
built through rural 
exception schemes 
  

No target  
 
(2014-15: 0) 
(2015-16: 0) 

None   
0 

5. Affordable housing 
percentage target in 
Policy S4  

 

Target to reflect economic 
circumstances  
 
 
 
 
 

Average house 
prices increase by 
5% above the base 
price of 2012 levels 
sustained over 2 
quarters  
 
 
 

Refer to 
analysis 

below (5) 

46 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 71



Analysis  

1. A total of 47 affordable dwellings were completed during the monitoring period, 
accounting for 20% of the total dwelling completions recorded. Two thirds of these (66%, 
31 units) were on large windfall sites – 19 units at the Former Rogiet Primary School, 8 units 
at the Former West End School in Caldicot (both of which are 100% affordable housing sites) 
and 4 units at the Dixton Road Clinic in Monmouth. The LDP main village allocation at 
Trellech (SAH11xv) accounted for 9 affordable dwellings completions, with small 100% 
affordable housing sites accounting for the remaining 7 completions (Cae Mawr Grove, 
Caldicot (1), Green Lane, Caldicot (4) and adjacent to Oak Cottages, Mynyddbach (2)).  
 
While this figure is below the 63 affordable dwelling completions recorded in last year’s 
AMR, it is substantially higher than the completions recorded in the first AMR which 
equated to 17 units. The higher completion rate recorded last year coincided with the 
development of larger windfall schemes in Llanfoist.  
 
Nevertheless, affordable dwelling completions are significantly lower than the identified 
LDP target (96 per annum) with a total of 127 affordable dwelling completions recorded 
over the three years since the Plan’s adoption. Based on the LDP target a total of 288 
affordable dwellings should have been completed which, in view of completions achieved, 
results in a shortfall of 161 affordable dwelling completions between 2014-2017.  
 
Slow progress on the implementation of a number of LDP allocated sites, as considered 
above in relation to Policies S2 and S3, has resulted in limited delivery of both market and 
affordable housing. As allocated sites, including main village sites, achieve consent 
affordable housing completions would be expected to increase in line with the target. As 
previously noted, four allocated sites acquired consent during the current monitoring 
period (with construction yet to commence) with further permissions on allocated sites 
anticipated over the next monitoring period which will result in an increase in the level of 
affordable dwellings completions.  There is no specific evidence to date that demonstrates 
that Policy S4 itself is not operating effectively, albeit that there have been delays in 
determining some planning applications, particularly Deri Farm, because of negotiations 
over viability issues arising from the requirements of Policy S4. These viability issues 
themselves directly impact on levels of affordable housing secured, however, robust 
assessments are being undertaken to ensure the maximum potential contribution is 
achieved.  
 
Measures recommended in the analysis of Policy S2 above are intended to increase housing 
supply, which should benefit the delivery of affordable housing. No specific action is 
required in relation to Policy S4 but the Council will continue to monitor completion rates 
closely in future AMRs to determine its effectiveness in delivering affordable dwellings.  
 

2. Main Towns and Rural Secondary Settlements   
The proportion of affordable dwellings permitted on sites of 5 or more units in the County’s 
main towns and rural secondary settlements during the monitoring period equated to 43% 
which is above the LDP policy target of 35%.  
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

47
Page 72



The findings are based on a total of 4 applications, 3 of which were in Abergavenny and 1 
in Raglan. The largest scheme was the allocated LDP site at Coed Glas, Abergavenny which 
was granted permission for 51 units, 18 (35%) of which were affordable units. Two large 
windfall sites in Abergavenny accounted for a further 28 affordable dwelling permissions – 
The Hill, Pen-Y-Pound was granted consent for total of 45 units, 12 (27%) of which were 
affordable units and Mulberry House, Pen-Y-Pound gained permission for 25 units, 16 (64%) 
of which were affordable. Two of these sites in Abergavenny, therefore, achieved the 35% 
affordable housing target, with Mulberry House actually exceeding it by a significant 
amount. The site at The Hill achieved marginally less than the 35% affordable dwelling 
target but this was justified given the nature of the site and the development. In this 
instance a commuted sum to make up for a shortfall in number of affordable units was 
considered acceptable. A 100% affordable housing scheme in Raglan accounted for an 
additional 10 affordable dwellings permissions.  
 
In contrast to last year’s AMR when two applications did not include affordable housing 
provision (albeit justified on policy grounds), during the current monitoring period all 
permissions on sites of 5 or more units in the main towns and rural secondary settlements 
included affordable housing provision.  
 
The remainder of permissions recorded in the main towns and rural secondary settlements 
were for sites with a capacity of fewer than 5 units and, therefore, fell below the 35% 
threshold set out in Policy S4.  
 
Evidently, the affordable housing target of 35% was met on 3 of the 4 sites permitted in 
main towns and rural secondary settlements and there was clear justification for the 
deviation away from the target in relation to the site that fell short of the policy 
requirements. This suggests that Policy S4 is functioning effectively in enabling the delivery 
of affordable dwellings in the main towns and rural secondary settlements, albeit that this 
is based on just 4 applications during this period.  The Council will continue to monitor this 
issue closely in order to determine the effectiveness of the affordable housing target 
identified in Policy S4 in future AMRs.  
 
Severnside Settlements 
Two applications were permitted in Severnside for 5 or more dwellings over the monitoring 
period. This first of these relates to the allocated strategic site at Sudbrook Paper Mill 
(SAH7) for 212 dwellings, of which 20 were affordable units. The affordable dwellings 
achieved in relation to this site, at 9.4%, is below the identified policy target of 25% in 
Severnside.   There is, however, justification for this deviation away from Policy S4. The 
proposal was subject to vigorous viability testing which culminated in an independent 
assessor verifying that the site would only be financially viable with the provision of no 
more than 20 affordable dwellings. This stance was accepted by the Council. 
 
The Old Shipyard site at Sudbrook was also granted permission over the monitoring period, 
accounting for 46 dwellings, 5 of which were affordable units. At 10.8%, the affordable 
dwellings achieved in relation to this site is also below the identified target of 25% in 
Severnside. However, the deviation from this target is justified. While the application was 
originally reported to Planning Committee in 2012, a viability study was subsequently 

48 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 73



provided which demonstrated that that site would not be brought forward unless the 
requirements of the S106 were reduced, including a reduction from 9 affordable units to 5 
units. Overall, it was considered essential to bring the site forward in order to contribute to 
the Council’s housing supply and to provide 5 affordable units. This stance was accepted by 
the Council.  
 
Nevertheless, the failure to both provide the policy compliant level of affordable housing 
(25%) on these sites, particularly on the strategic site, and to significantly contribute to 
affordable housing provision in Severnside is regrettable. However, this illustrates the 
complexities involved with developing such brownfield sites. It is considered that additional 
easier to develop sites are needed in this area if affordable housing targets are to be 
achieved. Measures recommended in the analysis of Policy S2 above are intended to 
increase housing supply, which should benefit the delivery of affordable housing.   
 
The remainder of the permissions recorded in Severnside settlements were for sites with a 
capacity of less than 5 dwellings and, therefore, fell below the affordable housing threshold 
set out in Policy S4. 
 
The Council will continue to monitor such sites over the next monitoring period in order to 
assess the implementation of the affordable housing targets identified in S4.  
 
Main Villages  
Three applications were permitted over the monitoring period within the Main Villages for 
sites of 3 or more dwellings, two of which related to LDP allocations.  The LDP allocation at 
Shirenewton SAH11(xiv)(b) was granted permission for 5 dwellings, 3 of which are 
affordable units. The scheme at Penallt SAH11(xii) is a larger site and was subsequently 
granted permission for 10 units, with 6 of the units being affordable. Both of the 
permissions for the LDP allocated sites achieved the target of 60% affordable units. The 
additional scheme adjacent to Clearview Court, Shirenewton related to a Reserved Matters 
application, the Outline permission of which was granted prior to the LDP and was, 
therefore, at that time considered against former UDP policies. This site of 7 units achieved 
20% affordable housing equating to 1 unit which was correct at the time of the UDP.    
 
While one of the applications provided only 20% affordable housing provision, this was the 
correct requirement under the provisions of the UDP. The two LDP schemes both provided 
60% and it is therefore considered that the LDP target has been met over the monitoring 
period, indicating, that Policy S4 is functioning effectively in enabling the delivery of 
affordable housing in Main Villages. The Council will continue to monitor this issue closely 
in order to determine the effectiveness of the affordable housing target identified in Policy 
S4 in future AMRs.     
 
Minor Villages  
No permissions were granted during the monitoring period for small sites in Minor Villages. 
The Council will continue to monitor Minor Village sites in order to determine the 
effectiveness of the affordable housing target identified in Policy S4.  
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

49
Page 74



3. Two applications were permitted over the monitoring period on the allocated sites 
identified in Policy SAH11, as referred to above. The first application permitted related to 
the allocation to the north of the road in Shirenewton (SAH11(xiv)(b)) for 5 dwellings. The 
permission achieved the target of 60% affordable units (3 dwellings). None of the 
affordable units were under construction at the end of the monitoring period. Work had, 
however, commenced on the 2 market units. It is therefore anticipated that the affordable 
units will be completed in time for the next AMR. Planning permission was also granted at 
Penallt (SAH11(xii)) for 10 units, this permission also achieved the target of 60% affordable 
units (6 dwellings). None of the units were under construction at the end of the monitoring 
period.  
 
The site adjacent Trellech School (SAH11(xv)) referred to in the 2015 – 2016 AMR, was 
completed during the current monitoring period. Accordingly, a total of 9 affordable 
dwellings have been delivered in the Main Villages on SAH11 sites over the monitoring 
period.  
 
In addition to the above sites, one other Main Village Site application at Llanishen has 
gained outline approval over the monitoring period subject to the signing of a legal 
agreement (S106). A number of other Main Village Sites are also currently within the 
planning/pre-application system and it is therefore anticipated that these will progress 
during the next monitoring period.  
 
As evidenced, while there has been some progress with Main Village allocations, the target 
for these sites to collectively deliver 20 affordable dwellings per annum has not been 
achieved. These sites have delivered 9 affordable units since the LDP’s adoption which is 
significantly short of the LDP target. However, advancement (including pre-application 
meetings) is being made in progressing a number of the Main Village sites which will be 
reported in the next AMR. The delivery of these sites will be given further consideration as 
part of the LDP Review/Revision process. The reasons for the lack of progress on Main 
Village sites will be investigated as part of this process, including for example unrealistic 
land owner expectations in relation to land values. This will enable the Council to de-
allocate those sites that are not progressing as intended.   
 

4. There were no completions relating to rural exception schemes over the monitoring 
period. The single dwelling build your own affordable home site referred to in the previous 
two AMRs has progressed further but is not yet completed. No additional permissions were 
granted for rural exception schemes over the monitoring period. The Council will 
nevertheless continue to monitor this issue closely in future AMRs to determine the 
effectiveness of the policy framework relating to rural exception schemes.  
 

5. The trigger for conducting additional viability testing in relation to the affordable housing 
targets set out in Policy S4 is an increase in average house prices of 5% or more above the 
2012 base price sustained over 2 quarters.  
 
As set out in Section 3, Land Registry data indicates that average house prices in 
Monmouthshire have increased over the current monitoring period, albeit that average 
prices fell between the last quarter of the previous monitoring period and the first quarter 

50 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 75



of the current monitoring period. Subsequently, average prices in quarter 1 2017 (January 
to March) at £231,857 were higher than the 2012 quarter 4 baseline price (£188,720).  
Despite this, the trigger for further investigation has not been met. A 5% increase in the 
2012 quarter 4 baseline price figure would equate to an increase of £9,436 and while 
average house prices have risen over the 2016-17 monitoring period, prices have not risen  
by this amount continuously over 2 quarters. The largest recorded increase recorded over 
the monitoring period was £5,053 between quarter 4 2016 and quarter 1 2017. Accordingly, 
as with the previous AMRs, there has not been a significant change in average house prices 
to necessitate a reassessment of the viability evidence in relation to Policy S4. The Council 
will continue to monitor average house price trends in future AMRs in order to determine 
any potential implications for the effective implementation of Policy S4. 
 
It should also be recognised, however, that house prices are just one factor that could 
impact on development viability. Build costs, for instance, would also have risen over the 
monitoring period. Whilst build costs are not specified as a LDP monitoring indicator, 
general viability issues will be kept under review as information comes forward on a case-
by-case basis and in connection with any strategic viability work in relation to the 
Community Infrastructure Levy. This will enable the Council to consider any further 
potential implications for the effective implementation of Policy S4.  
 

Recommendation  

1. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

2. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

3. Consider progress of Main Village sites as part of the LDP Review/Revision process.  
 

4. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

5. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

*Core Indicators 
1 Indicator and Target based on the Monmouthshire planning area and Monmouthshire LDP only.   

**includes 100% affordable housing site at Raglan (DC/2016/00200)  

***60% achieved on LDP sites. The 20% relates to a Reserved Matters application approved following an outline application 

made prior to LDP adoption.  

****Completion of SAH11(xv) Land adjacent Trellech School 15 units (9 affordable/6 market units) [DC/2015/00097] 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

51
Page 76



 

Community and Recreation Facilities 

 

  Contextual Changes 
 
There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area during the 
monitoring period.   
 

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 

1. Number of 
community and 
recreation facilities 
granted planning 
permission  

 
No target* 
 
(2014-15: 9) 
(2015-16: 5) 

 
None* 

 
4 
 

2. Number of 
community/ 
recreation facilities 
lost  

 

Minimise the loss of 
community and 
recreation facilities  
 
(2014-15: 3) 
(2015-16: 0) 

Loss of any 1 
community/ 
recreation facility in 
any 1 year  
 

 
6 
 

Analysis  

1.  4 planning applications were approved for community and recreation uses during the 
monitoring period. One of the four applications related specifically to a recreation use.  
 
One of the applications related to the expansion of an existing recreation use at Goytre 
Football Club, this provides two seated sports stands with a total capacity of 250 seats. 
The two stands are required to comply with Football Association Wales criteria to play at 
a certain level.   
 
Of the 3 community facilities granted planning permission over the monitoring period only 
one related to a change of use application. The conversion of a dwelling to a day care 
nursery was granted permission in Llanfoist.  Another application related to the extension 

  Monitoring Aim/Outcome: To retain existing community and recreation facilities and 
seek to develop additional facilities  

  Strategic Policy:  S5 Community and Recreation Facilities  

  LDP Objectives Supported:  1 & 5  

  Other LDP Policies Supported: CRF1, CRF3 

52 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 77



of an existing Church in Little Mill, while this relates to a small scale extension it will provide 
additional space along with wheelchair access.  
 
The remaining application related to a public house in Castlegate Business Park, Caldicot. 
While this will support local businesses it is likely to provide increased facilities for the 
wider community in the Portskewett and Caldicot area.  
 
There was a minor decrease in the number of community / recreation facilities approved 
over the monitoring period (4 facilities) when compared to the previous AMR (5 facilities). 
However on the limited evidence available there is no suggestion that the relevant Plan 
policies are not operating effectively. The Council will continue to monitor this indicator in 
future AMRs to determine the effectiveness of this policy framework in relation to this 
issue. 

 2. There has been a loss of 6 community facilities over the period monitored. Five of the 
applications related to residential redevelopment. Two applications related to the loss of 
community facilities to single dwellings, a Craft Shop was lost in Llanellen and a nursery in 
Portskewett. In regard to the Llanellen application, it was noted that there is a general 
store opposite that sells basic groceries and that the loss of the craft shop would 
subsequently be in compliance with CRF1. A public house was also lost in Tintern during 
the monitoring period to a conversion into 2 dwellings. There were a number of other 
facilities in the village providing food and drink, however, so there was compliance with 
policy CRF1, and information submitted with the application demonstrated that the 
business use was financially unviable. The remaining two applications related to 
significantly larger residential redevelopment schemes in Abergavenny at The Hill and 
Coed Glas. The Hill was a former educational centre, the use of which ceased in 2009. Coleg 
Gwent indicated they no longer needed the site and it was therefore disposed of. The 
principle of development was supported owing to its location within the development 
boundary. The former Local Authority offices at Coed Glas closed in 2013, the site is 
allocated within the LDP for around 60 dwellings. The principle of development was 
therefore supported.  
 
The final application related to the change of use of part of the King of Prussia Public 
House, Penpergwm, and its curtilage to an agricultural machinery sales and repair 
business. It is noted that as the application only relates to the former function room, the 
original bar and lounge areas could be re-used as a pub/restaurant in future.  
 
While the data collected indicates that a number of community facilities have been lost to 
alternative uses over the monitoring period and subsequently the trigger for this indicator 
has been met, their loss is justified within the context and requirements of the LDP policy 
framework. Consequently the Council will continue to monitor such proposals in future 
AMRs to determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to this issue.  

Recommendation  

1. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor. 

2. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor. 

*Not considered appropriate to include a target/trigger for this indicator given that in some instances the Council is looking   

to reduce the amount of community facilities or to focus investment on existing facilities  

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

53
Page 78



 

Retail  
 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: Direct new food and non-bulky retail development to the 
County’s town and local centres and seek to enhance their 
vitality, attractiveness and viability.  

Strategic Policy:  S6 Retail  

LDP Objectives Supported:  1 & 2  

Other LDP Policies Supported:  RET1-RET4  

 

Contextual Changes 

Welsh Government published revised versions of Chapter 10 of PPW and TAN4 (Retail and 

Commercial Development) in November 2016.  The documents have been updated to reflect 

the Welsh Government’s revised national planning policy for retailing and commercial 

development. The main areas of change include revised objectives for retail planning policy, 

stronger emphasis on the need for retail policies to be framed by a retail strategy in LDPs 

(complemented by masterplans and place plans to assist in the delivery of the strategy), a 

requirement for LDPs to set out a locally derived hierarchy of centres and revised policies for 

dealing with new uses/centres undergoing change and a consistent approach to terminology. 

However, the policy requirement to consider retail and commercial centres first for retail and 

complementary uses remains, as do the requirements for retail need, sequential tests and 

impact assessments, where appropriate.  The amendments do not result in a requirement to 

make modifications to current LDP policies, however, the revised guidance will be taken into 

account in any future LDP Review/Revision.  

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 

1. Amount of new food 
and non-bulky retail 
development permitted 
in town/local centres as 
a proportion of all retail 
development permitted  

 

90% of new food and 
non-bulky retail 
floorspace to be 
located in town/local 
centres  
 
(2014-15: 0%) 
(2015-16: 53.2%)  

More than 10% of 
new food and non-
bulky retail 
floorspace is 
developed outside 
town/local centres 
in any 1 year  

33% retail 
floorspace 

permitted in 
town/local 

centres* 
 

2. Percentage of vacant 
units within the CSA of  
each town and local 
centre** 
 

No increase in the 
number of vacant 
units: 

Vacancy rate in a 
town/local centre 
increases for 2 
consecutive years  

 

a) Abergavenny 
(2014: 5.1%) 

8.7% 

54 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 79



(2015: 5.8%) 

b) Caldicot  
(2014: 9.2%) 
(2015: 7.6%) 

10.1% 

c) Chepstow  
(2014: 9.0%) 
(2015: 10%) 

7.1% 

d) Monmouth  
(2014: 8.3%) 
(2015: 7.9%)  

4.9% 

e) Magor  
(2014: 9.1%) 
(2015: 0%)  

0% 

f) Raglan 
(2014: 0%) 
(2015: 0%)  

0% 

g) Usk  
(2014: 7.8%) 
(2015: 11.1%)  

13.1% 

3. Percentage of A1 uses in 
the primary shopping 
frontages of        
Abergavenny, Caldicot, 
Chepstow and 
Monmouth*** 

% of A1 uses no less 
than the thresholds 
identified for the 
towns’ primary 
shopping frontages as 
defined in the Primary 
Shopping Frontages 
SPG** 
 

% figures for a 
primary shopping 
frontage fall below 
the threshold set 
out in the SPG  

 

a) Abergavenny 

 PSF1 Cross St, High 
St, Frogmore St & 
1 Nevill St  
(Target 75%) 
(2014: 76%)  
(2015: 77%) 

 76% 
 
 
 

 PSF2 Cibi Walk 
(Target 100%) 
(2014: 100%) 
(2015: 100%)  

 100% 
 

 PSF3 Cross St (51-
60&Town Hall) 
(Target 55%) 
(2014: 36%) 
(2015: 36%)  
 
 

 36%  

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

55
Page 80



b) Caldicot  

 PSF4 Newport Rd 
(Target 65%) 
(2014: 65%) 
(2015: 65%)   

 65% 

c) Chepstow 

 PSF5 High St  
(Target 75%) 
(2014: 80%) 
(2015: 80%) 

 80% 
 

 PSF6 St Mary St 
(Target 65%) 
(2014: 65%) 
(2015: 65%)  

 65% 

d) Monmouth  

 PSF7 Monnow St 
(Target 75%) 
(2014: 77%) 
(2015: 76%)  

 72% 
 

 PSF8 Church St, 
Agincourt Sq & 
Priory St (1-4 
(Target 65%) 
(2014: 57%) 
(2015: 57%)  

 62% 

Analysis 

1.  Seven applications were permitted for retail development over the monitoring period, 
four of which were for A1 retail use in town centre locations (one in Abergavenny [289 sq 
m], two in Chepstow [total 86 sq m] and one in Caldicot [143 sq m]).  The other permissions 
were in out-of-centre locations, comprising 4 retail units at Rockfield Road, Monmouth 
[757 sq m] and up to 4 retail units at Castlegate Business Park, Caldicot [200 sq m]. There 
was also an extension to retail space at Usk Garden Centre [110 sq m].  
 
Accordingly, 33% of all new retail floorspace was permitted in town/local centres and 67% 
outside town centres, meaning that the trigger for this indicator has been met. The 
majority of out-of-centre retail floorspace permitted relates to the two applications at 
Rockfield Road, Monmouth and Castlegate Business Park, Caldicot – both of which are not 
considered to be in conflict with LDP retail policies. With regard to the permission for 4 
retail units at Rockfield Road, Monmouth, the proposal was considered to be acceptable in 
retail planning policy terms.  The proposed development was justified in the context of it 
being a local facility to serve the needs of the Rockfield Road residents i.e. of an appropriate 
scale to function as a local facility and would provide for some of the day to day shopping 
requirements of the local residents. Furthermore, it was considered very unlikely that the 
convenience goods floorspace would compete with the town centre stores. The 
development was therefore considered appropriate given the circumstances of the 
application. 

56 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 81



Similarly, the proposal for up to four retail units at Castlegate Business Park, Caldicot was 
also considered to be acceptable in retail planning policy terms for the following reasons. 
A demonstrable need exists for the small retail units to serve the occupiers of the 
employment site and workers on the surrounding business park/industrial estate. With 
regard to the vitality and viability of Caldicot Town Centre, it was considered that the 
turnover resulting from the proposed retail units would be very modest and would not 
detract trade from the town centre function as it is catering for a different market. The 
proposed site is in a very accessible location and reasonably accessible to public transport 
facilities. The proposal was therefore considered to comply with criteria a) to e) of Policy 
RET4 of the LDP. The permission at Usk Garden Centre is for a modest extension to the 
existing unit and was not considered to conflict with LDP retail policies.  
 
The out-of-town developments are therefore considered appropriate given the 
circumstances of the applications and justified within the context of the LDP retail planning 
policy framework.  
 
Furthermore, the fact that there have been four permissions for A1 retail use within 3 of 
the County’s town centres is an improvement on last year’s performance when only one 
such permission was recorded.  
 
In view of the above, there are not considered to be any concerns with the implementation 
of LDP retail policies and therefore no further investigation is required at present. However, 
the Council will continue to monitor this issue in future AMRs to determine the 
effectiveness of the Plan’s retail policy framework.  
  

2.   Vacancy rates recorded during the monitoring period** in all but one of the County’s 
central shopping areas (CSA) were below the UK vacancy rate (12.2% December 2016, Local 
Data Company). The vacancy rate in Usk stood at 13.1%, which although above the UK retail 
vacancy rate, was below the Wales rate of 15.2% (December 2016, Local Data Company). 
Retail vacancy rates in the County’s other town centres ranged from 0% in Magor and 
Raglan to 10.1% in Caldicot.   
 
Comparison with last year’s vacancy rates indicates that 2 centres have seen a fall in 
vacancy rates – Chepstow (10% to 7.1%) and Monmouth (7.9% to 4.9%) – while Raglan and 
Magor both maintained a vacancy rate of 0%, which suggests that these centres are 
performing extremely well.  Conversely, 3 centres recorded a rise in vacancy rates since the 
previous monitoring period – Abergavenny (5.8% to 8.7%), Caldicot (7.6% to 10.1%) and 
Usk (11.1% to 13.1%).  
 
As the vacancy rate in Abergavenny and Usk town centres has increased for 2 consecutive 
years the trigger for further investigation has been reached. However, these increases have 
been relatively marginal and do not raise any immediate concerns with the vitality and 
viability of the centres. Moreover, given that all of the centres vacancy rates are in the main 
low, with most below the UK retail rate and all below the Wales rate, indicates that 
Monmouthshire’s town and local centres are functioning effectively. Recent changes to 
business rates are, however, a cause of concern. The Council will continue to monitor 
vacancy levels in future AMRs to determine trends.  

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

57
Page 82



3. The percentage of A1 retail uses within the towns’ primary shopping frontages (PSF) 
recorded during the monitoring period** generally accord with the thresholds identified 
in the Primary Shopping Frontages SPG. The identified thresholds in two of the PSFs were 
set at higher levels than the existing level of non-A1 retail uses because there is an 
aspiration to improve their retail offer i.e. PSF3 Cross Street (51-60 & Town Hall) 
Abergavenny and PSF8 Church Street, Agincourt Square & Priory Street (1-4) Monmouth. 
While there has been no change in the proportion of retail uses within PSF3 Cross Street 
(51-60 & Town Hall) Abergavenny since last year, there has been an increase in the 
proportion of A1 retail uses within PSF 8 Church Street, Agincourt Square & Priory Street 
(1-4) Monmouth, from 57% to 62%, which indicates that progress has been made towards 
achieving the identified threshold of 65% within this frontage. Nevertheless, it remains 
important that a strong policy stance on proposals for change of use to non-retail uses in 
these frontages is maintained in order to improve their retail offer.  
 
Comparison with last year’s figures indicate that the proportion of A1 uses within the 
towns’ primary shopping frontages remained unchanged with the exception of the 
following: 

 PSF1 Cross Street, High Street, Frogmore Street and 1 Nevill Street, Abergavenny 
recorded a marginal change, down 1% to 76%. This was due to a change of use of a 
vacant A1 unit to A3 use at 43 Frogmore Street which was considered to be policy 
compliant6. Despite this, the proportion of A1 units within this frontage remains 
above the identified threshold of 75%.   

 PSF7 Monnow Street, Monmouth also recorded a decrease in the proportion of A1 
units over the monitoring period, down 4% to 72%, which is marginally below the 
identified threshold of 75%.  The decrease in the proportion of A1 units within this 
frontage was due to the change of use of three A1 units to alternative (non-A1) 
uses7. Despite this, there is not considered to be any concern with the 
implementation of LDP retail policies relating to primary shopping frontages.  

 PSF8 Church Street, Agincourt Square & Priory Street (1-4) Monmouth recorded an 
increase in the proportion of A1 uses, up 5% to 62% (as set out above).  

 
Overall, it is considered that the towns’ primary shopping frontages are vital and viable and 
functioning well and no further investigation is required at present. The Council will 
continue to monitor this issue in future AMRs to determine the effectiveness of the Plan’s 
retail policy framework. 
 

Recommendation  

1.  No action is required at present. Continue to monitor. 
 

2. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  

3.  No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

                                                           
6 DC/2014/00224  
7 A1 to A3 use 48 Monnow Street (DC/2014/00032); Vacant A1 unit to C3 use (residential) at 74 Monnow 
Street; A1 to D1 use (hearing centre) at 109 Monnow Street.   

58 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 83



*7 planning permissions granted for retail development over the monitoring period, 4 in town centres and 3 in out-of-

centre location.  

**Monmouthshire Retail Background Paper (March 2017). Base date October 2016. 

***Monmouthshire Primary Shopping Frontages SPG, April 2016  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

59
Page 84



 

Economy and Enterprise  
 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: To ensure a sufficient supply of employment land and to 
protect the County’s employment land  

Strategic Policy:  S8 Enterprise and Economy, S9 Employment Sites Provision  

LDP Objectives Supported:  7 

Other LDP Policies Supported: E1-E3, RE1, SAE1-SAE2 

 

Contextual Changes 

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area during the 

current monitoring period.  

 

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 

1. Net employment land 
supply/development 

Maintain sufficient 
employment land to 
meet identified take-
up rate of 1.9 ha per 
annum  
 
(2014-15: 46.8ha) 
(2015-16: 41.18ha)  

Insufficient 
employment land 
available to meet 
the identified take-
up rate of 1.9ha per 
annum  
 
 

40.76ha 

2. Take-up of 
employment land  
 

Maintain sufficient 
employment land to 
meet identified take-
up rate of 1.9 ha per 
annum  
 
(2014-15: 0.38ha) 
(2015-16: 1.131ha)  

Insufficient 
employment land 
available to meet 
the identified take-
up rate of 1.9ha per 
annum  
 
 

3.21ha 

3. Planning permission 
granted for new 
development (by type) 
on allocated 
employment sites as 
identified in Policy 
SAE1  
 

No specific target 
 
(2014-15: 0) 
(2015-16: 3)   

Lack of development 
on strategic 
employment sites 
identified in Policy  
SAE1 by the end of 
2017  

2 planning 
permissions 

granted 

60 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 85



4. Planning permissions 
granted for 
employment use (B use 
classes) by 
settlement   
 

No specific target None   

Main Towns  
(2014-15: 9.ha) 
(2015-16: 0.95ha) 

0.52ha  

Severnside 
Settlements  
(2014-15: 0.39ha) 
(2015-16: 2.83ha)  

0.17ha 

Rural Secondary 
Settlements  
(2014-15: 0.3ha) 
(2015-16: 0.48ha)  

0.01ha 

Rural General 
(2014-15: 0.25ha) 
(2015-16: 0.22ha) 

1.14ha  

5. Planning permissions 
granted  for 
employment use (B use 
classes) by sector* /** 
 

No specific target  
 

None   

Manufacturing  0.07ha 
Wholesale & retail 
trade; repair of motor 
vehicles and motor 
cycles   

0.42ha 

Transport & storage; 
information and 
communication 

0.82ha 

Real estate activities; 
Professional, scientific 
and technical activities; 
Administrative and 
support service 
activities 

0.41ha 

Accommodation & food 
service activities 

0.02ha 

6. Amount of 
employment land lost 
to non-employment 
uses (i.e. non-B1, B2, 
B8 uses) 
 

Minimise the loss of 
employment land to 
non-B1, B2, B8 uses  
 
(2014-15: 0.08ha) 
(2015-16: 0.56ha)  

Loss of any B1, B2 or 
B8 employment land 
in any 1 year  

0.65ha  

7. Proportion of resident 
workforce working 
within Monmouthshire  
 

Increase the 
proportion of resident 
workforce working 
within 
Monmouthshire 
(2014: 54.5%)   
(2015: 58.3%) 

None  57.9% 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

61
Page 86



8. Number of people in-
commuting to 
Monmouthshire  
 

Reduce the level of in-
commuting over the 
plan period  
(2014: 19,200) 
(2015: 17,800) 
 

None  20,400 

Number of people out-
commuting from 
Monmouthshire 

Reduce the level of 
out-commuting over 
the plan period  
(2014: 19,600) 
(2015: 18,700) 
 

None  18,700 

Analysis 

1. There is currently 40.76ha of employment land available across the County. This figure is 
lower than the previous AMR (41.18ha) accounting for development that is currently in 
progress on the SAE1 allocations at Quaypoint, Magor (SAE1b) in association with Magor 
Brewery and Westgate, Llanfoist (SAE1d).  
 
Sufficient employment land has therefore been maintained over the monitoring period 
providing the opportunity to meet the identified take-up rate of 1.9ha per annum. Policies 
S8 and S9 are functioning effectively in this respect.    
  

2.  While sufficient land is available across the County, the take-up rate of employment land 
(i.e. completed developments) was limited to 3.21ha over the monitoring period. The 
majority of this is attributed to take-up on allocations at Quaypoint, Magor (2.54ha) and 
Westgate Business Park (0.32ha). The remainder related to development on protected 
employment sites (SAE2). The largest proportion of which (0.24ha) related to the 
completion of a small recycling depot/storage facility at Union Road in Abergavenny. 
Additional development was also undertaken at Magor Brewery (0.11ha) to assist in their 
expansion plans.       
 
The take-up is substantially higher than the previous two AMRs (0.38ha 2014-2015 and 
1.131ha 2015 -2016 respectively). Sufficient employment land is nonetheless available, a 
large proportion of which is located in Magor, along the M4 corridor providing a prime 
opportunity to secure investment. A similar take-up is predicted in the next monitoring 
period due to developments currently underway at Wonastow Road, Monmouth, Beaufort 
Park, Chepstow and Westgate, Llanfoist.   
 
The trigger for further investigation relates to the total amount of land supply rather than 
take-up rates, this indicator will nevertheless be closely monitored in future AMRs to 
determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to employment land.  
 

3. Two applications were granted planning permission on allocated sites identified in SAE1 
during the monitoring period. A total of 0.42ha was granted at the only available site at 
Beaufort Park, Chepstow (SAE1i) for the erection of a B1/B8 building with trade retail 
function. The application originally related to 9 units covering a total area of 2040m2 , a 

62 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 87



variation of condition was nevertheless also granted over the monitoring period to allow 
for units 1-5 to be utilised by a single occupier for a B1 use.   
 
The other application related to the development at Westgate, Llanfoist for a Care Home. 
The Care Home will cover a total area of 0.6ha and while strictly speaking is not a traditional 
employment use the Care Home has potential for 76 full time equivalent jobs.   
 
While there has been limited progress on the delivery of strategic employment sites over 
the monitoring period the Council will continue to monitor this issue closely in future AMRs 
to determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to the delivery of strategic 
employment sites.  In this respect, the trigger for this indicator is the lack of development 
on strategic employment sites identified in Policy SAE1 by the end of 2017. Therefore, 
particular consideration will be given to this indicator in the next AMR.  

4.  This indicator seeks to monitor the amount of employment floorspace for B use classes 
permitted by settlement in Monmouthshire. 17 applications were approved for such 
employment uses during the monitoring period, totalling 2.26 hectares. Of these, 7 
permissions were on protected employment sites (SAE2 sites) totalling 0.23 hectares and 9 
permissions were on non-allocated employment land totalling 1.61 hectares. Permission 
was also granted for a B use on an identified business and industrial site at Beaufort Park, 
Chepstow (SAE1i), totalling 0.42 hectares.  
 
Rural areas accounted for the majority of B use class employment floorspace granted 
planning permission over the monitoring period, totalling 1.14 hectares. This is 
predominantly due to the permission for B8 use (storage hardstanding) adjacent to the 
protected employment site at Mamhilad Technology Park (SAE2v) which at 0.81 hectares 
accounted for the vast proportion of employment floorspace permitted in rural areas. A 
further 0.29 hectares was permitted in St Arvans (B2 change of use to storage/repair of 
motor vehicles) and 0.01 hectares in Grosmont (B1 office to service existing home-based 
business).  There was also permission for a B8 storage use in the rural secondary settlement 
of Usk (Chepstow Road 0.01 hectares).  
 
Employment permissions (B use class) totalled 0.94 hectares in the County’s main towns: 

 0.77 hectares in Chepstow comprising B1/B8 building with trade retail function at 
Beaufort Park SAE1i [0.42 ha], B1 office extension at Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate 
SAE2k [0.052ha] and B1 office accommodation at Wyelands Estate [0.3ha]. 

 0.14 hectares permitted in Abergavenny comprising B1 change of use at Swan Hotel 
[0.04ha] and B1 change of use at Nevill Lodge [0.1ha]. 

 0.03 hectares in Monmouth comprising B1 change of use at St Marys Street [0.017ha] 
and B2 extension to existing workshop at Wonastow Road Industrial Estate SAE2l 
[0.013ha].   

 
There were also a number of B use class employment permissions in Severnside, totalling 
0.17 hectares: 

 0.1 hectares at Severn Bridge Industrial Estate SAE2p, Caldicot comprising B1 workshop 
extension [0.0025ha], B2 change of use to MOT workshops [0.09ha] and B2 change of 
use to food preparation area [0.005ha].  

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

63
Page 88



 0.07 hectares at Magor Brewery SAE2o comprising B2 extension to bottling plant [0.02 
ha] and B8 extension to warehouse [0.05ha]).  

 
Although there is no specific target relating to this indicator, the Council is keen to monitor 
employment permissions for B uses in the County. The amount of employment floorspace 
permitted during this monitoring period is lower than that recorded in the last AMR (4.48 
hectares which was predominantly attributable to the planning permissions granted at 
Magor Brewery SAE1b/ SAE2o totalling 2.83 hectares). Nevertheless, the cumulative 
amount of employment floorspace permitted since the LDP’s adoption has further 
enhanced the amount of employment land in Monmouthshire. The Council will continue to 
monitor this issue in future AMRs.  
 
While indicators 4 and 5 of this section relate to B use classes, it is useful to note that a 
number of permissions were granted for other employment generating uses (i.e. non-B 
uses) during the monitoring period, totalling 1.52 hectares, indicating that there are a range 
of other employment generating uses coming forward. These included a care facility at the 
identified business and industrial site at Westgate, Llanfoist SAE1d (0.6ha), a children’s day 
nursery at the protected employment site (SAE2c) at Union Road, Abergavenny (0.85 
hectares), a gymnasium at the protected employment site (SAE2i) at Bulwark Road, 
Chepstow (0.06 hectares) and a sui generis proposal for a studio workshop at Llanishen 
(0.01 hectares).  
 
In addition as detailed in the analysis for Policy S11 (Visitor Economy), 24 applications were 
approved for tourism uses during the monitoring period, all of which were for tourist 
accommodation facilities ranging from holiday lets to glamping accommodation in various 
settlements across the County. These will provide a further boost to the visitor economy in 
Monmouthshire.   
 

5. This indicator seeks to monitor the amount of employment floorspace for B use classes 
permitted by sector in Monmouthshire. B8 uses accounted for the majority of such 
floorspace permitted (0.87 ha), followed by B1 uses (0.55 ha) and B2 uses (0.42 ha. 
Permission was also granted for B1/B8 use with retail trade function at Beaufort Park, 
Chepstow (0.42 ha). This is comparable to last year’s AMR when B8 uses also accounted for 
the majority of employment floorspace permitted.  
 
Turning more specifically to employment sectors, based on the UK Standard Industrial 
Classification (SIC) 2007, the employment permissions for B use classes recorded over the 
monitoring period were in the following sectors**: 

 Transport and storage; information and communication (0.82 hectares) 

 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles/motorcycles (0.42 hectares) 

 Real estate activities; Professional, scientific and technical activities; Administrative 
and support service activities (0.41 hectares)  

 Manufacturing (0.07 hectares) 

 Accommodation and food services (0.02 hectares)  
 
The data indicates that while the transport/storage and information/communication sector 
accounted for just 2 permissions, it accounted for the just under half of employment 

64 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 89



floorspace (45%) granted permission during the monitoring period. This may be expected 
as transport/storage uses typically have significant floorspace requirements, as evidenced 
in the permission for the storage facility at Mamhilad which accounted for the bulk of 
floorspace in this sector.  Collectively the wholesale/retail trade; repair of motor 
vehicles/motor cycles and real estate activities; professional, scientific and technical 
activities; administrative and support service activities sectors accounted for the majority 
of permissions (4 each) and accounted for 45% of the floorspace permitted (22.8% and 
22.2% respectively). There were a further 3 permissions in the manufacturing sector which 
accounted for just 3.8% of the floorspace permitted and 2 permissions in the 
accommodation/food services sector (1.1% of employment floorspace permitted).  
 
This contrasts to last year’s AMR when the manufacturing sector accounted for the majority 
of employment permissions.  
 
While there is no specific target relating to this indicator the Council monitors employment 
sectors coming forward in the County. This will assist in determining whether the Council’s 
ambitions for growing identified key economic sectors, including knowledge intensive/high 
technology enterprises, are being achieved. Comparison with the two previous AMRs the 
data indicates that there was in increase in permissions and floorspace in the 
wholesale/retail trade; repair of motor vehicles/motor cycles and real estate activities; 
professional, scientific and technical activities; administrative and support service activities 
sectors, with fewer permissions/floorspace in the manufacturing sector.  
 
As noted above, a number of permissions were granted for other employment generating 
uses (i.e. non B uses) during the monitoring period. In terms of employment sectors, it is 
useful to recognise that the majority of these were in the arts, entertainment and 
recreation, other services sector (3 permissions, 0.92 ha), with a further permission in the 
human health and social work sector (0.6 ha). This demonstrates that other employment 
generating sectors are coming forward in Monmouthshire.  
 

6. Two applications involving the loss of B use class employment land were approved during 
the monitoring period, totalling 0.65 hectares.  The first proposal related to a care facility 
(Use Class C2), 0.6 hectares, at the identified business and industrial site at Westgate 
Business Park, Llanfoist (SAE1d) (allocated for B1 and B2 uses).  In view of findings of the 
marketing report submitted with the application, which indicated that there had been few 
enquiries for B1/B2 use accommodation on the site and there would be viability issues with 
securing B uses on the site, it was considered that the loss of the site from its B use class 
allocation would have a limited material effect on the supply of quality sites in 
Llanfoist/Abergavenny. The proposal was therefore considered acceptable having satisfied 
criteria a) and c) of Policy E1. Furthermore, it was considered that the proposal would 
generate employment opportunities with the creation of approx. 76 FTE jobs. It was also 
noted that the care home would positively contribute to the identified shortfall in provision 
in care home facilities in Abergavenny and that the use of the site as a care home is more 
compatible with the residential use to the south of the site. The amount of employment 
land in Abergavenny can be considered through the LDP Revision process.  
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

65
Page 90



The other proposal granted permission was for a change of use from a commercial repair 
garage (Use Class B2) to a gym (Use Class D2), 0.05 hectares, at a protected employment 
site at Bulwark Road, Chepstow (SAE2i).  Overall it was considered that this proposal does 
not significantly conflict with the objectives of Policy E1. Although there is a lack of vacant 
premises available in this protected employment site, there are vacant premises available 
in the Caldicot area which is as well served by the road links as the Bulwark site. 
Furthermore, the proposal would generate employment opportunities (4 full time staff and 
8 personal trainers/studio instructors). On balance, therefore, the proposal was considered 
to be acceptable in principle.   
 
Given that two proposals relating to the loss of B use class allocated employment land were 
granted permission over the monitoring period, the trigger for this indicator has been met. 
However, as evidenced, the loss of employment land to non-B use classes on the sites is 
justified within the context and requirements of the LDP policy framework. It does not 
indicate any issue with the implementation of LDP policies and therefore no further 
investigation is required at present. The Council will continue to monitor such proposals in 
future AMRs to determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to this matter. 
 

7.   The 2016 Welsh Government Commuting Statistics indicate that 57.9% of the County’s 
residents work in the area which is marginally less than last year’s figure of 58.3% and lower 
than the Welsh average of 68.5%. It is, however, higher than the figure recorded in the 
2014 AMR of 54.5% which suggests that there has been some progress in meeting the 
aspiration to increase the proportion of resident workforce working within Monmouthshire 
over the Plan period. However, these figures should not be given too much weight as the 
data is based on a small sample survey and should therefore be treated with caution.  
 

8.  According to the 2016 Welsh Government Commuting Statistics, Monmouthshire has a 
net inflow of 1700 commuters – with 20,400 commuting into the area to work and 18,700 
commuting out. There was significant in-commuting from Newport (4,000), Torfaen 
(3,000), Blaenau Gwent (2,900) and from outside Wales (6,800). The main areas for out-
commuting were Bristol (3,800), Newport (3,100), Torfaen (2,400) and Cardiff (2,300), with 
a further 6,500 commuting to other areas outside Wales. The high proportion of 
commuting to/from areas outside of Wales clearly reflects Monmouthshire’s location as a 
border authority.  
 
There is an aspiration to reduce levels of both in-commuting and out-commuting recorded 
in Monmouthshire over the Plan period. While the level of out-commuting has remained 
constant (18,700) since the last monitoring period, the level of in-commuting has increased 
(from 17,800 to 20,400), resulting in a net inflow of commuters. This contrasts to the data 
recorded in the previous two AMRs where a net outflow of commuters was evident (400 in 
2014 and 900 in 2015). However, these figures should not be given too much weight as the 
data is based on a small sample survey and should therefore be treated with caution.  
 
While the Council can seek to encourage economic development and approve associated 
planning applications, travel to work patterns are influenced by wider factors such as family 
ties and property prices.  
  

66 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 91



Recommendation  

1. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

2. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

3. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 
4. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  

 
5. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  

 

6. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  

 
7. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  

 
8. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  

 
*UK Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) 2007. Only includes those sectors for which planning permission has been 

granted over the monitoring period. For a full list of sectors refer to the SIC 2007. 

**Sector not specified in relation to DC/2016/01243 Nevill Lodge, Abergavenny (0.1 hectares) and DC/2016/00495 

Beaufort Park, Chepstow SAE1i (0.42 hectares).  

   Data Source: Monmouthshire Employment Land Background Paper for the period April 2016-March 2017 

Amended to clarify that these indicators monitor B use classes only.  

Data Source: Welsh Government Commuting Statistics 2016 (release date 30 March 2017) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

67
Page 92



 

Rural Enterprise  
 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: Encourage diversification of the rural economy   

Strategic Policy:  S10 Rural Enterprise   

LDP Objectives Supported:  1, 3, 5, 7 & 14 

Other LDP Policies Supported:  RE1-RE6  

 

Contextual Changes 

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area during the 

monitoring period. 

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 

9. Number of rural 
diversification and 
rural enterprise 
schemes* approved  
 

 
No target  
 
(2014-15: 7) 
(2015-16: 10)  
 

 
None   
 

 
6 

 

Analysis 

1. A total of 6 applications relating to rural enterprise/diversification were approved 
during the monitoring period. 4 of the applications were approved as rural enterprise 
schemes.  While one of these 4 schemes related to new build it was justified as it related 
to the extension of an existing business operating within the rural economy at Caer Llan. 
Two of the other rural enterprise permissions related to the conversion of existing stable 
blocks that were not linked to agriculture previously. The first related to the partial 
conversion of a stable block building for a dog physiotherapy service, a niche service with 
a specific client base. The second proposal related to the conversion of an existing stable 
block to office accommodation to support the owner’s business and provide space for 
occasional client meetings.   The final scheme related to the expansion of an existing 
tourism enterprise through the conversion of a former cricket pavilion building to a general 
tourism use. This proposal has a dual use of tourism accommodation and a rural skills 
centre.  
 
The remaining 2 permissions related to agricultural diversification, both of which support 
existing rural businesses. One related to the conversion of a storage outbuilding to a multi-
use accommodation and studio space in association with an existing flower farming 
business.  The conversion will provide studio space for courses and workshops and, when 

68 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 93



not in this use, will provide a space for hosting floristry clients and visitors to the farm as 
well as holiday accommodation.  The other rural diversification scheme permitted related 
to new build office accommodation to support an existing property business at a farm. 
  
While there was a decrease in the amount of rural diversification and rural enterprise 
schemes approved over the monitoring period (6 schemes) when compared to the 
previous AMR (10 schemes), the number of rural diversification and rural enterprise 
schemes approved since the LDPs adoption (total 23 schemes) suggests that Strategic 
Policy S10 and the supporting development management policies are operating effectively. 
The Council will continue to monitor this indicator in future AMRs to determine the 
effectiveness of this policy framework in relation to the diversification of the rural 
economy.   
 

Recommendation  

1. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  

*Rural Enterprise Schemes as listed here do not constitute those that require special justification as defined by TAN6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

69
Page 94



Visitor Economy 
 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: Encourage high quality sustainable tourism    

Strategic Policy:  S11 Visitor Economy    

LDP Objectives Supported:  1, 3, 5 & 7 

Other LDP Policies Supported:  T1-T3, RE6, SAT1  

 

Contextual Changes  

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area during the 

monitoring period.  

 

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 

10. Number of tourism 
schemes approved 
(includes 
extensions/conversions 
and new build)  
 

No target  
 
(2014-15: 17) 
(2015-16: 10) 

 None   
 

24 tourism 
schemes 

approved* 

11. Number of tourism 
facilities lost through 
development, change 
of use or demolition 
 

Minimise the loss of 
tourism facilities  
 
(2014-15: 5) 
(2015-16: 0) 

Loss of any 1 
tourism facility in 
any 1 year  

1 tourism 
facility lost  

Analysis 

1. 24 applications were approved for tourism uses during the monitoring period, all of 
which were for tourist accommodation facilities. These included: 

 14 holiday lets (all conversions) in various settlements** 

 Glamping accommodation (2 bell tents at Llanishen, 10 pods at Monkswood and 5 
shepherds huts – 1 at Shirenewton and 4 at Llangwm) 

 Camping/caravan sites (camping and caravan pitches at Glascoed and a camping 
site at Usk Castle)  

 Ancillary visitor accommodation to a public house  (Devauden) 

 Meeting space with ancillary visitor accommodation (Llanishen) 

 Additional rooms at an existing wedding venue (Lydart)  
 

Collectively, these provide approx. 90 new bed spaces and will provide a further boost to 
the visitor accommodation available in Monmouthshire.   
 

70 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 95



The number of tourist accommodation facilities approved over the monitoring period 
suggests that the relevant Plan policies are operating effectively allowing such 
developments to take place in Monmouthshire. In response to an increasing number of 
enquiries regarding new forms of visitor accommodation including yurts, tepees and 
wooden pods i.e. glamping, the Planning Policy Team has prepared draft SPG in relation to 
sustainable tourism accommodation to provide clarification on the 
interpretation/implementation of the existing policy framework in relation to such 
proposals. This SPG will be consulted on and adopted during the next monitoring period.  
 
Comparison with previous AMRs demonstrates that the number of tourism schemes 
approved during the current monitoring period is significantly higher than those approved 
during both the 2014-15 and 2015-16 monitoring periods (10 approvals recorded during 
each period).  Cumulatively, however, a total of 44 tourism schemes have been approved 
since the LDP’s adoption in February 2014 which further indicates that the LDP tourism 
policy framework is operating effectively to enable such development in the County.   
 
The Council will continue to monitor tourism applications closely in future AMRs to 
determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to the provision of tourist 
facilities.  
 

2. One application was permitted relating to the loss of a tourism facility during the 
monitoring period. This involved the change of use of the Swan Hotel, Abergavenny to 
retail use on ground floor with B1 use on the upper floors. On balance this scheme was 
considered acceptable given its economic benefits to the local area, including an associated 
increase in employment opportunities. Furthermore, the proposed retail use is compliant 
with relevant LDP policies and as such the change of use was considered to be acceptable 
in principle.  
 
While the data collected indicates that a visitor accommodation facility has been lost to an 
alternative use over the monitoring period and subsequently the trigger for this indicator 
has been met, the loss is justified within the context and requirements of the LDP policy 
framework. The Council will continue to monitor such proposals in future AMRs to 
determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to this issue, given the 
importance of tourism to the County’s economy.  
 
Of note, one tourist facility was refused planning permission during the current monitoring 
period8. The proposal for the conversion of stables to a holiday let related to a modern 
building which was considered contrary to criterion e) of Policy H4 and criterion b) of T2 as 
it had not been used for its intended purpose for a significant period of time. The proposal 
was also considered contrary to Policy LC5 relating to adverse landscape impact. The 
proposal was subsequently dismissed on appeal (21.08.17) on the basis that it would 
significantly intensify the use of the site and escalate its current almost neutral effect to 
being harmful to the rural landscape character, contrary to LDP policies T2, H4 and LC5.  
 
 

8 DC/2016/00593 The Stables, Land off Treherbert Road, Croesyceiliog.  

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

71
Page 96



Recommendation  

1. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor. 
 

2. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

*All schemes relate to visitor accommodation facilities: self-catering holiday lets [conversions] (14); glamping sites (4); 

camping/caravan sites (2); ancillary accommodation to public house (1); meeting space with ancillary accommodation (1); 

additional rooms at existing wedding venue (1) - collectively these provide approx. 90 bed spaces. Also retention of an 

amenity block. 

**Raglan, Llangeview, Tregare, Dingestow, Llandenny, Bryn-y-Gwenin, Upper Redbrook, Llanishen, Goytre, Llantilio 

Crosenny.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

72 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 97



Efficient Resource Use and Flood Risk 
 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: To ensure development accords with the principles of 
sustainable development 

Strategic Policy:  S12 Efficient Resource Use and Flood Risk     

LDP Objectives Supported:  1, 8, 9, 10 & 11 

Other LDP Policies Supported:  SD1-SD4 

 

Contextual Changes 

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area during the 

monitoring period.  

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 – 

31 March 2017 

12. Proportion of 
development on 
brownfield land as a 
percentage of all 
development 
permitted (including 
change of use of land) 
(excludes 
householder, 
conversions and 
agricultural buildings) 
 

Increase proportion 
of development on 
brownfield land  
 

(2014-15:                   
28% /17.3ha) 
(2015-2016: 
16.8%/10.51ha) 

No increase in 
proportion of 
development on 
brownfield land for 
2 consecutive years    
 

 
51.2% 
18.6ha 

 
  

13. Amount of 
development (by 
TAN15 category) 
permitted in C1 and 
C2 floodplain areas 
not meeting all TAN15 
tests 

All developments to 
be compliant with 
TAN15 requirements  
 
(2014-15: 1) 
(2015-16: 0)   

Planning permission 
is granted contrary 
to TAN15 
requirements   

 0 

14. Number of new 
developments 
permitted that 
incorporate on-site 
renewable energy 
generation* 

Increase in the 
number of new 
developments 
permitted 
incorporating 

 
No annual increase 
  
 

 
5  
 
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

73
Page 98



 renewable energy 
generation 
 
(2014-15: 2) 
(2015-2016: 9**) 

15. Number of new 
developments 
completed that 
incorporate on-site 
renewable energy 
generation  
 

Increase in the 
number of new 
developments 
completed 
incorporating 
renewable energy 
generation  
 
(2014-2015: N/A) 
(2015-2016: 4) 

No annual increase 
  

 
3*** 

Analysis 

1. A total of 36.3 hectares of development was permitted over the monitoring period, 
18.6ha of which was located on brownfield sites. This equated to 51.2% of all development 
(excluding householder, conversions and agricultural buildings) as being permitted on 
brownfield land. Residential development accounted for the vast majority of brownfield 
land permitted (16.4 ha / 88%). This included the LDP allocated housing sites at the former 
Sudbrook Paper Mill, Sudbrook and Coed Glas, Abergavenny which accounted for 7.1ha 
and 2.0ha of brownfield land permitted respectively. The former Coleg Gwent site at The 
Hill, Abergavenny (3.64 ha), the Old Shipyard site, Sudbrook (0.96 ha) and the former Youth 
Hostel at Mulberry House, Abergavenny (0.7 ha) were also permitted for residential use. A 
further 1.14 hectares of brownfield land permitted related to housing plots within existing 
residential curtilage/garden areas.  Permission was also granted for a range of other uses 
on brownfield land including developments on employment land (0.33 ha), retail 
development (1.39 ha) and a performing arts centre for an independent school (0.2 ha).   
 
The amount of development permitted on brownfield sites is considerably higher than in 
the previous two AMR monitoring periods. The trigger for further investigation relates to 
no increase in the proportion of development on brownfield land for two consecutive 
years. As the proportion of development on brownfield land has increased substantially 
from 16.8% in the previous AMR period it is considered that Policy S12 is functioning 
effectively in this respect.  It will nevertheless be important to monitor this indicator in the 
next AMR in order to ascertain whether the target of increasing the proportion of 
development on brownfield land is being met over a two year period.  
 

2.  No applications have been granted planning permission contrary to TAN15 requirements 
in either Zone C1 or C2 floodplain over the monitoring period. Policy S12 is consequently 
functioning effectively in this respect. The Council will continue to monitor this indicator to 
determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to this issue. 
 
 

74 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 99



3. Five applications were approved over the monitoring period for on-site renewable 
energy generation. Three of the schemes related to small scale solar power, two of which 
are ground mounted and will support existing individual dwellings in Parkhouse and Undy. 
The other small scale solar permission related to roof mounted PV panels on an affordable 
housing scheme currently under construction in Raglan. A further two schemes related to 
biomass, one of which will supply heating and hot water to 6 holiday lets and 4 houses via 
a district heating system in Llantilio Croessenny. The other scheme in Dingestow will 
support existing poultry units currently heated by LPG heating, the biomass boiler will 
provide a sustainable form of heating for the poultry sheds.     
 
An additional PV solar park was granted permission over the previous AMR period. This 
scheme was not picked up in the previous monitoring period. As this is a large scale 
renewable energy scheme that has recently been completed it has been included in this 
monitoring period in order for it to feed into Indicator 4.  The solar farm at Oak Grove Farm, 
Crick relates to a 5.67MW solar PV scheme consisting of 22,660 PV panels on a 15.73 site. 
It is estimated that the scheme will provide sufficient energy for the equivalent of 4,536 
households.  
 
There has been a slight decrease in the number of on-site renewable energy schemes 
permitted over the current monitoring period compared to the previous year which is 
believed to be a result of the reduction of Government incentive schemes (Feed in Tariff), 
particularly for solar energy.  Nevertheless, collectively a total of 16 schemes incorporating 
on-site renewable energy have been permitted since the LDP’s adoption in 2014 which 
suggests that Strategic Policy S12 and its supporting policies are operating effectively in 
respect of the provision of renewable energy. The Council will nevertheless continue to 
monitor this issue closely in future AMRs to determine the effectiveness of the policy 
framework relating to efficient resource use.  

4. A total of three schemes incorporating on-site renewable energy generation were 
completed over the monitoring period. One of the completions related to a small scale 
domestic solar scheme approved over the current monitoring period in Undy. The other 
two completions relate to large scale PV solar parks. One of the completed schemes was 
allowed on appeal over the previous 2015-2016 monitoring period and related to a 7.9MW 
Solar Farm on agricultural land near Shirenewton. The PV solar park referred to in the 
commentary for criteria 3 above, at Oak Grove Farm, Crick is also operational. 
 
Since the Plan’s adoption in 2014, a total of 7 schemes incorporating on-site renewable 
energy have been completed and are operational. This further indicates that Strategic 
Policy S12 and its supporting policies are operating effectively in respect of the provision 
and completion of on-site renewable energy schemes.  
 
The Council will nevertheless continue to monitor this issue closely in future AMRs to 
determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to efficient resource use. 

Recommendation  

1. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

2. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

75
Page 100



3. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  

4. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

*Additional monitoring indicator included in the monitoring framework in order to identify schemes in 4. 

** An additional PV solar park (Oak Grove Farm, Crick, DC/2015/00247) was granted permission during the 2015-16 

monitoring period.  However, this scheme was not picked up in the previous monitoring period. 

***Based on applications granted permission for on-site renewable energy since LDP adoption. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

76 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 101



Landscape, Green Infrastructure and the Natural Environment 
 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: To protect open space and sites of acknowledged nature 
conservation and landscape importance  

Strategic Policy:  S13 Landscape, Green Infrastructure and the Natural 
Environment      

LDP Objectives Supported:  8 

Other LDP Policies Supported:  LC1-LC6, GI1 & NE1 

 

Contextual Changes 

 

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area over the 

monitoring period.  

   

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 

1. Amount of Greenfield 
land lost to 
development which is 
not allocated in the 
development plan  
(includes new built 
development – 
housing, employment 
but excludes 
agricultural buildings) 
 

Minimise the loss of 
non-allocated 
Greenfield land  
 
(2014-15: 26 ha)  
(2015-16: 44.6 ha) 

Any loss of non-
allocated Greenfield 
land in any 1 year 
 

 
16.5ha 

  

2. Amount of public open 
space / playing fields 
lost to development 
which is not allocated 
in the development 
plan 
 

Minimise the loss of 
open space / playing 
fields to development 
that is not allocated in 
the development plan   
 
(2014-15: 1.47ha) 
(2015-16: 0.76ha)  
 

Any loss of open 
space due to 
development, not 
allocated in the 
development plan in 
any 1 year  

 
0 

3. Developments 
permitted / completed 
that are within 
internationally / 
nationally important 

None adversely 
affected  
 
(2014-15: N/A) 
(2015-16: 0) 

Recorded damage or 
fragmentation of 
designated sites / 
habitats  

 
0 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

77
Page 102



nature conservation 
areas* 

 

4. Developments granted 
permission that cause 
harm to the overall 
nature conservation 
value of locally 
designated sites  
 

Minimise 
developments that 
would cause harm to 
the overall nature 
conservation value of 
locally designated 
sites  
 

1 or 2 developments 
result in overall 
harm for 2 
consecutive years, 
or 3 or more 
developments result 
in harm in any 1 year  

 
1 

5. Number of new 
developments 
delivering habitat 
creation and 
restoration  
 

Increase number of 
new developments 
delivering habitat 
creation / restoration 
 
(2014-15: 1) 
(2015-16: 1)   

None   
0 

Analysis 

1. Over the monitoring period 31 permissions were granted on greenfield land which is not 
allocated for development in the LDP, totalling 16.5 hectares.  This compares favourably to 
the previous two AMRs when the amount of non-allocated greenfield land permitted was 
significantly higher (44.6 hectares in 2015-16; 26 hectares in 2014-15). The high figure 
recorded in 2015-16 was predominantly due to the increase in larger scale renewable 
energy (solar PV arrays) schemes permitted which was justified within the context and 
requirements of the LDP policy framework and national planning policy.   
 
Tourism accommodation facilities accounted for the majority of non-allocated greenfield 
land permitted during the current monitoring period, 8.33 hectares (50.5%). These 
permissions included four glamping accommodation sites, ranging from one shepherd’s 
hut to ten glamping pods (totalling 7.38 hectares), one camping site (0.5 hectares), one 
caravan/camping site (0.45 hectares) and retention of an amenity block at a camp site 
(0.003 hectares).  Whilst these permissions cover just over 8 hectares of non-allocated 
greenfield land, they were considered acceptable in principle in accordance with the 
tourism policy framework. Fundamentally, the glamping and camping accommodation 
facilities permitted are not permanently sited and relate to a reversible use of agricultural 
land.  
 
A mineral extraction proposal accounted for a further 4.5 hectares of non-allocated 
greenfield land permitted which, although a sizeable area, was considered to be acceptable 
in principle in accordance with the minerals policy framework. Importantly, the permission 
is for a temporary period (5 years) and has been conditioned to ensure that the land will 
be restored at the end of this period. 
 
The remaining 3.72 hectares of non-allocated greenfield land permitted over the 
monitoring period related to a range of uses. Ten permissions related to residential 
development accounting for 1.75 hectares - these ranged from extensions to residential 

78 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 103



curtilages to new dwellings and rural enterprise workers’ dwellings, all of which were 
considered acceptable in policy terms. ‘Horsiculture’ activities, including riding arenas and 
stables, accounted for a further 9 permissions (1.10 hectares). These were considered to 
be an appropriate use of land in rural areas and to comply with the LDP policy framework. 
Other proposals permitted included employment, renewable energy and community uses 
(0.82, 0.04 and 0.013 hectares respectively) which were again considered to comply with 
LDP policies.  
 
While the monitoring data indicates that there has been a loss of non-allocated greenfield 
land over the monitoring period due to the aforementioned permissions (albeit less than 
recorded in previous AMRs) and subsequently the trigger for this indicator has been met, 
the loss is justified within the context and requirements of the LDP policy framework as 
evidenced above. It does not indicate any issue with the implementation of LDP policies 
and therefore no further investigation is required at present. The Council will continue to 
monitor such proposals in future AMRs to determine the effectiveness of the policy 
framework relating to this issue.  
 

1.  2. There were no applications permitted on areas of open space not allocated for 
development in the LDP over the monitoring period. This suggests that the indicator target 
and monitoring outcome to protect and minimise the loss of non-allocated open space has 
been achieved in 2016-17. This compares favourably to the previous two AMRs where a 
total of 2.23 hectares (1.47 hectares in 2014-15; 0.76 hectares in 2015-16) of non-allocated 
open space was lost to development, albeit that this was justified within the context and 
requirements of the LDP policy framework.  
 
The Council will continue to monitor the amount of non-allocated public open space lost to 
development in future AMRs to determine the effectiveness of the policy framework 
relating to this issue.  
 

3.  As with the previous two AMRs, there were no developments permitted or completed 
within internationally / nationally important nature conservation areas during the 
monitoring period, which suggests that the indicator target and monitoring outcome to 
protect such designated sites has been achieved. 
 
This indicates that the policy framework relating to nature conservation is functioning 
effectively in protecting nature conservation sites of international /national importance. 
The Council will continue to monitor permission and completions within these nature 
conservation sites to determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to this 
matter.  
 

4. One application was granted over the monitoring period that may cause harm to a SINC. 
This contrasts with the previous AMRs when no such permissions were recorded.  The 
permission relates to the allocated housing site at the Former Paper Mill site, Sudbrook 
(SAH7). The proposal may impact on the nature conservation value of the SINC as changes 
to the hydrology of the site may result in the loss of some of the existing habitat, specifically 
the ephemeral pond. The development of the site will also result in the loss of 0.19ha of 
scrub habitat. The proposal however incorporates a Green Infrastructure Management 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

79
Page 104



Plan which will secure the long term management of the site for biodiversity and should 
result in a net gain on the wider site. It must also be recognised that this is an allocated 
housing site on brownfield land, where development was supported by the LDP.  
 
While one application has been recorded it is notable that the development of this site will 
provide benefits and result in a net gain of biodiversity. This indicates that the policy 
framework relating to nature conservation is functioning effectively in protecting the 
nature value of locally designated sites. The Council will continue to monitor permissions 
and completions within these nature conservation sites to determine the effectiveness of 
the policy framework relating to this matter.  
 

5. There were no developments permitted to specifically deliver habitat creation and 
restoration during the monitoring period.  This contrasts to the previous AMRs when two 
such schemes were permitted, both of which related to the creation of wildlife ponds.   
 
While no applications were granted to deliver habitat creation and restoration, it is likely 
that other schemes approved over the monitoring period will help restore habitat through 
improved Green Infrastructure networks. Although there is no trigger for further 
investigation in relation to this indicator, the Council will continue to monitor the issue in 
future AMRs to determine the effectiveness of the policy framework in relation to 
Landscape, Green Infrastructure and the Natural Environment.  
 

Recommendation  

1. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

2. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

3. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

4. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

5. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

*Indicator has been amended in line with the SA indicator for ease of data collection  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 105



Waste 

 

Contextual Changes  

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area during the 

monitoring period.  

Indicator 

Target 
 

(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 

Amount of waste 
management capacity 
permitted expressed as a 
percentage of the total 
capacity required as 
identified in the Regional 
Waste Plan 

 

Aim to provide 
between 2.2 and 5.6 
hectares for new in-
building waste 
management facilities 
located on 
appropriate B2 
employment sites 
over the plan period  
 
(2014-15: 1.49ha 
permitted; 32.5ha 
potential waste 
management sites) 
(2015-16: 0.24ha 
permitted; 26.86ha 
potential waste 
management sites) 

Amount of B2 
employment land 
falls below 5.6 ha  

Waste 
capacity 

permitted  
0 ha      

 
Identified 
potential 

waste 
management 
sites 26.26ha 
 
 

Analysis  

1. There were no permissions for waste management capacity during the monitoring 
period. There has nevertheless been a minor reduction in the amount of land available for 
potential waste management sites (i.e. B2 employment sites and existing waste disposal or 
management sites) from the 26.86ha identified in the previous LDP AMR to 26.26ha (due 
to the take up of some B2 employment land at Westgate Business Park, Llanfoist). There 
remains, therefore, ample land available for potential waste management sites in relation 
to the maximum requirement of 5.6ha.   

Recommendation  

1. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: Meet the County’s contribution to local waste facilities  

Strategic Policy:  S14 Waste   

LDP Objectives Supported:  12  

Other LDP Policies Supported:  W1-W6, SAW1  

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

81
Page 106



 

Minerals 

 

Contextual Changes  

 

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area during the 

monitoring period.  

 

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 

1. Extent of primary land-
won aggregates 
resources as a 
percentage of total 
capacity identified in 
the Regional Technical 
Statement* 
 

A minimum land bank 
of 10 years to be 
maintained  
 
(2014-15: 0) 
(2015-16: 0) 

10 years land bank is 
not maintained   

 
0 

2. Number of permitted 
permanent non-
mineral developments 
on safeguarded sites 
that do not comply 
with Policy M2** 

 

Minimise the number 
of permanent non-
mineral developments 
on safeguarded sites 
 
(2014-15: 0) 
(2015-16: 0) 

If any such 
developments are 
permitted  

 
0 

Analysis  

1. No land-based minerals extraction took place in the County during the monitoring 
period. There has, therefore, been no reduction in the land bank, which relies on the 
reserves available at Ifton Quarry, Rogiet. This quarry has not been worked for some time 
but has the benefit of an existing planning permission. Given the importance of maintaining 
a 10 year land bank the Council will continue to monitor this issue closely in future AMRs.  

 
While no land-based minerals extraction took place over the monitoring period, an 
application for the excavation of 1500m3 of stone for building purposes was granted 
planning permission at Cledd-Y-Tan Wood, Kilgwrrwg. It is anticipated that approximately 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: Safeguard areas of aggregates resources   

Strategic Policy:  S15 Minerals  

LDP Objectives Supported:  12  

Other LDP Policies Supported:  M1-M3 

82 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 107



4500 tonnes of stone will be extracted and utilised for cropping, dry walling, flagstones, 
lintels and quoins. The planning application was considered to be acceptable in principle in 
accordance with the minerals policy framework. The permission has been granted for a 
temporary period of 5 years. 

 

2.  There were no permissions for permanent non-mineral developments on safeguarded 
sites that did not comply with Policy M2 during the monitoring period. 
 
This indicates that Policy M2 is being implemented effectively and no further investigation 
is required at present. The Council will continue to monitor this issue in future AMRs to 
determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to this issue.  
 

Recommendation  

1. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor. 
 

2. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor. 
 

*Additional Indicators LDP Manual 

   **Indicator amended to include reference to Policy M2 for clarification  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

83
Page 108



Transport 

 

Contextual Changes  

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area over the 

monitoring period.  

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 – 

31 March 
2017 

1. Number of 
improvements to 
transport secured 
through S106 
agreements 

 
 

No target  
 
(2014-15: 3) 
(2015-16: 3)  

None  2 S106 
agreements 
delivering 
transport 

improvements  

2. Progression of Local 
Transport Plan* (LTP) 
schemes detailed in 
Policy MV10 in 
accordance with the 
LTP delivery timetable  

LTP proposals 
implemented in 
accordance with the 
LTP delivery 
timetable  

LTP proposals 
detailed in Policy 
MV10 are not being 
implemented in 
accordance with the 
LTP delivery 
timetable  
 
 
 

Progression 
detailed in 

analysis 
below 

Analysis  

1.  The following transport improvements have been secured through S106 agreements 
over the monitoring period:  

 Land at Sudbrook Paper Mill, Sudbrook (SAH7)                                                                                                                                                                 
Payment toward the provision of a public transport service serving Sudbrook 
(£200,000). 

 The Old Shipyard, Sudbrook                                                                                                                                                                 
Improvements to the local highway network including localised traffic calming 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: To increase sustainable forms of transport and ensure that 
all development meets sustainable transport planning 
principles    

Strategic Policy:  S16 Transport   

LDP Objectives Supported:  1-6, 9 & 13  

Other LDP Policies Supported:  MV1-MV10  

84 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 109



improvements together with improvements to pedestrian facilities for safer routes 
to local amenities, cycle routes and public transport relevant to the local area 
(£61,500). 
 

As indicated above, a couple of transport improvements have been secured via S106 
agreements during the monitoring period, both of which relate to residential development 
in Sudbrook. One of the S106 agreements relates to the allocated LDP site at the former 
Sudbrook Paper Mill (SAH7) and the other to a windfall site at The Old Shipyard site.  In 
accordance with the LDP transport policy framework, the improvements seek to encourage 
sustainable forms of transport and ensure the developments meet sustainable transport 
planning principles.   
 
While there is no specific target relating to this indicator, the Council is interested in 
monitoring the amount of transport improvements secured through S106 agreements. As 
may be expected, given that progress with numerous allocated LDP sites has been slower 
than anticipated, there have been a relatively small number of transport improvements 
secured via S106 agreements in relation to these sites during the first three monitoring 
periods (total of 8). However, as the LDP site allocations progress it is anticipated that an 
increased number of sustainable transport improvements will be secured through either 
the S106 or CIL processes.  The Council will continue to monitor this issue in future AMRs.  
 

2. The progress of LTP* schemes detailed in Policy MV10 in accordance with the LTP 
timetable is as follows: 
 
B4245/M48 Link Road: No progress. Current M4 corridor enhancement scheme proposes 
a new junction between Magor/Undy and Rogiet which would provide a link between 
B4245 and M48 (and M4) but to the west of Rogiet. Progress on the B4245/M48 Link Road 
is dependent on the outcome of the decision on the M4 corridor enhancement scheme**.  
 
Abergavenny Rail Station Interchange:  Scheme included in new LTP as “Abergavenny rail 
station access & interchange improvements”. The new Cardiff Capital Region Transport 
Authority (CCRTA) is currently working on an interim Regional Transport Strategy (RTS) and 
it is expected that the Abergavenny interchange / park & ride will be included in this 
although priorities will not be developed until later in 2017/18. Bus facilities at Abergavenny 
station are also likely to be looked at as part of the current proposals for a new TrawsCymru 
bus route linking Chepstow and Brecon.  
 
Walking & cycling access to the station is also expected to be considered as part of the 
Active Travel (Wales) Act Abergavenny Integrated Network Map exercise.  
 
Chepstow Rail Station and Bus Station Interchange: Scheme included in new LTP as 
“Chepstow rail station access & interchange improvements”. Chepstow station interchange 
/ park & ride is expected to be included in the upcoming interim Regional Transport Strategy 
(see above), though priorities will not be developed until later in 2017/18. Bus facilities at 
Chepstow station are also likely to be looked at as part of the current proposals for a new 
TrawsCymru bus route linking Chepstow and Brecon. No further information is available 
from Network Rail concerning the accessible footbridge situation or on bringing the disused 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

85
Page 110



part of the station building back into use as a ticket office / tourist information point and 
toilet.  
 
Walking & cycling access to the station is also expected to be considered as part of the 
Active Travel (Wales) Act Chepstow Integrated Network Map exercise. 
 
Severn Tunnel Junction (STJ) Interchange: Scheme included in new LTP as “Severn Tunnel 
Junction rail station access & interchange improvements”.  New accessible footbridge, new 
ticket office and new northern car park extension completed in spring 2016. Options for 
improved walking & cycling access along Station Road and towards Caldicot as well as 
further south-side car park extension have been investigated but no funding is currently 
available to take this further. STJ station is also included in schemes looked at as part of the 
interim RTS.  
 
Walking & cycling access to the station is also expected to be considered as part of the 
Active Travel (Wales) Act Caldicot-Magor Integrated Network Map exercise. 
 
Monmouth Park and Ride:  No progress.  
 
Chepstow Park and Ride:   No progress.  
 
Monmouth Links Connect 2: MCC’s Transport Section has advised that substantial 
elements of the scheme have been delivered, with some further minor improvements 
delivered in 2016/17 as part of the Active Travel Quick Wins Programme. Remaining 
elements are to be reviewed as part of the Active Travel (Wales) Act Monmouth Integrated 
Network Map exercise.    
 
There has been limited progress towards the delivery of the LTP* schemes detailed in Policy 
MV10 over the current monitoring period, with only some further minor improvements 
delivered in relation to Monmouth Links Connect 2 scheme.  As indicated above, a number 
of projects, including Abergavenny rail station interchange and Chepstow rail station and 
bus station interchange, are expected to be included in the forthcoming interim Regional 
Transport Strategy, although priorities for this will not be developed until the next 
monitoring period (2017/18).  Further progress on the LTP schemes will be reported in 
future AMRs.  
 
Additional improvements are due to be considered as part of the Active Travel (Wales) Act 
Integrated Network Map exercise, including walking and cycling access to Abergavenny, 
Chepstow and Severn Tunnel Junction rail stations. While not specifically set out in Policy 
MV10, any progress on these schemes will be reported in future AMRs.  
 
Although not specifically identified in Policy MV10, the LTP identifies a number of additional 
transport schemes in Monmouthshire which are programmed for delivery over the 2015-
2020 period and will also be monitored through the AMR process.  One such scheme is the 
Magor and Undy new walkway rail station. MCC’s Transport Section has advised that work 
has commenced on Network Rail’s Governance for Railway Investment Projects (GRIP) 
process in relation to the proposed station, with GRIP1 (Output definition) and GRIP2 

86 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 111



(Feasibility) completed with work ongoing on GRIP3 (Option Selection).  Current timescales 
anticipate that the scheme will be delivered by 2022/23.  
 
The Council will continue to monitor the progress of the aforementioned schemes in future 
AMRs to determine whether they are being implemented in accordance with the LTP 
delivery timetable.  
 

Recommendation  

1. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor. 
 

2. No action is required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

 *the 2015 Monmouthshire Local Transport Plan (LTP) has replaced the 2010 South East Wales Regional Transport Plan (RTP).  

The transport schemes identified in the RTP have been carried forward to the LTP – accordingly the indicator wording has 

been amended to reflect this.  

**A public local inquiry into the M4 corridor enhancement scheme started on 28 February 2017 and is expected to last 

around 5 months.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

87
Page 112



 

Place Making and Design 

 

Contextual Changes 

There have been no significant contextual changes relating to this policy area during the 

monitoring period.  

Indicator 

 
Target 

 
(Previous AMR 
Performance) 

Trigger for Further 
Investigation 

Performance 
1 April 2016 
– 31 March 

2017 

3. Number of listed 
buildings and historic 
sites  
 

No applications to 
result in the loss of 
listed buildings   
 

There is a loss of 
more than 1 listed 
building each year 
for 3 or more 
consecutive years*  
  

Refer to 
analysis (1) 

below 

4. Number of 
conservation areas 
with up-to-date 
character appraisal 

 

100% of identified 
draft Conservation 
Area Appraisals by 
2016** 

Target is not met 
  

 19 
Complete    

(100%)  
Refer to 

analysis (2) 
below  

 

5. Sample of planning 
applications granted 
for developments with 
potential for significant 
design / environmental 
implications  
 

All development to 
contribute to the 
creation of a high 
quality well designed 
environment  

Monitoring results 
are negative  

Refer to 
analysis (3) 

below 

6. Sample of planning 
applications granted 
for developments with 
the potential for 
significant impact on 
buildings of historic / 

No adverse impact on 
the historic 
environment  

Any development 
adversely affects the 
historic environment  

Refer to 
analysis (4) 

below 

Monitoring Aim/Outcome: To protect sites and buildings of acknowledged built and 
historic interest     

Strategic Policy:  S17 Place Making and Design  

LDP Objectives Supported:  14 & 15  

Other LDP Policies Supported:  DES1-4, HE1-4  

88 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 113



archaeological interest, 
scheduled ancient 
monuments and 
conservation areas 
 

7. Occasions when 
development 
permitted would have 
an adverse impact on a 
listed building, 
conservation area, site 
of archaeological 
significance, or historic 
landscape park or their 
setting  
 

Development 
proposals do not 
adversely impact 
upon buildings and 
areas of built or 
historic interest and 
their setting 
 
(2014-15: none) 
(2015-16: none)  

1 or more planning 
consents are issued 
where there are 
outstanding 
objections from the 
Council’s 
Conservation Team, 
Cadw or GGAT 

None 
recorded  

Analysis  

3. Number of listed buildings and historic sites: 
 

  LDP Base Date 2011 2015 2016 

Listed Buildings 2146 2153 2153 

Scheduled Ancient Monuments 169 164 164 

Historic Parks and Gardens 44 45 45 

Archaeologically Sensitive Areas 10 10 10 

Landscapes of Outstanding Historic Interest  3 3 3 

 
There were no changes in relation to Listed Buildings, Scheduled Ancient Monuments, 
Historic Parks and Gardens, Archaeologically Sensitive Areas or Landscapes of Outstanding 
Historic Interest over the monitoring period.  
 
There were consequently no applications that resulted in losses to the number of listed 
buildings or historic sites over the monitoring period. Policy S17 is functioning effectively in 
this respect. The Council will continue to monitor the number of listed buildings and historic 
sites to determine the effectiveness of the policy framework relating to this issue.   
  

4. No Conservation Area Appraisals were adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance 
during the monitoring period. A total of 19 Conservation Area Appraisals have however 
been adopted and the target of 100% of identified draft Conservation Area Appraisals by 
2016 was therefore met in the previous monitoring period.  
 
The remaining 12 Conservation Area Appraisals will be progressed in the future subject to 
available resources.  
 
 
 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

89
Page 114



3.  Members of Planning Committee attended two design tours over the monitoring period. 
The design tours took place in September 2016 and March 2017, a total of 6 applications 
were considered that were approved under the LDP. A further application related to a listed 
building and is therefore referred to in relation to indicator 4 below.   
 
Three of the applications related to residential development; two contemporary dwellings 
at Glenfield, Watery Lane, Monmouth, 15 dwellings (9 affordable and 6 market) at the 
allocated Main Village housing site adjacent Trellech School (SAH11xv) and 17 affordable 
dwellings at the former West End School site in Caldicot. Members reacted positively in the 
main to the residential developments and no major concerns were made. Members were 
particularly pleased with the intimate layout and design of the affordable homes in 
Caldicot.  
 
A replacement dwelling was also considered at Glenview Farm, Llanvair Discoed. Members 
were pleased with the design and considered it a good example of how contemporary 
design can work in a rural landscape through careful manipulation of scale, mass and 
external finishes.   
 
The final two applications related to a Solar PV Park at Rhewl Farm, Shirenewton and a 
Premier Inn hotel on Portal Road, Monmouth. Some Members were concerned about the 
visual impact in the short term of the solar park but all recognised the impact would be 
significantly reduced in the longer term as landscaping matures. Members were very 
satisfied with the overall design of the hotel, noting that despite its large scale it 
contributed well to the locality and was not dominant or out of character and recognised 
its tourism /economic boost to the area.    
 
The Council will continue to monitor this issue closely in future AMRs to determine the 
effectiveness of the policy framework relating to design.          
 

4. As part of their annual design tour in September 2016, Members of Planning Committee 
visited one listed building granted planning permission/listed building consent under the 
LDP policy framework. The application related to the residential conversion/extension of a 
grade II listed former Meal House at Manor House Farm, Rogiet. Members were impressed 
with the simple detailing of the lean-to extension which uses modern materials in contrast 
to the traditional elements of the Meal House building, which is made up of stone and 
slates.  
 
The Council will continue to monitor this issue closely in future AMRs to determine the 
effectiveness of the policy framework relating to developments with potential for 
significant impact on buildings of historic/archaeological interest, Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments and Conservation Areas.   
 

5.  There were no planning consents issued over the monitoring period with an outstanding 
objection from the Council’s Heritage Management Team, Cadw or GGAT. Policy S17 is 
functioning effectively in this respect. The Council will continue to monitor the number of 
listed buildings and historic sites to determine the effectiveness of the policy framework 
relating to this issue.  

90 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 115



Recommendation  

1. No action required at present. Continue to monitor.  
 

2. No action required at present. Continue to monitor. 
 

3. No action required at present. Continue to monitor. 
 

4. No action required at present. Continue to monitor. 
 

5. No action required at present. Continue to monitor. 
 

*Trigger wording amended to clarify that the trigger relates to a loss of more than 1 listed building each year for 3 or more 

consecutive years. 

**Target wording amended for clarification, relates to the 18 draft Conservation Area Appraisals that were in progress during 

the lead up to the adoption of the LDP.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

91
Page 116



6         Sustainability Appraisal Monitoring Framework 

 

Methodology 

6.1 The Sustainability Appraisal monitoring expands the assessment of the performance of the LDP against the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Monitoring 

Objectives.  The data collated includes a mix of qualitative and quantitative data with a commentary in the latter column to describe the progress and 

provide a recommendation. Not all of the indicators originally listed in the SA monitoring framework are included, information is only provided for those 

indicators where data is available. In addition to indicators that were amended or deleted in the previous AMR, a number of the indicators used in the 

last monitoring period have been further amended.  The Amended/Deleted SA Indicators Table identifies any indicators that have been updated since 

the 2015-2016 Annual Monitoring Report and outlines the reasoning.   

6.2 As noted above indicators may have been amended since the previous monitoring period, the text is italicised to identify indicators where a change has 

been made since the previous AMR.  There is also overlap with some LDP indicators, these indicators are marked in bold and coloured green for clarity. 

This is intended to provide an indication of how the LDP monitoring and SA monitoring are interlinked.  A brief commentary is provided although 

reference should be made to Section 5 LDP Policy Analysis for additional information. 

6.3 There are a number of SA indicators where information is not published annually, for example those based on the Census.  The purpose of the monitoring 

framework is to review changes on an annual basis, as a consequence these are not necessarily going to be useful moving forward in terms of future 

monitoring.  They have been retained in order to provide a baseline, work has been undertaken to try and find alternative sources of information 

however none appear to be available.    

6.4 The traffic light rating system used for the LDP Monitoring Indicators has not been taken forward for use with the SA Monitoring.  Many of the SA 

objectives are aspirational.  In addition, the LDP alone would not be the only factor that would need to be considered in achieving their aims.  The SA 

Monitoring does not include targets as such, unlike the LDP monitoring, it would therefore prove difficult to interpret the commentary into a traffic light 

rating. The symbols associated with certain indicators identify the desired direction for change. The symbols refer to; (+) increase or more; (-) decrease, 

less or none and; (nc) no change. As this relates to the third SA monitoring since the adoption of the LDP it is compared to the previous two AMRs only, 

emerging trends will become more apparent in future AMRs. Accordingly, the direction of change is referred to as relevant in the commentary section. 

This is utilised to assess the LDP’s progression towards meeting the identified sustainable development indicators.   

6.5 Information contained in the SA monitoring framework in the main relates to a wide range of data produced internally, by various departments of the 

Council and externally from other organisations. Where data has been sourced externally, a footnote is provided to ensure the data source is easily 

identifiable.     

92 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

P
age 117



Sustainability Appraisal Monitoring  

Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

Accessibility
  

 

Allow equitable 
access for all to 
jobs, services and 
facilities they 
need, in a way 
that reduces 
reliance on car use 

1. Average travel to work 
distance (-) 

2. Proportion of people 
travelling to work by 
public transport, 
walking or cycling (+) 

3. Proportion of the 
workforce who remain 
in their own area for 
work, according to 
travel to work statistics 
(+) 

4. Proportion of housing 
development 
completed within or 
adjoining the main 
towns, Severnside 
Settlements, Rural 
Secondary Settlements 
(RSS) and rural general, 
as identified in Policy 
S1. 

5. Percentage of major* 
new development 
within 10 minute walk 
from a frequent and 
regular bus service 
(+)(includes residential, 
employment, retail and 

1. 21.9km** 
2. 16.7%** 
3. 57.9%***** 
4. Main Towns: 

38.2%, 
Severnside: 
19.3%,  
RSS: 21.4%,  
Rural General: 
21% 

5. 87% 

1 – 2. The 2011 Census recorded 16.7% of people travelling to work by 
public transport, walking or cycling. The average travel to work distance 
is 21.9km. Data will not be published until the next Census in 2021, as 
a consequence a meaningful comparison will not be able to be obtained 
until that time. The data will subsequently remain the same in future 
AMRs.  
 
3. The Welsh Government travel to work statistics identify 57.9% of the 
Monmouthshire workforce remaining in their own area for work. This 
figure has decreased marginally by 0.4% since the previous AMR. 
However, these figures should not be given too much weight as the 
data is based on a small sample survey and should therefore be treated 
with caution.   
 
4. The Main Towns provided the largest proportion of dwelling 
completions over the monitoring period equating to 38.3% of the 
overall figure. The Rural Secondary Settlements provided 21.4% and 
the Rural General which incorporates figures from the Main Villages 
provided 21%. The Severnside Settlements accounted for 19.3% over 
the monitoring period, although this was an increase from 8.1% in the 
previous monitoring period.  The Policy Analysis in Section 5 relating to 
the Spatial Strategy provides full analysis of this indicator.  
 
5. Of the 15 applicable schemes, 11 related to residential uses, 2 
related to employment, 1 to leisure (Chepstow Racecourse) and the 
final scheme related to a care home.  The Sudbrook Paper Mill site is 
the only site that is not located in its entirety to a bus stop/service 
within a 10 minute walk. The bus service in Sudbrook is no longer 
operating, part of the Sudbrook Paper Mill site (212 dwellings) is 
currently located within a 10 minute walk of a bus stop in Portskewett, 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

93

P
age 118



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

leisure permissions 
only)’ 

however, part of the site would be over a 10 minute walk. The S106 
agreement for the Sudbrook Paper Mill site nevertheless includes a 
£200,000 contribution to be used by the Council towards the provision 
of a public transport service serving Sudbrook.  In addition to this 46 
houses permitted at the Old Shipyard, Sudbrook site would be located 
just over a 10 minute walk of a different bus stop in Portskewett, which 
can be accessed via Black Rock. The 13 other schemes are nevertheless 
located within a 10 minute walk of a frequent and regular bus service.   
While the proportion of major development schemes within a 10 
minute walk of a frequent and regular bus service has decreased from 
100% to 87% since the last AMR, it should be noted that only 5 schemes 
were considered at that time. Provision is being made in the form of a 
s106 to provide a bus service to Sudbrook, the figure would therefore 
rise to 100% once this is implemented.   
 
Continue to monitor SA objective.     
   

Housing 
 

Provide a range of 
types and tenures 
of housing that 
allows people to 
meet their housing 
needs  

1. People in housing 
need (-) 

2. Affordable home 
completions (+) 

3. General market home 
completions 

4. Density of housing 
permitted on allocated 
sites (SAH1 – SAH10) 

5. The number of 
dwellings permitted 
and completed on 
strategic sites as 
identified in policy S3. 

6. Number of affordable 
dwellings built through 

1. 474 per year 
over 5 Year 
Period (2015 
base date) 
2.  47 
3.  191 
4.  2 granted 
permission, 
densities of 26 & 
30 
5. 212 dwellings 
permitted,  21 
completed 
6.  0 completed  

1.  The latest data available was recorded in the last AMR and has not 
yet been updated. The Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) 2015 
-2020 was published in April 2015.  The new LHMA uses a different 
methodology to that used to provide evidence for the LDP. The results, 
therefore, are not directly comparable. The 474 figure should not be 
taken as a target for the delivery of affordable housing as new build 
homes are not the only supply of affordable homes in Monmouthshire. 
The Council is working with private landlords to increase the supply of 
private rented homes and to bring empty homes back into use. As 
noted above the figure has not been updated since the previous AMR, 
it nevertheless provides an indication of current projected need for 
affordable housing within the County and sets a benchmark the Council 
can work towards.  
 
2 – 5. There were 47 affordable home completions and 191 market 
dwelling completions over the monitoring period.  Of the 2 allocated 

94 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

P
age 119



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

rural exception 
schemes 

7. Number of dwellings 
provided in accordance 
with the settlement 
hierarchy set out in 
Policy S2 

8. Housing land supply 
 

7.  See table in 
commentary 
section   
8.  4.0 Years  

sites granted permission (SAH1 to SAH10) 1 of the sites (Sudbrook 
Paper Mill SAH7) had a density of 30 dwellings per hectare (dpha) which 
is higher than the site’s target density of 29 dpha as set out in the LDP, 
the other was below the site’s target density of 32 dpha at 26 dpha  
(Coed Glas SAH9). While there is a decrease in the number of dwellings 
permitted (212 permissions 2016 - 2017) on strategic sites from the 
previous AMR (340 permissions 2015 - 2016) there was an increase in 
completions as none were recorded in the previous two AMRs. The 21 
completions relate solely to the Wonastow Road site.   
 
6.  There were no completions relating to rural exception schemes over 
the monitoring period. The single dwelling build your own affordable 
home site referred to in previous two AMRs has progressed further but 
is not yet completed. 
 
7.  The table below provides a breakdown of the 238 dwellings 
completions, in comparison with the settlement hierarchy set out in 
Policy S2. The Policy Analysis in Section 5 relating to the Spatial Strategy 
provides a full analysis of this indicator.  
 

 2016 – 2017 Target  

Main Towns 38.2% 41% 

Severnside  19.3% 33% 

Rural Secondary 21.4% 10% 

Rural General 21% 16% 

 
8. The Monmouthshire Joint Housing Land Availability Study (JHLAS) for 
the 2016-2017 period demonstrates that based on the residual method 
the County had 4.0 year housing land supply. The Policy Analysis in 
Section 5 relating to Strategic Policy S2 provides a full analysis of this 
indicator. 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

95

P
age 120



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

 
Continue to monitor SA objective. 
 

Health, 
safety & 
security 
 

To improve health 
and wellbeing by 
encouraging more 
healthy lifestyles, 
and protecting 
people from risk 
that may impact 
on their health 
and/or safety 

1. Amount of open space 
created as a result of 
planning permissions 
 

1. 2ha  
 

1.  A total of 2 hectares of open space was approved as a result of 

planning permissions over the monitoring period. This demonstrates 

that developments permitted through the planning process are 

successfully facilitating the provision of new open spaces.  

Continue to monitor SA objective.       

Community 
 

To support and 
promote the 
distinctive 
character of local 
communities and 
community 
cohesion 

1. Number of 
community and 
recreation facilities 
granted planning 
permission (+) 

2. Amount of 
community and 
recreation facilities lost 
to other uses. 

3. Amount of public 
open space / playing 
fields lost to 
development which is 
not allocated in the 
development plan  

1. 4 
2. 6 
3. 0ha 

1. Over the monitoring period a total of 4 facilities were granted 
planning permission as either community or recreation facilities. Of 
which 1 was for a recreation use and 3 for community facilities. There 
was a minor decrease in the number of community / recreation 
facilities approved over the monitoring period (4 facilities) when 
compared to the previous AMR (5 facilities). This conflicts with the 
desired direction of change and will therefore continue to be 
monitored in future AMRs. For further detail refer to the Policy Analysis 
in Section 5 relating to Community and Recreation Facilities.    
 
2. There has been a loss of 6 community facilities over the period 
monitored. Five of the applications related to residential 
redevelopment. While the data collected indicates that a number of 
community facilities have been lost to alternative uses over the 
monitoring period, their loss is justified within the context and 
requirements of the LDP policy framework.  For further detail refer to 
the Policy Analysis in Section 5 relating to Community and Recreation 
Facilities.  
 
3. No permissions were granted on playing fields or any other areas of 
open space for development that is not allocated in the LDP. For further 

96 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

P
age 121



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

detail refer to the Policy Analysis in Section 5 relating to Landscape, 
Green Infrastructure and Natural Environment.   
Continue to monitor SA objective.  

Biodiversity 
 

Protect, value, 
manage and 
enhance healthy 
functioning 
ecosystems, 
habitats and 
natural species 
diversity, valuing 
nature 
conservation 
interests wherever 
they are found 

1. Developments 
permitted that cause 
harm to the overall 
Nature Conservation 
value of locally 
designated sites (-) 

2. Number of new 
developments 
delivering habitat 
creation and 
restoration 

3. Hectares of ancient 
woodland lost to 
development (-) 

4. Development 
permitted within 
internationally / 
nationally important 
nature conservation 
areas. 

1. 1 application 
2. 0 
3. Approximately 

0.025ha 
ancient 
woodland 
potentially lost 
to 
development 

4. 0 
 

 

1. One application was granted over the monitoring period that may 
cause harm to a SINC. For further detail refer to the Policy Analysis in 
Section 5 relating to Landscape, Green Infrastructure and Natural 
Environment. This is the first year information has been available to 
monitor this indicator and there is subsequently no comparable data, 
this will continue to be monitored in future AMRs.  
 
2. There were no developments permitted specifically to deliver habitat 
creation and restoration during the monitoring period. 
 
3. A very small proportion of ancient woodland could be lost as a result 
of developments approved over the monitoring period. This related to 
the felling of approximately 15-20 mature larch trees to allow for 
minerals extraction on the site9. The applicant nevertheless provided a 
Woodland Assessment and Management Plan in support of the 
application which identifies that the woodland lends itself to gradual 
long term restoration to predominately native broadleaves. The 
application is conditioned accordingly and will be restored fully once 
the operation ceases in five year’s time, it was concluded that the 
proposal would not cause unacceptable harm to the ancient woodland.  
 
4. There were no developments permitted or completed within 
internationally / nationally important nature conservation areas during 
the monitoring period. For further detail refer to the Policy Analysis in 
Section 5 relating to Landscape, Green Infrastructure and Natural 
Environment.  
    

9 Relates to DC/2015/01541  at Cledd-y-Tan Wood, Kilgwrrwg 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

97

P
age 122



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

Continue to monitor SA objective.      
   

Landscape 
 

To maintain and 
enhance the 
quality and 
character of the 
landscape, 
including its 
contribution to 
the setting and 
character of 
settlements 

1. Number of trees 
protected by TPOs lost 
to development (-) 

1. Approximately 
20 trees 
protected by 
TPOs lost. 

1. Approximately 20 Tree Preservation Order trees were lost to 
development over the monitoring period.  These all relate to trees on 
the Coed Glas site which is designated in Policy SAH9 for residential 
development.  While the figure appears large the loss of the trees is 
justified in order to bring forward the LDP allocation. The tree losses 
also consist in the main of low quality, linear groups. The scheme 
includes mitigation of tree loss through additional tree planting to 
supplement the trees retained on site.  
 
Continue to monitor SA objective.         

Built 
Environment 
 

To maintain and 
enhance the built 
environment for 
both its visual 
character and 
distinctiveness 
and to create a 
better living 
environment. 

1. Planning permission 
granted for renewable 
and low carbon energy 
development. 

2. Number of new 
developments 
completed that 
incorporate on-site 
renewable energy 
generation. (i.e. 
permissions following 
LDP adoption that have 
been completed over 
the 2016-2017 
monitoring period)  

3. Sample of planning 
applications granted 
for developments with 
the potential for 
significant design / 

1. 5 
2. 3 
3. N/A 

1.   Five applications were approved over the monitoring period for on-
site renewable energy generation. Three of the schemes related to 
small scale solar development. The other two schemes related to 
biomass. This compares to a total of eight schemes in the previous 
AMR. For further detail refer to the Policy Analysis in Section 5 on 
Efficient Resource Use and Flood Risk.  
 
2. A total of 3 renewable energy schemes were completed over the 
monitoring period and are now in operation. All three completed 
schemes related to solar, one small scale and two large schemes.  For 
further detail refer to the Policy Analysis in Section 5 on Efficient 
Resource Use and Flood Risk.  
 
3. Members of Planning Committee attended two design tours over the 
monitoring period. The design tours took place in September 2016 and 
March 2017, a total of 6 applications were considered that were 
approved under the LDP.  A further application related to a listed 
building and is therefore referred to in relation to indicator 2 against 
the historic heritage headline.  Members reacted positively in the main 
to the developments and no major concerns were made. Refer to the 

98 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

P
age 123



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

environmental 
implications. 

Policy Analysis in Section 5 on Place Making and Design for further 
details. 
Continue to monitor SA objective.     

Historic 
heritage 
 

Understand, value, 
protect and 
restore, where 
necessary, the 
historic cultural 
heritage of the 
area, including 
features of the 
built and semi-
natural 
environment 

1. Number of listed 
building and historic 
sites 
(-) 

2. Sample of planning 
applications granted 
for developments with 
the potential for 
significant impact on 
buildings of historic / 
archaeological interest, 
scheduled ancient 
monuments and 
conservation areas 
adversely affected by 
development. 

3. Number of 
conservation areas 
with an up-to-date 
character appraisal 

1. Listed 
Buildings:  
2153, 
Scheduled 
Ancient 
Monuments: 
164, Historic 
Parks & 
Gardens: 45, 
Archaeological 
Sensitive 
Areas: 10 and 
Landscapes of 
Historic 
Importance: 3    

2. N/A 
3. 19 up to date 

Conservation 
Area 
character 
appraisals. 

1. No listed buildings were delisted by Cadw over the monitoring 
period. Further to this there were no changes in relation to Scheduled 
Ancient Monuments, Historic Parks and Gardens, Archaeologically 
Sensitive Areas or Landscapes of Outstanding Historic Interest over the 
monitoring period.  
  
2. As part of their annual design tour in September 2016, Members of 
Planning Committee visited one listed building granted planning 
permission/listed building consent under the LDP. Members were 
impressed with the simple detailing of the lean-to extension which uses 
modern materials in contrast to the traditional elements of the Meal 
House building. Refer to the Policy Analysis in Section 5 on Place Making 
and Design for further details. 
 
3. A total of 19 Conservation Area Appraisals have been produced and 
adopted as SPG. Refer to the Place Making and Design Policy Analysis 
in Section 5 for further details.  
 
Continue to monitor SA objective.        

Air 
 

To reduce all 
forms of air 
pollution in the 
interests of local 
air quality and the 
integrity of the 
atmosphere to 

1. Number of locations 
where air quality 
exceeds objective levels 
per annum (-) 

2. Percentage of people 
employed using their 
car/van as their main 

1. 1 location in 
Chepstow 

2. 81.4%** 
3. 16.7%** 

 

1. The annual objective level of nitrogen dioxide was only exceeded in 
one location in 2016. This related to Hardwick Hill in Chepstow, the 
same location as the previous year. For the second year running there 
was no exceedance in Usk. There were also no exceedances in Llanfoist 
or Monmouth. Monitoring tubes are positioned in Chepstow, Llanfoist, 
Monmouth and Usk as these are the areas identified as having air 
quality issues. The location where air quality exceeds objective levels 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

99

P
age 124



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

protect from 
climate change 

way of commuting to 
and from work either 
by driving or as a 
passenger (-) 

3. Proportion of people 
employed travelling to 
work by public 
transport, walking or 
cycling (+) 

 

remains unchanged over the monitoring period, the environmental 
health team continue to monitor this closely and are investigating a 
number of ways to reduce this level.  While there has been no 
improvement it is encouraging that there are no additional locations 
that exceed objective levels of air quality, the indicator will continue to 
be monitored in future AMRs. 
 
2 – 3. The 2011 Census recorded 16.7% of people travelling to work by 
public transport, walking or cycling. The mode of commuting statistics 
are also taken from the 2011 Census identifying 81.4% of people 
employed as using their car/van as their main way of commuting to and 
from work. Data will not be published until the next Census in 2021, as 
a consequence a meaningful comparison will not be able to be obtained 
until that time. This data will subsequently remain the same in future 
AMRs. 
 
Continue to monitor SA objective.   
 

Water 
quality 
 

To maintain and 
improve the 
quality of ground, 
surface and 
coastal waters 

1. % of rivers reaching 
‘good’ water quality 
status (+) 
2. Proportion of 
allocated sites and all 
other developments of 
over 10 dwellings/1ha 
that incorporate SUDS 
(+)10  

1. 32%*** 
2. 8 of 20 

1. The Water Framework Directive (WFD) combines ecological and 
chemical status in its reporting, the surface water body will need to 
reach good status in both elements in order to reach an overall ‘good 
status’. Of the rivers assessed across Monmouthshire, 32% were 
considered to have obtained ‘good’ status in 2015. NRW no longer 
produce an annual classification and the figures subsequently remain 
the same as the previous monitoring period.   
 
2. Of the twenty applicable applications permitted, eleven related to 
residential schemes, two to employment sites and the remaining seven 
a wide range of uses. Seven of the residential schemes incorporated 
SUDS ranging from on-site permeable surfacing and soakaways to a 

                                                           
10 SUDS are drainage solutions that provide an alternative to the direct channelling of surface water through networks of pipes and sewers to nearby watercourses. By mimicking natural 
drainage regimes, SUDS aim to reduce surface water flooding, improve water quality and enhance the amenity and biodiversity value of the environment. SUDS achieve this by lowering flow 
rates, increasing water storage capacity and reducing the transport of pollution to the water environment (British Geological Society) 

100 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

P
age 125



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

containment pond system for surface water drainage. Only one of the 
employment proposals incorporated SUDS into its development, this 
related to an attenuation tank. SUDS were not incorporated into the 
other uses although a condition was put in place for a water 
management plan for one of the schemes. While SUDS were not fully 
incorporated into all major developments over the monitoring period, 
the lack of SUDS appears to be justified in many of the cases and the 
reasoning behind the lack of SUDS is recognised within the application 
details and officers’ reports. The number of major developments 
permitted has increased significantly since the previous monitoring 
period where there were only 5 such schemes permitted. The 
proportion of schemes that incorporated SUDS has nevertheless 
decreased since the previous monitoring period, this indicator will 
subsequently be monitored closely in the next AMR.    
  
Continue to monitor SA objective.    

Water 
supply 
 

To maintain the 
quantity of water 
available including 
potable water 
supplies, and 
ground water and 
river levels   

1. Proportion of 
groundwater bodies 
reaching ‘good’ 
quantity status (+) 

1. 100%*** 1. Monmouthshire sits within three groundwater bodies, the Usk 
Devonian Old Red Sandstone (ORS), Wye Secondary Devonian ORS and 
Usk and Wye southern Carboniferous Limestone. All three groundwater 
bodies had good status for quantity over the 2015 monitoring period. 
NRW no longer produce an annual classification and the figures 
subsequently remain the same as the previous monitoring period.  
 
Continue to monitor SA objective.     

Flood risk 
 

Ensure that new 
development is 
designed and 
located to avoid 
the risk of 
flooding, and 
ensure the risk of 

1. Number of 
permissions for 
development in Flood 
Zones C1 and C2 not 
meeting all TAN 15 
tests  
(-) 

1. 0 
2. 8 of 20  
3. 0*** 
 

1. No applications have been granted planning permission contrary to 
TAN15 requirements in either Zone C1 or C2 floodplain over the 
monitoring period. This replicates the results of the previous 
monitoring period. 
 
2. Of the twenty applicable applications permitted, eleven related to 
residential schemes, two to employment sites and the remaining seven 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

101

P
age 126



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

flooding is not 
increased 
elsewhere 

2. Proportion of 
allocated sites and all 
other developments of 
over 10 dwellings/1ha 
that incorporate SUDS 
(+) 

3. Instances where rivers 
experienced summer 
low flow (-) 

a wide range of uses. Seven of the residential schemes incorporated 
SUDS ranging from on-site permeable surfacing and soakaways to a 
containment pond system for surface water drainage. Only one of the 
employment proposals incorporated SUDS into its development, this 
related to an attenuation tank. SUDS were not incorporated into the 
other uses although a condition was put in place for a water 
management plan for one of the schemes. While SUDS were not fully 
incorporated into all major developments over the monitoring period, 
the lack of SUDS appears to be justified in many of the cases and the 
reasoning behind the lack of SUDS is recognised within the application 
details and officers reports. The number of major developments 
permitted has increased significantly since the previous monitoring 
period where there were only 5 such schemes permitted. The 
proportion of schemes that incorporated SUDS has nevertheless 
decreased since the previous monitoring period, this indicator will 
subsequently be monitored closely in the next AMR.    
 
3. There are three key river monitoring stations in Monmouthshire 
positioned on the River Usk, River Wye and River Monnow. None of the 
Gauging Stations recorded flows below the 95th percentile over the 
monitoring period. NRW note flows of each river are below Q95 on 
average for around 18 days per year, any additional days above this 
provides a typical indicator of summer low flows. No days of low flow 
were recorded over this monitoring period on the three rivers in 
Monmouthshire indicating an improvement on data recorded in the 
previous AMR. For the past three years the rivers have not recordd 
summer low flow as they have all been consistently below the 18 days 
(River Wye 12 days & River Usk 13 days 2014 & River Wye 5 days & 
River Usk 1 day 2015) and there has subsequently been no summer low 
flow since LDP adoption.       
 
Continue to monitor SA objective.     

102 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

P
age 127



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

Minerals 
and waste  
 

To ensure that 
primary materials 
and minerals are 
managed in a 
sustainable way, 
by safeguarding 
mineral areas, 
encouraging re-
use and recycling 
and avoiding final 
disposal of 
resources 

1. Number of permitted 
permanent non-
mineral developments 
on safeguarded sites 
that do not comply 
with Policy M2  
(-) 

2. Proportion of 
Monmouthshire’s 
household waste being 
recycled and 
composted (+) 

3. Amount of waste 
management capacity 
permitted expressed as 
a percentage of the 
total capacity required 
as identified in the 
Regional Waste Plan 

4. Extent of primary 
land-won aggregates 
resources as a 
percentage of total 
capacity identified in 
the Regional Technical 
Statement. 

1. 0 
2. 64.1%**** 
3. 0ha permitted  
4. 0 

1. No applications were granted for permanent non-mineral 
developments on safeguarded sites that did not comply with Policy M2 
during the monitoring period. This is in line with the previous 
monitoring period.  
 
2. The latest data published is for the 2015 – 2016 period which 
suggests 64.1% of Monmouthshire’s total household waste was 
recycled or composted. This has decreased marginally since the 
previous AMR which indicated 66.6% was recycled or composted. This 
indicator will continue to be monitored in future AMRs.     
 
3. There were no permissions for waste management capacity during 
the monitoring period. For further information refer to the Policy 
Analysis in Section 5 relating to Waste.  

 

4. No primary land-won aggregates were extracted over the monitoring 
period. There has therefore, been no reduction in the land bank in 
Monmouthshire. For further information refer to the Policy Analysis in 
Section 5 relating to Minerals.  
 
Continue to monitor SA objective. 
      

Land/soil 
 

To use land 
efficiently by 
prioritising 
development on 
previously 

1. Proportion of   
development 
permitted on 
greenfield land as a 
percentage of all 

1. 48.8% 
2. 16.5ha 
3. 23.5dpha 
4. 0 

1. A total of 36.3 hectares of development was permitted over the 
monitoring period, 17.7ha of which was on greenfield sites. This 
equated to 48.8% of all development (excluding householder, 
conversions and agricultural buildings) as being permitted on 
greenfield land. A number of the applications permitted related to the 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

103

P
age 128



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

developed land 
where possible, 
and using existing 
land efficiently by 
tackling 
contamination and 
protecting higher 
grade agricultural 
soil 

development excluding 
householder, 
conversions and 
agricultural buildings 
(nc or -) 

2. Amount of Greenfield 
land lost to 
development which is 
not allocated in the 
development plan 

3. Annual average 
densities of new housing 
development (+) 
4. Hectares of 
agricultural land at Grade 
3a and better lost to 
major* development 
(excluding LDP 
allocations and 
agricultural 
development)’ 

change of use of land to accommodate sustainable tourism 
accommodation which are non-permanent forms of development. 
There has been a substantial reduction in the amount of greenfield land 
permitted for development since the previous monitoring period in 
accordance with the desired direction of change.  
 
2. Over the monitoring period 31 permissions were granted on 
greenfield land not allocated for development in the LDP, totalling 16.5 
hectares. This compares favourably to the previous two AMRs when the 
amount of non-allocated greenfield land permitted was significantly 
higher (44.6 hectares in 2015; 26 hectares in 2014). For further detail 
refer to the Landscape, Green Infrastructure and Natural Environment 
Policy Analysis in Section 5. 
 
3. The annual average density of all new housing development equated 
to 23.5 dwellings per hectare. This figure is higher than the previous 
two AMRs which related to a total of 22 (2015-2016) and 21 (2014-
2015) dwellings per hectare, indicating a gain from the previous two 
monitoring periods and therefore positive progress. Furthermore while 
the figure is lower than the LDP target of 30 dwellings per hectare, only 
7 applications for sites of over 10 were granted permission over the 
monitoring period. The majority of permissions related to infill plots in 
gardens, decreasing the density of developments overall.  

 
4.  No agricultural land at Grade 3a and better was lost to major 
development over the monitoring period. The Welsh Government are 
currently developing a new predictive Agricultural Land Classification 
for Wales. This will provide a more accurate classification of agricultural 
land and will be used in future AMRs against this indicator.  
 
Continue to monitor SA objective.     

Energy 
 

To secure energy 
efficiency 

1. Number of new 
developments 

1. 5 1. Five applications were approved over the monitoring period for on-
site renewable energy generation. Three of the schemes related to 

104 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

P
age 129



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

improvements in 
all new buildings 
and encourage 
energy generation 
from renewable 
sources. 

completed that 
incorporate on-site 
renewable energy 
generation. (i.e. 
permissions following 
LDP adoption that have 
been completed over 
the 2016-2017 
monitoring period)  

small scale solar development. The other two schemes related to 
biomass. This compares to a total of eight schemes in the previous 
AMR. For further detail refer to the Policy Analysis in Section 5 on 
Efficient Resource Use and Flood Risk. 
 
Continue to monitor SA objective.        

Employment 
 

Provide a range of 
jobs within 
Monmouthshire 
that help meet the 
needs of the 
resident 
workforce 

1. Net employment land 
supply/ development 
and take-up of 
employment land (+) 

2. Amount of 
employment land lost 
to non-employment 
uses 

3. Proportion of resident 
workforce working in 
Monmouthshire (+) 

4. Average travel to work 
distance (-) 

5. Percentage of vacant 
units within CSA of 
each town and local 
centre 

1. Supply 
40.76ha, Take-
up 3.21ha 

2. 0.65ha 
3. 57.9%***** 
4. 21.9km** 
5. Abergavenny: 

8.7%,  
Caldicot: 
10.1%, 
Chepstow: 
7.1%, 
Monmouth: 
4.9%, 
Magor: 0%, 
Raglan: 0%,  
Usk: 13.1%  

 
 

1. The Employment Land Background Paper identified 40.76ha of 
employment land available across the County, the supply relates to 
SAE1 Identified Industrial and Business Sites only. Whilst sufficient land 
is available, the take-up rate of employment land was limited to 3.21ha 
over the monitoring period. The take-up11 is substantially higher than 
the previous two AMRs (0.38ha 2014-2015 and 1.131ha 2015 -2016 
respectively) and is consequently a very positive progression. For 
further information refer to the Economy and Enterprise Policy Analysis 
in Section 5. 
  
2. Two applications involving the loss of B use class employment land 
were approved during the monitoring period, totalling 0.65 hectares.  
The first proposal related to a care facility (Use Class C2), 0.6 hectares, 
at the identified business and industrial site at Westgate Business Park, 
Llanfoist (SAE1d) (allocated for B1 and B2 uses). The other proposal at 
Bulwark Road, Chepstow (SAE2i) was granted permission for a change 
of use from a commercial repair garage (Use Class B2) to a gym (Use 
Class D2). It is recognised that both of these uses generate employment 
opportunities. The loss of the employment land for both sites is justified 
within the context and requirements of the LDP policy framework. For 

11 Employment land take-up relates to SAE1 Identified Industrial and Business Sites, SAE2 Protected Employment Sites and Mixed Use Sites.  

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

105

P
age 130



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

further information refer to the Economy and Enterprise Policy Analysis 
in Section 5.  
 
3. The Welsh Government travel to work statistics identify 57.9% of the 
Monmouthshire workforce remaining in their own area for work. While 
this is marginally less than last year’s figure and lower than the Welsh 
average it is higher than the figure recorded in the 2014 AMR. However, 
these figures should not be given too much weight as the data is based 
on a small sample survey and should therefore be treated with caution.   
 
4. The average travel to work distance is 21.9km. Data will not be 
published until the next Census in 2021, as a consequence a meaningful 
comparison will not be able to be obtained until that time. This data 
will subsequently remain the same in future AMRs. 
  
5. Vacancy rates recorded in the Central Shopping Areas (CSA) for all of 
the County’s town and local centres are below the Welsh vacancy rate 
(15.2% December 2016, Local Data Company). Only one town (Usk) 
recorded a higher rate than the UK vacancy rate (12.2% December 
2016, Local Data Company). For full details refer to the Retail Policy 
Analysis in Section 5. 
 
Continue to monitor SA objective.  

Wealth 
creation 
 

Raise prosperity 
and quality of life 
by developing  a 
more self-
sustaining local 
economy 
encouraging 
indigenous growth 

1. Range of 
SAE1/SAE2/Identified 
Mixed Use Sites 
available, distribution 
and size  

2. Planning permissions 
granted for 
employment use by 
settlement  

1. See table in 
commentary 
section 

2. Main Towns: 
0.52ha,   
Severnside: 
0.17ha, RSS: 
0.01ha, Rural 
General: 1.14ha 

1. The table below identifies the range of employment sites across the 
County by location along with the size of the sites available. While a 
large proportion of land is located in Magor there is distribution across 
the Main Towns and some of the Rural Secondary Settlements. The 
Beaufort Park site (SAE1i) is no longer included within this table as the 
0.42ha site is currently under construction for five B2/B8 units.  
 

106 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

P
age 131



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

3. Planning permissions 
granted for 
employment use by 
sector 

4. Proportion of resident 
workforce working in 
Monmouthshire (+) 

5. Number of people in-
commuting to 
Monmouthshire 

6. Number of people 
out-commuting from 
Monmouthshire 

7. Tourism expenditure 
(+) 

8. Number of rural 
diversification/ 
enterprise schemes 
approved 

9. Number of tourism 
schemes approved 

10. Number of tourism 
facilities lost through 
development, change 
of use or demolition 

3. See table in 
commentary 
section 

4. 57.9%***** 
5. 20,400***** 
6. 18,700***** 
7. £190.05 
Million 
****** 
8. 6 
9. 24 
10. 1 

Site 
Reference 

Site Name/Location Site Use 
Class 

Remaining land 
available (ha) 

SAE1a  Wales One, Magor 
(west) 

B1 4.0 

SAE1b Quay Point, Magor B1/B2/B8 13.76 

SAE1c Gwent Europark, 
Magor 

B8 13.3 

SAE1d Westgate, Llanfoist B1/B2 1.9 

SAE1e Ross Road, 
Abergavenny 

B1/B2 1.5 

SAE1f Newhouse Farm, 
Chepstow 

B2/B8 4.0 

SAE1g South Woodside, Usk B1 1.3 

SAE1h Pill Row, Caldicot B1/B8 1.0 

SAE2l Wonastow Road, 
Monmouth 

B1/B2/B8 0.55 

SAE2w Wales One, Magor B1/B2/B8 0.57 

SAH2 Crick Road, 
Portskewett 

B1 1.0 

SAH3 Fairfield Mabey, 
Chepstow 

B1 2.8 

SAH4 Wonastow Road, 
Monmouth 

B1 2.78 

SAH5 Rockfield Farm, Undy B1 2.0 

 
2. The Rural areas accounted for the majority of permissions relating to 
employment over the monitoring period equating to 1.14ha. 0.81ha of 
which was however located adjacent the Protected Employment Site at 
Mamhilad Techology Park. The Main Towns followed with  0.94ha. The 
Severnside area and Rural Secondary Settlements accounted for a 
lesser number of permissions accounting for 0.17ha and 0.01ha 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

107

P
age 132



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

respectively over the monitoring period. For further information refer 
to the Economy and Enterprise Policy Analysis in Section 5. 
 
3. The table below only identifies those sectors where planning 
permission for employment uses occurred over the monitoring period. 
The largest proportion of employment floorspace for B use classes 
permitted related to Transport and Storage; information and 
communication. For the full list of sectors and additional information 
refer to the Economy and Enterprise Policy Analysis in Section 5.   
 

Sector Size(ha) 

Manufacturing 0.07ha 

Wholesale & retail trade; repair of motor 
vehicles and motor cycles   

0.42ha 

Transport & storage; information and 
communication 

0.82ha 

Real estate activities; Professional, scientific 
and technical activities; Administrative and 
support service activities 

0.41ha 

Accommodation & food service activities 0.02ha 

 
4.  The Welsh Government travel to work statistics identify 57.9% of 
the Monmouthshire workforce remaining in their own area for work. 
While this is marginally less than last year’s figure and lower than the 
Welsh average it is higher than the figure recorded in the 2014 AMR. 
However, these figures should not be given too much weight as the 
data is based on a small sample survey and should therefore be treated 
with caution. 
 
5 – 6. The 2016 Welsh Government Commuting Statistics identified a 
total of 20,400 commuting into Monmouthshire and 18,700 out of 
Monmouthshire. The level of in-commuting has increased since the last 
monitoring period (2015 – 2016 17,800) however the level of out- 

108 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

P
age 133



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

commuting has remained constant, resulting in a net inflow of 
commuters.  However, these figures should not be given too much 
weight as the data is based on a small sample survey and should 
therefore be treated with caution. The Economy and Enterprise Policy 
Analysis in Section 5 provides a further breakdown of this information.   
 
There is an aspiration to reduce levels of both in-commuting and out-
commuting recorded in Monmouthshire over the Plan period. While 
the level of out-commuting has remained constant (18,700) since the 
last monitoring period, the level of in-commuting has increased (from 
17,800 to 20,400), resulting in a net inflow of commuters. This contrasts 
to the data recorded in the previous two AMRs where a net outflow of 
commuters was evident (400 in 2014 and 900 in 2015). However, these 
figures should not be given too much weight as the data is based on a 
small sample survey and should therefore be treated with caution. 
 
7. The Monmouthshire STEAM report (2017) identified the annual 
tourism expenditure as £190.05 Million over the 2016 period. This 
compared to £186.65 Million over the 2015 period, equating to a 1.8% 
increase.  
 
8. A total of 6 applications relating to rural diversification/enterprise 
were approved during the monitoring period. 4 of the applications 
were approved as rural enterprise and 2 as rural diversification. Full 
details of which can be found in the Rural Enterprise Policy Analysis in 
Section 5.   
 
9 – 10. A total of 24 tourism schemes were approved over the 
monitoring period ranging from individual holiday lets (all conversions) 
to glamping accommodation including shepherds huts. One planning 
application was approved which involved the loss of a tourism facility 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

109

P
age 134



Headline Objective SA Indicators Data Commentary 

over the monitoring period, this related to the Swan Hotel in 
Abergavenny. The change of use was however considered acceptable 
given its economic benefits to the local area, including an associated 
increase in employment opportunities. The Visitor Economy Policy 
Analysis in Section 5 provides full detail of the type of tourism facilities 
gained over the monitoring period.  
Continue to monitor SA objective.       

*Major development -   development involving one or more of the following: developments of 10 or more dwellings or 0.5ha or more for outline and full applications; development of 

building or buildings where the floor space to be created is 1000m2 or more; developments on site with an area of 1ha or more; winning or working of minerals, or use of the land for 

mineral working deposits; or, waste development. 

**Figure derived from Census 2011  

*** Natural Resources Wales 

**** Welsh Government Stats Wales 

*****Welsh Government Commuting Statistics (2016)  

******Monmouthshire STEAM Report (2016)  

110 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

P
age 135



  Amended/Deleted SA Indicators – These indicators have been updated since the 2015-2016 Annual Monitoring Report 

Headline Original SA Indicator Reason for amendment 

Accessibility Percentage of major* new development 
within 10 minute walk from a frequent and 
regular bus service (+) (excludes minerals, 
waste and renewable energy permissions) 

The parameters of this indicator have been amended to outline the specific types of major 
development included rather than those that are excluded.   
 
  

Housing Density of housing permitted on allocated 
sites  

Additional detail has been added to the indicator to provide clarification. This is in line with 
the LDP indicator.  

Land/soil Proportion of   development permitted on 
greenfield land as a percentage of all 
development excluding householder, 
change of use and agricultural buildings (nc 
or -) 

Amended in line with the LDP indicator, change of use has been amended to conversions 
to ensure the change of use of land is considered.  

Energy Number of new developments permitted 
that incorporate on-site renewable energy 
generation (excludes householder, change of 
use and agricultural buildings)   

Updated in line with the SA indicator included under Built Environment headline. 

Wealth 
Creation 

Range of SAE1/SAE2/Identified Mixed Use 
Sites available, distribution and size (+) 
 

The symbol at the end of this indicator has been deleted. The only time an increase in 
Employment Land Supply would be created would be through additional allocations as a 
consequence of review of the LDP/a new LDP.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

111

P
age 136



 

7.1 This is the third AMR to be prepared since the adoption of the Monmouthshire LDP. 
Although the LDP has only been operational for 3 years, trends have emerged through 
the monitoring process as to which policies are performing as intended and which are 
not. Reflecting last year’s monitoring analysis, the AMR indicates that good progress 
is being made in delivering many of the Plan’s policies with identified targets being 
met and that the LDP strategy remains sound. However, the AMR also indicates that 
there continues to be certain elements of the Plan which are progressing more slowly 
than intended and remain a matter of concern.   

 

7.2 Section 5 provides a detailed assessment of how the Plan’s strategic policies, and 

associated supporting policies, are performing against the identified key monitoring 

targets and outcomes and whether the LDP strategy and objectives are being 

delivered.  This has enabled the Council to make an informed judgement of the Plan’s 

progress in delivering the targets/monitoring outcomes and policies during this 

monitoring period.  The table below provides a visual overview of the effectiveness of 

the Plan’s policies during the current monitoring period based on the traffic light rating 

used in the assessment: 

 

 
Targets / monitoring outcomes* are being achieved 
 

 
52 

 

Targets / monitoring outcomes* are not currently being achieved 
but there are no concerns over the implementation of the policy 

 
22 

 

Targets / monitoring outcomes* are not being achieved with 
subsequent concerns over the implementation of policy 

 
8 
 

 
No conclusion can be drawn due to limited data availability 
 

2 

*For those indicators with no target/trigger the monitoring outcomes are assessed and rated 

accordingly 

Key Findings 

7.3 Information collected through the monitoring process indicates that the majority of 

the indicator targets and monitoring outcomes are being achieved (green traffic light 

rating), indicating that the relevant Plan policies are performing as intended.  The most 

significant achievements include the following: 

Strategy and Housing 

 Progress continues to be made towards the implementation of the spatial 
strategy.  
 

7       Conclusions and Recommendations 

112 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 137



 The Council approved proposals for a total of 484 dwelling units of which 93 
(19.2%) are for affordable homes. 
 

 Four LDP allocated housing sites gained planning permission: 
o The Former Paper Mill, Sudbrook (SAH7) 212 dwellings including 20 

affordable units;  
o Coed Glas, Abergavenny (SAH9) 51 dwellings including 18 affordable units; 
o Main Village site at Penallt (SAH11xii) 10 dwellings comprising 6 affordable 

and 4 general market dwellings; 
o Main Village site at Shirenewton (SAH11xiv(b)) 5 dwellings comprising 3 

affordable and 2 general market dwellings.   
Significant progress has been made in relation to three other strategic housing 
sites. 

 Affordable housing policy targets set out in Policy S4 are generally being met in 

relation to planning permissions granted in the main towns and main villages.  

 

Economy and Enterprise 

 The County has a total of 40.76 hectares of employment land available, indicating 

that sufficient employment land is maintained to meet the identified take up rate. 

The take-up of employment land stood at 3.21 hectares which is attributable to 

development on identified business and employment (SAE1) sites (Quaypoint 

Magor and Westgate Business Park Llanfoist) and protected employment (SAE2) 

sites (Union Road Abergavenny and Magor Brewery).  

 

 There has been significant progress in terms of employment permissions within 

the County, with permissions granted for a range of B use class employment uses 

on identified business and industrial sites (SAE1), protected employment sites 

(SAE2) and non-allocated sites (totalling 2.26 hectares). A number of rural 

diversification and rural enterprise schemes have also been approved (6). 

 

 The Council approved proposals for a total of 24 tourism facilities, all of which 
related to tourist accommodation ranging from holiday lets to glamping 
accommodation. The new Sustainable Tourism Accommodation SPG has helped 
clarify our general support for this important sector of our economy. 

Retail and Community Facilities 

 Vacancy rates in the central shopping areas in all of the County’s town and local 
centres remain below the Wales rate. Vacancy rates in all bar one (Usk) of the 
County’s central shopping areas remain below the UK rate.  

 

 The proportion of A1 retail uses within the towns’ Primary Shopping Frontages 
generally accord with the thresholds identified in the Primary Shopping Frontages 
SPG. 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

113
Page 138



 A total of 4 community and recreation facilities have been granted planning 
permission.  

 
Environment 

 51.2% (18.6 hectares) of development permitted12 was on brownfield land. This is 
significant in Monmouthshire terms given the limited opportunities for brownfield 
development in the County. 

 

 No applications were permitted on areas of open space not allocated for 
development in the LDP.  

 

 Ample land remains available for potential waste management sites and there has 
been no reduction in the minerals land bank. 

 

 There has been no loss of listed buildings or historic sites and no development 
permitted which would have an adverse impact on the historic environment. 

 

 A total of 5 schemes incorporating on-site renewable energy generation were 

permitted13 and 3 such schemes were completed, including two large scale PV 

solar parks (Shirenewton and Crick).   

 

 There were no developments permitted in C1/C2 floodplain areas which did not 

meet TAN15 tests.  

 
7.4 This indicates that much of the policy framework is operatively effectively allowing 

appropriate development to take place and that good progress has been made in 

implementing the LDP. 

7.5 The analysis also indicates that there are various policy indicators which are not being 
achieved but there are no corresponding concerns over policy implementation (amber 
traffic light rating). Further investigation has determined that there are justified 
reasons for the performance recorded and this is not representative of any 
fundamental issue with the implementation of the policy framework or strategy at this 
time. The most significant findings in relation to these are as follows: 
 
Housing  

 Completions in Severnside remain below the identified LDP target, albeit that 
completions are considerably above those recorded during the previous AMR. In 
contrast, permissions in Severnside were considerably higher than the identified 
target which is attributable to the allocated strategic housing site at Sudbrook 
Paper Mill obtaining permission.  
 

                                                           
12 Excludes householder, conversions and agricultural buildings.  
13 Excludes householder, change of use and agricultural use.  

114 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 139



 While there has been some progress with the Main Village allocations (total of 18 

affordable dwelling permissions and 9 affordable dwelling completions since the 

Plan’s adoption), the target for these sites to collectively deliver 20 affordable 

dwellings per annum has not been achieved. However, advancement (including 

pre-application meetings) is being made in progressing a number of the Main 

Village sites which will be reported in the next AMR. 

 
Economy and Enterprise  

 2 applications involving the loss of B use class employment land were approved, 
totalling 0.65 hectares. However, the loss was justified within the context and 
requirements of the LDP policy framework.  
 

Retail and Community Facilities  

 67% of new retail floorspace permitted was outside of the County’s town centres. 

However, the proposals were considered appropriate given the circumstances of 

the applications and justified within the context of the Plan’s retail planning policy 

framework.  

 While vacancy rates within the County’s central shopping areas remain below the 

Wales rate, vacancy rates in Abergavenny and Usk town centres have risen for 2 

consecutive years. However, the increases are marginal and do not raise any 

immediate concerns with the vitality and viability of the centres.  

 6 community facilities were lost to alternative uses. However, the loss is justified 

within the context and requirements of the LDP policy framework.  

 

Environment 
 

 16.5 hectares of non-allocated greenfield land was granted planning permission. 

This is, however, significantly lower than that permitted during the last monitoring 

period (44.6 ha). Tourism accommodation facilities accounted for much (50.5%) of 

the non-allocated greenfield land permitted, all of which were justified on policy 

grounds and relate to a reversible use of agricultural land. 

 
7.6 Notwithstanding the above, the information collected through the monitoring process 

has identified several key policy indicator targets/monitoring outcomes that are not 

progressing as intended (red traffic light rating). Further investigation has determined 

that there are concerns with the implementation of these aspects of the policy 

framework. These are as follows:  

 Strategy and Housing 

 A total of 238 new dwelling completions (general market and affordable) were 

recorded during the current monitoring period. This, coupled with the 439 

completions recorded during the last two monitoring periods, equates to a total 

of 667 completions since the Plan’s adoption. This is significantly below the 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

115
Page 140



identified LDP target of 488 completions per annum (shortfall of 797 dwelling 

completions since the Plan’s adoption). 

 

 A total of 47 affordable dwelling completions were recorded during the current 

monitoring period. This, together with the 80 affordable dwelling completions 

recorded during the previous two monitoring periods, amounts to a total of 127 

affordable dwelling completions since the Plan’s adoption. This is significantly 

below the identified LDP target of 96 affordable dwelling completions per annum 

(shortfall of 161 affordable dwelling completions since the Plan’s adoption). This 

relates directly to the construction progress of housing sites, but also to viability 

issues.  

 

 The Monmouthshire Joint Housing Land Availability Study (JHLAS) for the 2016-17 

period demonstrates that the County had 4.0 years housing land supply (based on 

the residual methodology prescribed in TAN1). This is the second consecutive year 

that the land supply has fallen below the 5 year target.  

 

 There has been limited progress with the delivery of allocated strategic housing 

sites. With the exception of the Former Paper Mill site at Sudbrook which achieved 

planning permission during the current monitoring period and the Wonastow 

Road site which is under construction, the remaining strategic sites have yet to 

obtain planning permission, albeit that some have been approved but are awaiting 

completion of the legal agreements. Progress on the delivery of the LDP strategic 

housing sites is provided in the policy analysis section for Policy S3. 

 

7.7 Reflecting the findings of the previous AMR, it remains evident that the LDP’s key 

housing provision policies are not being delivered as quickly as anticipated and the 

lack of a 5 year land supply continues to be a matter of concern. A fundamental 

contributing factor to this shortfall is the slower than anticipated progression of 

allocated strategic housing sites. While there is sufficient housing land allocated in the 

LDP to meet the identified dwelling requirements over the Plan period, sites are not 

progressing as quickly as expected for a variety of reasons, many of which are 

independent of the planning system such as the wider economy and housing market. 

Site viability is a major factor impacting on site deliverability and viability assessments 

slow down the determination of planning applications.  The delayed site delivery 

affects the amount of general market and affordable housing being delivered through 

the planning system. The TAN1 requirement for LPAs to base the 5 year housing land 

supply calculation on the residual method is also considered to be a contributing 

factor in the current shortfall of housing land in the County.  

7.8 In terms of housing delivery, the 7 LDP strategic housing sites were due to deliver 

approximately 2,020 units out of the total need of 4,500 units, with the remainder 

provided via allocated urban sites (SAH8 Tudor Road, Wyesham and SAH9 Coed Glas, 

Abergavenny), SAH10 rural secondary settlement sites, SAH11 main village sites, and 

116 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 141



other windfall sites.  Progress on the delivery of the LDP strategic housing sites is 

provided in the policy analysis section for Policy S3 which demonstrates a Plan-period 

shortfall of 640 dwellings from the strategic sites.  

7.9 It is essential that the lack of a 5 year housing land supply is addressed to enable the 

Plan’s overall housing requirement to be met. The monitoring evidence indicates that 

the housing land supply position is unlikely to improve in the short term and it is highly 

unlikely that Monmouthshire will re-gain a 5 year supply under the current Plan.   

Accordingly there is a need for additional site allocations to increase the supply of 

housing land. This continues the trend identified in last year’s AMR and Joint Housing 

Land Availability Study (JHLAS) which led to the recommendation to initiate an early 

review of the Plan as a result of the need to address the shortfall in the housing land 

supply and facilitate the identification and allocation of additional viable and 

deliverable housing land.    

7.10 The continued slow progression of allocated strategic housing sites (other than 

Wonastow Road and Sudbrook Paper Mill) has obvious implications for the housing 

land supply and also remains a matter of concern, albeit that progress is being made 

in bringing many of these sites forward and there is no evidence to suggest that the 

allocations are not deliverable (as detailed in Section 5). It is therefore unlikely to be 

necessary to review the appropriateness of the majority of the existing LDP 

allocations, however this will be considered in further detail as part of the Plan 

review/revision.  Nevertheless, the slower than anticipated delivery rate continues to 

suggest that there is a need for additional site allocations which are viable and easily 

deliverable and genuinely contribute to the 5 year housing land supply.  

7.11 Given the importance attached to the land supply issue, the recommendation in last 

year’s AMR to commence an early review of the Plan is maintained. Plan 

review/revision would also assist in seeking to avoid ‘planning by appeal’ and ad hoc 

development coming forward outside the development plan system and not in 

accordance with the Plan’s strategy. However, it is also recognised that adopting a 

pragmatic approach to the determination of departure applications for residential 

development sites will assist in this context (as recognised in TAN1, paragraph 6.2).   

7.12 In view of this, the position remains that an early review of the LDP is necessary 

because of the housing land supply shortfall. It is not considered that any other 

aspects of the Plan need reviewing at this time.  

  
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

7.13 Progress has been made with the preparation and adoption of supplementary 

planning guidance to help to facilitate the interpretation and implementation of LDP 

policy which is detailed in Section 3.  SPG preparation/adoption will continue in the 

next monitoring period. Where essential, however, resources will be focused on Plan 

review/revision.  

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

117
Page 142



Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Monitoring 

7.14 Section 6 expands the assessment of the performance of the LDP against the 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) monitoring objectives.  There is an overlap between some 

of the LDP and SA indicators helping to demonstrate how the LDP monitoring and SA 

monitoring are interlinked. 

7.15 Some of the most notable findings specific to the SA during the current monitoring 

period include: 

 87% of major new development14 is located within a 10 minute walk from a 

frequent and regular bus service. 

 2ha of open space created as a result of planning permissions.  

 Approximately 20 trees protected by a woodland Tree Preservation Order were 

lost to development as a result of the planning permission for residential 

development at the allocated site at Coed Glas, Abergavenny (SAH9).   

 One location where the annual objective levels of nitrogen dioxide was exceeded 

(Hardwick Hill, Chepstow). 

 8 of 20 proposals permitted on LDP allocated sites and sites of over 10 

dwellings/1ha incorporated Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS)15 into the 

scheme.   

 64.1% of Monmouthshire’s total household waste was recycled or composted. 

 0 instances where rivers across the County experienced summer low flow. 

 0 hectares of agricultural land at Grade 3a and better lost to major development. 

 1.8% increase in tourism expenditure (£190.05 million).  

 

7.16 The SA monitoring provides a short term position statement on the performance of 
the Plan against a number of sustainability indicators.  As such it is compared to the 
previous two AMRs only, emerging trends will become more apparent in future AMRs.  

 
Recommendations 

 
7.17 The 2016-17 AMR maintains the trends identified in last year’s AMR, that is while good 

progress has been made in implementing many of the Plan’s policies and that overall 

the strategy remains sound, a number of key housing provision policy targets are not 

being met which indicates that these policies are not functioning as intended. The 

                                                           
14 Major development is defined as development involving one or more of the following: developments of 10 or more 
dwellings or 0.5ha or more; development of building or buildings where the floor space to be created is 1000m2 or more; 
developments on site with an area of 1ha or more; winning or working of minerals, or use of the land for mineral working 
deposits; or, waste development. 

15 SUDS are drainage solutions that provide an alternative to the direct channelling of surface water through networks of 
pipes and sewers to nearby watercourses. By mimicking natural drainage regimes, SUDS aim to reduce surface water 
flooding, improve water quality and enhance the amenity and biodiversity value of the environment. SUDS achieve this by 
lowering flow rates, increasing water storage capacity and reducing the transport of pollution to the water environment 
(British Geological Society). 

 

118 Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Page 143



continued lack of a 5 year housing land supply remains a matter of concern that needs 

to be addressed if the Plan’s housing requirements are to be met.    

7.18 The position remains, therefore, that an early review of the LDP is considered 

necessary because of the housing land supply shortfall. As there are no concerns with 

other Plan policies at this stage the AMR also concludes that it is not considered 

necessary to review other aspects of the Plan at this time.  

7.19 Accordingly, the AMR recommends the following: 

 

1. Continue with an early review of the Monmouthshire LDP as a result of the 

need to address the shortfall in the housing land supply and facilitate the 

identification/allocation of additional housing land. This will involve the 

production of a Review Report which will set out and explain the scope of the 

Plan revision required. 

 

2. Submit the third AMR to the Welsh Government by 31 October 2017 in 

accordance with statutory requirements.  Publish the AMR on the Council’s 

website.  

 

3. Continue to monitor the Plan through the preparation of successive AMRs.  

 

7.20 This third AMR represents the first part of the LDP Review Report. Subject to the 

conclusion of ongoing discussions regarding regional strategic planning, officers 

propose to present the Draft Review Report to Members later this calendar year.  

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council Adopted Local Development Plan 
Annual Monitoring Report 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017

119
Page 144



APPENDIX 2 

 

 
      
 

Name of the Officer completing the evaluation 
Mark Hand 
 
Phone no: 01633 644803 
E-mail: markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

Submit the adopted Monmouthshire Local Development Plan (LDP) 

third Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) to the Welsh Government in 

accord with statutory requirements and publish the Report on the 

Council’s website. 

 

Name of Service 

Planning (Planning Policy) 

Date Future Generations Evaluation form completed 

25/08/2017 

 

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 

with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal. 

Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

 

Informative: The LDP was adopted by the Council in February 2014 and sets out the Council’s vision and 

objectives for the development and use of land in Monmouthshire, together with the policies and proposals 

to implement them over the ten year period to 2021. 

As part of the statutory development plan process the Council is required to prepare an Annual Monitoring 

Report (AMR).  The AMR monitors the effectiveness of the LDP strategy and policies.  It allows the Council 

Future Generations Evaluation 
(includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact Assessments) 

P
age 145



Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

to assess the LDP’s impact on the social, economic and environmental well-being of the County and 

identifies any significant contextual changes that might influence the Plan’s implementation or review. 

The AMR records the effectiveness of the LDP strategy and policies against an established monitoring 

framework, including a range of sustainability objectives.  As such the purpose of an AMR is to record 

impact rather than make a direct impact on characteristics. 

In order to monitor LDP performance consistently, Plans need to be considered against a standard set of 

monitoring indicators and targets.  These are contained within the LDP Monitoring Framework prepared 

in accord with Welsh Government regulations and guidance. 

The key conclusion from the third AMR is that there remains a need to review the Plan.  The 2016-17 AMR 

maintains the trends identified in last year’s AMR, that is while good progress has been made in 

implementing many of the Plan’s policies and that overall the strategy remains sound, a number of key 

housing provision policy targets are not being met which indicates that these policies are not functioning 

as intended. The continued lack of a 5 year housing land supply remains a matter of concern that needs 

to be addressed if the Plan’s housing requirements are to be met.    

The position remains, therefore, that an early review of the LDP is considered necessary because of the 

housing land supply shortfall. As there are no concerns with other Plan policies at this stage the AMR 

concludes that is not considered necessary to review other aspects of the Plan at this time. The Plan 

revision is likely to involve the identification/allocation of additional viable and easily deliverable sites to 

boost the land supply.   

The AMR is required to be prepared each year following plan adoption, providing an annual evaluation of 

plan performance and year by year comparison.  The findings of the third AMR have been analysed and 

compared to the findings in the previous two AMRs allowing emerging trends to be identified and reported 

on. 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

The LDP strategy seeks to increase employment 

opportunities within Monmouthshire; the policy 

Continue to monitor employment land supply and 

take up throughout the County through the annual 

Employment Land Survey undertaken by the 

Planning Policy Service.  The data from this survey 

P
age 146



Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

framework protects existing employment sites and 

allocates additional land for employment use. 

Positive: The AMR monitors the implementation of 

the Plan as a whole, including employment 

policies. 

Negative: None. 

will inform the 2018 AMR.  The results of the AMRs 

will identify trends and allow remedial action to be 

taken, if necessary, to ensure the LDP objectives are 

being delivered, those objectives being directly 

related to creating a prosperous Wales. 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

The LDP strategy seeks to maintain and enhance 

biodiversity within Monmouthshire; the policy 

framework protects existing sites and promotes 

green infrastructure. 

Positive: The AMR monitors the implementation of 

the Plan as a whole, including biodiversity impacts. 

Negative: None. 

Continue to monitor biodiversity throughout the 

County to inform the 2018 AMR. 

The results of the AMRs will identify trends and allow 

remedial action to be taken, if necessary, to ensure 

the LDP objectives are being delivered, those 

objectives being directly related to creating a 

resilient Wales. 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood 

Positive: The AMR monitors the implementation of 

the Plan as a whole.  The sustainability 

appraisal/strategic environmental appraisal 

measures LDP impact on a range of sustainability 

indicators including air and water quality. 

Negative: None. 

Continue to monitor sustainability indicators 

throughout the County to inform the 2018 AMR.  The 

results of the AMRs will identify trends and allow 

remedial action to be taken, if necessary, to ensure 

the LDP objectives are being delivered.  Creating 

healthy communities forms part of delivering 

sustainable development. 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

Positive: The AMR monitors the implementation of 

the Plan as a whole, including the spatial strategy. 

Negative: None. 

Continue to monitor indicators to inform the 2018 

AMR. The results of the AMRs will identify trends 

and allow remedial action to be taken, if necessary, 

to ensure the LDP objectives are being delivered.  

Creating healthy communities forms part of 

P
age 147



Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

delivering sustainable, resilient and cohesive 

communities. 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

Positive: The AMR monitors the implementation of 

the Plan as a whole.  The sustainability 

appraisal/strategic environmental appraisal 

measures LDP impact on a range of sustainability 

indicators.  Preparation of the AMR allows the 

Council to assess LDP impact on the social, 

economic and environmental well-being of the 

County. 

Negative: None. 

Continue to monitor SA indicators to inform the 2018 

AMR.  

 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

Positive: The AMR monitors the implementation of 

the Plan as a whole, including impact on 

community facilities.  The Welsh language impact 

is a material planning consideration and was fully 

considered during the adoption of the LDP via the 

SA/SEA process. 

Negative: None. 

Continue to monitor indicators throughout the 

County to inform the 2018 AMR.  The Planning 

(Wales) Act 2015 provides a statutory basis to the 

established practice of giving consideration to the 

impacts of LDPs on the use of the Welsh language 

and that sustainability appraisals include specific 

consideration of such impacts. 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

Positive: Preparation of the AMR allows the 

Council to assess LDP impact on the social, 

economic and environmental well-being of the 

County. 

Negative: None. 

 

Continue to monitor indicators throughout the 

County to inform the 2018 AMR.  Reflecting the 

trends identified in the 2015-16 AMR, the results of 

the third AMR identifies an issue with the delivery of 

housing sites and housing land supply.  This affects 

the ability of our communities to secure appropriate 

and affordable accommodation.  The 

recommendation to commence LDP review is 

P
age 148



Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

therefore maintained. Creating a more equal Wales 

forms part of delivering sustainable development. 

 

 
 

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

How does your proposal demonstrate you have 

met this principle? 

What has been done to better to meet this 
principle? 

Balancing 

short term 

need with 

long term and 

planning for 

the future 

We are required to look beyond the usual short term timescales 

for financial planning and political cycles and instead plan with the 

longer term in mind (i.e. 20+ years) 

The third AMR measures short/medium term impacts since 

Plan adoption which enables future comparative analysis.  

Sustainable development is central to the adopted LDP. 

 

Successive AMRs will be prepared on an annual basis, 
providing both an annual evaluation of Plan performance 
and year by year comparison from which emerging long 
term trends may be identified and reported on.  This will 
inform the evidence base for the next LDP. 

Working 

together with 

other 

partners to 

deliver 

objectives  

The AMR measures Plan implementation and delivery. The 

LDP was prepared through extensive engagement with a 

wide range of internal and external stakeholders. 

 

The Council will continue to monitor and report on in the 
2018 AMR and will consider actions required in light of the 
AMR findings.  The AMR indicates that some of the Plan’s 
objectives are not being delivered, specifically in terms of 
housing sites coming forward, and therefore officers 
recommend that there is a need to review the Plan. 

P
age 149



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

How does your proposal demonstrate you have 

met this principle? 

What has been done to better to meet this 
principle? 

Involving 

those with an 

interest and 

seeking their 

views 

Who are the stakeholders who will be affected by your proposal? 

Have they been involved? 

The LDP was prepared through extensive engagement with 

a wide range of internal and external stakeholders. 

There is no requirement to undertake consultation on this 
AMR.  The recommended review/ revision of the LDP will 
be taken forward through extensive stakeholder 
engagement, expanding on the methods used previously. 

Putting 

resources 

into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or getting worse 

The AMR demonstrates the extent to which the LDP strategy 

and objectives are being achieved and whether the Plan’s 

policies are functioning effectively.  Emerging trends may be 

identified and appropriate action considered at an early 

stage. 

The AMR concludes that a review of the LDP is necessary 
ahead of any formal statutory review requirement. 

Positively 

impacting on 

people, 

economy and 

environment 

and trying to benefit all three 

There is space to describe impacts on people, economy and 

environment under the Wellbeing Goals above, so instead focus 

here on how you will better integrate them and balance any 

competing impacts 

The AMR measures the impact of the LDP on the social, 

economic and environmental well-being of the County. 

Future AMRs will examine LDP impacts over a longer 

period and evidence the emergence of any trends at 

different spatial scales.  Delivering sustainable 

development (social, economic and environmental) is 

central to the LDP. 

Continue to monitor indicators to inform the 2018 AMR. 

 

 

  

P
age 150



 

3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.  

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age The AMR includes indicators that monitor 
health and access to community facilities and 
open space.  These matters affect all of our 
communities but could disproportionately 
affect children and elderly people who may 
have limited ability to travel greater 
distances. 

None The AMR includes indicators that 
monitor health and access to community 
facilities and open space.   

Disability The AMR includes indicators that monitor 
health and access to community facilities and 
open space.  These matters affect all of our 
communities but could disproportionately 
affect people with disabilities who may have 
limited ability to travel greater distances. 

None The AMR includes indicators that 
monitor health and access to community 
facilities and open space.   

Gender 

reassignment 

None  None N/A 

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

None None N/A 

Race None None N/A 

Religion or Belief None None N/A 

Sex None None N/A 

Sexual Orientation None None N/A 

P
age 151



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Welsh Language None None This and successive AMRs will measure 
the impacts of the LDP on a range of 
social, economic and environmental 
indicators.  The Planning (Wales) Act 
2015 provides a statutory basis to the 
established practice of giving 
consideration to the impacts of LDPs on 
the use of the Welsh language and that 
sustainability appraisals include specific 
consideration of such impacts. 
 
The AMR will be published in Welsh and 
English. P

age 152



4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and 
safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities?  For more information please see the guidance 
note http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Equality%20impact%20assessment%20and%20safeguarding.docx  and for more 
on Monmouthshire’s Corporate Parenting Strategy see http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx 

 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on safeguarding 
and corporate parenting 

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Safeguarding  None None N/A 

Corporate Parenting  None None N/A 

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 

An extensive range of data sets have been used to prepare the AMR, from a wide range of sources both internal and external to the Council.  

These are clearly referenced in the document, but include: 

The Development Management planning application database and Monmouthshire County Council publications including: 

 Monmouthshire LDP ‘Retail Background Paper’, March 2017. 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/05/Retail-Background-Paper-March-2016.pdf  

 Monmouthshire LDP ‘Employment Background Paper’, June 2017. 
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/05/Employment-Land-Background-Paper-June-2017.pdf  
 

 Monmouthshire ‘Joint Housing Land Availability Study’, July 2017. 
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/08/JHLA-Study-2017.pdf  

Additional data has been provided by colleagues in the Conservation, Countryside, Economic Development, Housing, Waste and Transport Services. 

External sources of data include Welsh Government, Cadw, Natural Resources Wales. 

 
 

P
age 153

http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Equality%20impact%20assessment%20and%20safeguarding.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/05/Retail-Background-Paper-March-2016.pdf
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/05/Employment-Land-Background-Paper-June-2017.pdf
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/08/JHLA-Study-2017.pdf


6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 

 
This section should give the key issues arising from the evaluation which will be included in the Committee report template. 

Positive - The AMR is a positive tool for monitoring the effectiveness of the LDP and ultimately determining whether any revisions to the Plan are 

necessary.  It aims to demonstrate the extent to which the LDP strategy and objectives are being achieved and whether the Plan’s policies are functioning 

effectively.  It allows the Council to assess the impact of the LDP on the social, economic and environmental well-being of the County and identifies any 

significant contextual changes that might influence the Plan’s implementation or review. 

The AMR is required to be prepared each year following plan adoption, providing an annual evaluation of plan performance and year by year comparison.  

This is the third AMR to be prepared since the adoption of the LDP and is based on the period 01 April 2016 – 31 March 2017.  The findings of the third 

AMR have been analysed and compared to the findings in previous two AMRs allowing emerging trends to be identified and reported on. 

The AMR concludes that it is necessary to continue with an early review of the Monmouthshire LDP as a result of the need to address the shortfall in the 

housing land supply and facilitate the identification/allocation of additional housing land. This will involve the production of a Review Report which will set 

out and explain the scope of the Plan revision required.  

Negative – None.  There are no implications, positive or negative, for corporate parenting or safeguarding. 

 

7. Actions. As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable.  

 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible Progress 

Continue with LDP review. Prepare Draft Review Report for 

political reporting late 2017 

Head of Planning, Housing and 

Place-Shaping 

Planning Policy Team 

Report on in fourth AMR 2018. 

Political reporting in late 2017. 

Preparation of LDP Review Report 

and Community Involvement 

Scheme and Delivery Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 154



 

8. Monitoring: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will 

evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review.  

 

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:  In 2018 the fourth AMR will be prepared and reported to Economy and 

Development Select Committee/ Planning Committee prior to 

31/10/2018.  This is the deadline for AMR submission to the Welsh 

Government in line with statutory requirements. 

 

P
age 155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



   REPORT 
 

  

SUBJECT REVENUE & CAPITAL MONITORING 2017/18 

OUTTURN STATEMENT 
 

 

DIRECTORATE Resources 
  

MEETING Economy & Development Select Committee 

  

DATE 7th September 2017 

 
 

DIVISIONS/ 

WARD AFFECTED 

All Authority 

  
 

1. PURPOSE 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with information on the revenue and capital outturn 

positions based on activity data at month 2. 
 
1.2 This report will also be considered by Select Committees as part of their responsibility to, 
 

• assess whether effective budget monitoring is taking place, 
• monitor the extent to which budgets are spent in accordance with agreed budget and policy 

framework, 
• challenge the reasonableness of projected over or underspends, and  
• monitor the achievement of predicted efficiency gains or progress in relation to savings proposals. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS PROPOSED TO CABINET 
 
2.1 That Members consider a net revenue outturn overspend of £164,000. 
 
2.2 Members consider a capital outturn spend, forecast by service managers to agree with budget. 
 

2.3 Members note that the low level of earmarked reserves, which will severely reduce the flexibility the 
Council has in meeting the financial challenges of reducing settlements and consequent need to re-
design services. 

2.4 Members note the significant forecast reduction in the overall school balance at the end of 2017/18 
and supports the continuing work with schools to ensure that the Council’s Fairer Funding scheme 
requirements are met and that the overall schools balance reverts to  positive position at the earliest 
opportunity.  This will be explored in greater detail in a separate report of CYP Directorate. 

 

 
 

 

 
  

Page 157

Agenda Item 6



3. MONITORING ANALYSIS 
 
3.1 Revenue Position 

 
3.1.1 Revenue budget monitoring information for each directorate’s directly managed budgets is provided 

together with information on corporate areas.  
 
3.1.2 Responsible Financial Officer’s Summary of Overall Position (month 2 based) 

 

Table 1: Council Fund 2017/18 Outturn Forecast  Summary Statement 
at Period 1    
 

      
Service Area Initial 

2017-18 
Annual 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn  

Forecast 
Over/ 
(Under) 
@ 
Outturn 

2016-17 
Budget 

2016-17 
Outturn 

Variance 

 
£'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

    
   

Adult Services 6,972  6,872  -100  7,109  6,929  -180  

Children Services 10,018  10,419  401  9,765  10,338  573  

Community Care 22,162  22,128  -34  20,625  21,413  788  

Commissioning 1,600  1,561  -39  1,543  1,427  -116  

Partnerships 350  350  0  347  398  51  

Public Protection 1,455  1,416  -39  1,460  1,378  -82  

Resources & Performance 864  865  1  869  869  0  
       

Total Social Care & Health 43,421  43,611  190  41,718  42,752  1,034  

       

Individual School Budget 43,166  43,166  0  43,161  43,191  30  

Resources 1,425  1,431  6  1,508  1,523  15  

Standards 4,983  5,362  379  5,083  5,084  1  
       

Total Children & Young People 49,574  49,959  385  49,752  49,798  46  

       

Business Growth & Enterprise 824  847  23  814  801  -13  

Planning & Housing 1,852  1,908  56  1,362  1,151  -211  

Tourism Life & Culture 3,140  3,241  101  2,982  3,424  442  
       

Total Enterprise 5,816  5,996  180  5,158  5,376  218  
       

Governance, Engagement & 
Improvement 

4,333  4,437  104  4,599  4,502  -97  

Legal & Land Charges 446  456  10  448  401  -47  

Operations 16,562  16,943  381  16,796  16,425  -371  
       

Total Chief Executives Unit 21,341  21,836  495  21,843  21,328  -515  

       

Finance 2,287  2,206  -81  2,242  2,011  -231  

Information Communication 
Technology 

2,421  2,421  0  2,282  2,328  46  

People 1,583  1,613  30  1,463  1,505  42  

Place -504  -434  70  -680  -576  104  

Total Resources 5,787  5,806  19  5,307  5,268  -39  
Page 158



       

Precepts and Levies 17,075  17,070  -5  16,484  16,488  4  

Coroners 100  119  19  80  100  20  

Gwent Joint Records 182  182  0  183  182  -1  

Corporate Management (CM) 181  176  -5  186  553  367  

Non Distributed Costs (NDC) 733  733  0  726  818  92  

Strategic Initiatives 654  204  -450  488  0  -488  

Insurance 1,264  1,230  -34  1,218  1,396  178  

Total Corporate Costs & Levies  20,189  19,714  -475  19,365  19,537  172  

       

Net Cost of Services 146,128  146,922  794  143,143  144,059  916  

       

Fixed Asset disposal costs 
123  123  0  75  75  0  

Interest and Investment Income 

-138  -138  0  -55  -89  -34  

Interest payable & Similar Charges 
3,673  3,173  -500  3,498  2,923  -575  

Charges required under regulation 
3,815  4,065  250  3,489  3,373  -116  

Contributions to Reserves 
165  165  0  105  318  213  

Contributions from Reserves 
-1,653  -1,653  0  -1,665  -1,880  -215  

Capital Expenditure funded by 
revenue contribution 

  0  109  109  0  

Appropriations 5,985  5,735  -250  5,556  4,829  -727  

    
   

General Government Grants -61,380  -61,380  0  -63,567  -63,567  0  

Non Domestic rates -30,418  -30,418  0  -27,981  -27,981  0  

Council Tax -66,450  -66,700  -250  -63,411  -64,076  -665  

Council Tax Benefits Support 6,135  6,005  -130  6,258  5,852  -406  

    
   

Financing -152,113  -152,493  -380  -148,701  -149,772  -1,071  

 
      

Budgeted contribution from Council 
Fund 

 0   2  0  -2  

Net Council Fund (Surplus) / Deficit 0  164  164  0  -884  -884  

 
      

 
3.1.3 A comparison of the Net Council fund line against previous years activity indicates the following, 

 
 

Net Council Fund 
Surplus 

2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

     

Period 1 164 deficit 1,511 deficit 867 deficit 219 deficit 

Period 2  839 deficit 1,066 deficit 116 deficit 

Period 3  79 surplus 162 deficit 144 deficit 

Outturn  884 surplus 579 surplus 327 surplus 
Page 159



This does suggest 1st period monitoring to be an improving situation on past comparison.  However 
the bottom line situation of a £164k overspend is potentially overoptimistic in a number of areas.  One 
of the more significant illustrations is that Treasury costs currently include £500k underspend in 
borrowing costs for the schemes identified in para 3.3.4 below which are yet to garner Members 
agreement for inclusion in the capital programme due to lack of cost certainty, but probability suggests 
some of these schemes will subsequently derive sufficient Member support to proceed before end of 
2017-18. 
 

3.1.4 Given the financial challenges that will continue to face the Authority for the foreseeable future, Chief 
Officers continue to be tasked with ensuring that services live within the budgets and savings targets 
set for the current financial year.  

 
3.1.5 A summary of main pressures and under spends within the Net Cost of Services Directorates 

include, 
 
3.1.6 Stronger Communities Select Portfolio (£590k net underspend) 
  

 Chief Executives Unit (£496k overspend) 
 

Legal division exhibited a £10k deficit, due to reduced land charge income activity.  Governance, 
engagement and improvement exhibited a £105k deficit due to delayed restructure in Community 
Education (£20k), Community Hubs & Contact Centre unbudgeted software and delayed restructure 
costs (£36k), and senior officer mandate saving not fully delivered (£48k).  Operations exhibited a 
collective £381k deficit.  The position for each of main Operations areas is as follows, Highways 
£193k deficit (winter maintenance £35k, utility street lighting costs £85k and £73k redundancies), 
Property and Procurement £108k deficit, small overspend in grocery supplies for catering 38k, and 
procurement saving of £100k which as yet is not manifest, and in Waste an £80k shortfall in trade 
waste income. 

 

 Resources Directorate (£19k overspend) 
 
An underspend in Finance Division costs of £81k, predominantly due to net HB grant inflow, and 
increased recharge to schools for Finance system support.  People services anticipate a £30k 
deficit caused by maternity costs, and consultancy work.  Place division predict £70k deficit, 
predominantly the anticipation of cattle market income levels being lower than budgeted. 
 

 Corporate (£475k underspend)  
 
The Council has an annual redundancy provision (£450k) within Corporate budget, to be used if 
Directorates request use of such of Members.  At the moment there is no activity on this cost centre, 
despite redundancy costs being shown as overspends within Directorates.  There also 
miscellaneous savings totalling £25k across this Directorate.  
 
 

 Appropriations (£250k underspend) 
 
A temporary underspend of £500k results from the headroom to absorb the schemes mentioned in 
para 3.3.4, whilst costs remain uncertainty and officers are yet to request schemes be added 
formally to capital programme.  This underspend compensates for £250k additional minimum 
revenue provision costs, as capital receipt levels predicted during 2017-18 are anticipated 
insufficient to have supported set aside and the budgeted reduction of the capital financing 
requirement at the end of 2016-17, from which minimum revenue provision costs are calculated.   
 
 

 Financing (£380k underspend) 
 

The net effect from an excess of Council tax receipts and less than anticipated Council tax benefit 
payments  
 
 Page 160



RESOURCES DIRECTOR CONTEXT & COMMENTARY 
 
Overall, the directorate is forecasting a slight overspend position of £19k at the end of month 2.  The 

Directorate is managing some pressures in the areas of Payroll and Asset management, however at 

this stage in the year these are being offset in part by additional one off grant income on benefits, 

additional income for financial services.  It is expected that the Directorate will achieve its savings 

targets as approved and included in the budget. The Directorate will continue to work to reduce the 

areas of overspending wherever possible, or identify further savings if necessary over the coming 

months. 

 
HEAD OF OPERATIONS CONTEXT & COMMENTARY 

 
At Month 2 Operations is forecasting a £381k overspend.  3 areas are overspending due to 

increased external costs which are very hard then to reduce.  These are street lighting (£85k over 

due to energy rising), highway operations (£35k weather forecasting service increasing), school 

catering (£8k increase in food costs).  The flooding budget is forecasting an overspend of £73K due 

to redundancy costs.  As per policy if by year end the Service cannot manage the redundancy 

pressures internally it will request coverage from reserves to manage this pressure.  Waste is 

forecasting an £80k overspend as despite not increasing trade waste fees customers have reduced 

or purchased smaller bins reducing overall profitability.  The Commercial Manager starts shortly so it 

is hoped this pressure will be reduced.  Procurement had a £100k budget saving target proposed 

through the MTFP and V4 were commissioned to identify key areas for this saving to be met.  This 

work needs escalating but it is not anticipated that if proposals are brought forward the full years 

saving can be realised.  These pressures are currently offset with a £100k underspend in property 

but it is understood this is being earmarked for J&E block redevelopment which then places further 

pressures on the department to close the gap.   

 
3.1.7 Economy & development Select Portfolio (£141k net overspend) 
 
 

 Enterprise Directorate (£180k net overspend) 
 

Business growth and enterprise anticipate a £23k overspend, caused by efficiencies within 
Enterprise management function not yet being manifest.  

 
 Planning & Housing (£55k overspend) – Development control continues to exhibit a deficit of £22k 

through reduced development and income activity, conversely development policy exhibits £21k 
surplus, through a temporary salary saving whilst a vacancy remains vacant.  The Housing Lodgings 
scheme continues to be unsustainable, as Welsh Government support no longer makes an 
allowance for sufficient management costs in administering the scheme. 

 
 Tourism, leisure & culture (£101k overspend) – the service forecast £20k savings in Youth 

service due to temporary vacancy savings and Events are reporting a net surplus of £13k above the 
£20k net income captured in the budget.  Conversely the Directorate report £47k pressure in respect 
of Cultural services costs (museums, Shire Hall, Old Station), anticipate a shortfall of £20k on 
Outdoor Education activities and £67k costs above budget at Caldicot Castle.  After last year’s 
outturn, and given limited significant intervention to date to improve the financial performance, it 
wouldn’t be intuitive to expect such a positive improvement in forecast, but it remains very difficult to 
gainsay service forecasts which will be influenced by Member decision in September concerning the 
future of tourism, leisure and cultural services. 

 

 Social Care & Health (£39k underspend) 
 
Public Protection (£39k underspend) – predominantly an underspend in occupational health costs 
(£17k), staffing savings and income levels in Registrars beneficially exceeding budget (£34), minor 
savings in trading standards (£4k) compensating for financial pressures in licencing (£16k). Page 161



 
 ENTERPRISE DIRECTOR’S CONTEXT & COMMENTARY 
 

The very dynamic nature of the Tourism, Leisure and Culture service reflects its current outturn 

position.  This is a crucial time for the Events team in their attempts to generate significant income 

and impact for the county.  The team are about to deliver some major income generating events in 

Month 4, so at this stage in the events calendar the variation illustrated could change significantly.  

Should income fall short of predictions however, a recovery plan will be implemented with immediate 

effect.  Leisure services stoically continue to generate their targeted income however unexpected 

capital expenditure in the museums services required to implement lone working has resulted in an 

overspend, due to additional works required to ensure staff safety.  In Planning, Housing and Place 

Shaping, the loss of income from management fees for leased properties is currently being forecast 

as causing a pressure in the budget and was recognised as potentially needing reserve funding. 

 
 
3.1.8 Adult Select Portfolio (net £172k underspend) 
 

 Social Care & Health (£172k underspend) 
 

Adult Services (£100k underspent) – staffing savings of circa £150k and income from partnership 
working with Bridges (£47k) compensates for a net overspend in Direct Care (£26k) and Mardy Park 
(£72k). 
 
Community Care (£34k underspend) – underspends in disability aids and net savings on 
intermediate care budget with costs incurred elsewhere within the Directorate together with an 
anticipated saving on the Frailty partnership contribution compensate for the deficit forecast in 
general disability services for adults.   

 
Commissioning (£39k underspend) – predominantly a net saving in commissioning strategy costs. 

 
 Resources (£1k overspend) 

 
 
 
 SCH DIRECTOR’S CONTEXT & COMMENTARY 

The overall directorate position as at month 2 is an overspend of £190,000. 

Adult services pressures were fully recognised in the 2017/18 budget agreed by Council. The 

division is currently reporting an underspend of £172,000 due to vacancies in the divisional 

management team, commissioning and My Day My Life which are being filled.  

Children’s service had an overspend of £572,000 at the end of 2016/17. Pressures of £86,000 have 

been recognised in the 2017/18 budget so whilst disappointing, an overspend of £400,000 

represents a slightly improved position. There are 3 key pressure areas – the placement budget 

which funds the care and support for Looked After Children, the transport budget- these are the 

costs of transport associated with a high number of looked after children (e.g. transport to and from 

school) and workforce costs. Whilst really good progress has been made to reduce the number of 

agency workers (agency workforce reduced from 17 to 8 in the last year), there are still considerable 

risks in the service, particularly as a consequence of the high numbers of children on the Child 

Protection Register which means agency workers will only be stepped down once the risks have 

been mitigated and it is safe to do so.  One positive movement since last year is the Court 

Improvement plan which has, at month 2, realigned the budget.  

Page 162



Public Protection is reporting a £39,000 underspend mainly due to income generation mainly from 

Registrars and public/environmental services which is a pleasant addition to the month 2 directorate 

position. 

Recognising the pressures in social care, Welsh Government grants have been indicated which will 

support the costs of commissioning a quality domiciliary care service. The terms and conditions of 

these grants are very detailed. The implications are being considered and will be reported in future 

months. 

 
3.1.9 Children & Young People Select Portfolio (net £786k overspend) 
 

 Social Care & Health (£401k overspend) 
 

Children’s Services (net £401k overspend) – the predicted overspend exhibits a significant 
improvement against the 2016-17 outturn, partly the predicted effect of 60 cases rather than 73 
looked after cases last year.   Looked after children costs are anticipated to be £129k overspent 
despite this.  Children’s services team costs exhibit a forecast overspend of £272k, much of this still 
to do with the continued use of agency staff, however the Directorate has also sought to identify 
more transparently the transport costs associated with child care management.  Within this £272k, 
£128k is anticipated to relate to an excess of such travel costs against budget. 
 
 Youth offending team partnership (breakeven) – this service is a partnership administered by the 
Council on behalf of itself and others and any balance is effectively transferred through 
Appropriations to a ring-fenced reserve so should have no bottom line effect on MCC’s management 
accounts. 

 

 Children and Young People (net £385k overspend) 
 
School Budget Funding exhibited a breakeven position although the school use of their reserves 
remains a cause of concern to be explored in Reserves section below.  There is an overspend of 
£6k within the Resources subdivision caused by unbudgeted IT system upgrade costs.  However 
the main cost pressure manifests itself in Standards subdivision (£379k) caused by out of county 
placement costs exceeding budget, a decision to fund a further formal ALN unit, together with an 
overspend in the general ALN provision for all 4 secondary schools.   

 
SOCIAL CARE & HEALTH DIRECTOR’S CONTEXT &COMMENTARY 
 
The overall directorate position as at month 2 is an overspend of £189,000. 

Adult services pressures were fully recognised in the 2017/18 budget agreed by Council. The 

division is currently reporting an underspend of £172,000 due to vacancies in the divisional 

management team, commissioning and My Day My Life which are being filled.  

Children’s service had an overspend of £572,000 at the end of 2016/17. Pressures of £86,000 have 

been recognised in the 2017/18 budget so whilst disappointing, an overspend of £400,000 

represents a slightly improved position. There are 3 key pressure areas – the placement budget 

which funds the care and support for Looked After Children, the transport budget- these are the 

costs of transport associated with a high number of looked after children (e.g. transport to and from 

school) and workforce costs. Whilst really good progress has been made to reduce the number of 

agency workers (agency workforce reduced from 17 to 8 in the last year), there are still considerable 

risks in the service, particularly as a consequence of the high numbers of children on the Child 

Protection Register which means agency workers will only be stepped down once the risks have 

been mitigated and it is safe to do so.  One positive movement since last year is the Court 

Improvement plan which has, at month 2, realigned the budget.  

Page 163



Public Protection is reporting a £39,000 underspend mainly due to income generation mainly from 

Registrars and public/environmental services which is a pleasant addition to the month 2 directorate 

position. 

Recognising the pressures in social care, Welsh Government grants have been indicated which will 

support the costs of commissioning a quality domiciliary care service. The terms and conditions of 

these grants are very detailed. The implications are being considered and will be reported in future 

months. 

 
CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE DIRECTOR’S CONTEXT & COMMENTARY 
 

 
At this early stage in the year, the Directorate’s Month 2 position is a forecasted overspend of 

£385,000.  Clearly, this is not a position that we wish to be in and we are anticipating that it will fall 

as we progress through the year. All parts of the directorate are working to reduce those areas of 

pressure and bring the budget back to a balanced position. 

However, the Additional Learning Needs budget continues to remain under significant pressure due 

to the requirement to support more of our pupils with complex needs.  This is a particularly 

challenging budget given the volatility of children arriving into the area and younger children 

requiring more complex packages of support.   

Along with the rest of the organisation, schools are facing a challenging financial settlement and 

have, for the first time, budgeted to be in a collective deficit by the end of the year. This forecasted 

position has improved since budgets were set and we continue to work closely with our school 

colleagues to ensure their plans are as robust as possible to minimise any impact whilst continuing 

to improve standards for our young people. 

 
 

3.2 2017/18 Budget Savings Progress    
 

3.2.1 This section monitors the specific savings initiatives and the progress made in delivering them 
during 2017-18 as part of the MTFP budgeting process.   
 
In summary they are as follows, 
 

 
 

3.2.2 Forecasted mandated savings are currently running at 95%, with currently £140,000 being deemed 
potentially unachievable, and a further £138,000 unlikely to crystallise in 2017-18. 

 
3.2.3 The emphasis of reporting savings has changed from previously where savings were reported when 

they were manifest, however the judgement is now whether saving is forecast to be achieved. 

Disinvestment by 

Directorate 2017-18

2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 7

Value of 

Saving

achieved at 

Outturn

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

YTD

REVENUE MONITORING 2017-18 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Children & Young People (395) (395) 0 0 0 0
Social Care & Health (627) (627) 0 0 0 0
Enterprise (84) (84) 0 0 0 0
Resources (266) (257) 0 0 (9) 0

Chief Executives Units (1,324) (1,055) 0 0 (129) (140)
Corporate Costs & Levies (118) (118) 0 0 0 0
Appropriations (1,608) (1,608) 0 0 0 0
Financing (885) (885) 0 0 0 0

DIRECTORATE Totals (5,308) (5,030) 0 0 (138) (140)

Page 164



 
3.2.4 Consequently the savings appendix (appendix 1) also has a traffic light system to indicate whether 

savings are likely to be achieved or have justifiable reasons explaining delayed implementation.  
The following summary of savings mandates are highlighted as requiring further work to crystallise 
or exhibit an anticipated degree of volatility. 

 
 
3.2.5 Stronger Communities Select Portfolio 
 

Resources Directorate 
 

 Estates restructure proposals (£9k) affecting markets and community development officer 
are yet to be enacted. 
 

Chief Executive’s Office 
 

 Contact Centre (£14k) and whole place (£100k) review proposals are still ongoing such that 
savings are reported as delayed. 

 

 The procurement saving (£100k) is not yet manifest across Directorates to apportion from the 
reduced Procurement budget. 

 

 Reduced grass cutting and maintenance schedules (£15k) at Monmouth sports grounds 
haven’t reverted to level of original lease agreement as yet. 

 Trade waste income levels are reported to be down by circa £80k, with neither (£10k plus 
£30k) of the extra income savings yet being manifest deliverable.  

 
 

  
3.2.6 Economy & Development Select Portfolio 
 

Enterprise (ENT) Directorate 
 

 Directorate colleagues report current year savings are anticipated to be delivered in full. 
 

3.2.7 Adult Select Portfolio 
 

Social Care & Health (SCH) Directorate 
 

 Directorate colleagues report current year savings are anticipated to be delivered in full, 
however without any progress narrative supplied, the more significant have still been flagged 
as medium risk based on past pressures and experience, and members may wish to check 
progress with service officers around adult social care transformation, adult detailed contract 
review, transport policy changes proposed, live in carer proposals, and charges increases. 

 
3.2.8 Children and Young People Select Portfolio 
 

Children and Young People (CYP) Directorate 
 

 Directorate colleagues report current year savings are anticipated to be delivered in full, 
although Members may wish to substantiate how £150k savings in ALN and childcare 
voluntary organisations can be achieved, whilst Standards subdivision and ALN costs exhibit 
£379k adverse situation. 
 

 

Page 165



3.3. Capital Position 
 

3.3.1 The summary Capital position at Month 2 is as follows 
 

 

MCC CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2017-18 at Month 2 by SELECT COMMITTEE 

SELECT 
PORTFOLIO 

Forecast 
Spend 

at Outturn 

Slippage 
Brought 
Forward 

 

Total 
Approved 

Budget 
2017/18 

Forecast 
Capital 

Slippage to 
2018/19 

Revised 
Capital 
Budget 
2017/18 

Capital 
Expenditure 

Variance 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
       

Children & Young 

People 

43,600 15,302 43,600 0 43,600 0 

       

Adult 0 0 0 0 0 0 

       

Economic & 

Development 

966 966 966 0 966 0 

       

Strong 

Communities 

7,278 1,100 7,484 (206) 7,278 0 

       

Capital Schemes 

Total 2017-18 

51,844 17,368 52,050 (206) 51,844 0 

 

 Slippage to 2018-19 
 
3.3.2   Total Provisional Slippage at Month 2 is (£206,293), which relates to Cae Meldon S106 funded 

schemes. A three month delay in receiving the funding from the developer via the Brecon Beacons 
National Park has meant a delay in offering Grant offer letters to the various scheme recipients.  

 
 

Capital Outturn 
 
3.3.3 Service Managers consistently maintain that their spending will accord exactly with the budgets 

available to them. 
 

3.3.4 There were further priorities acknowledged by Members during the capital budget consultation, 
where there is a commitment to invest, however for clarity most of these (other than DFG 
aspect) currently sit outside the 2017-18 programme as work progresses to identify the funding 
requirements and will necessitate a further Council report before added to capital programme.  
These were:  

 

 Monmouth Pool – commitment to reprovide the pool in Monmouth as a consequence of the 
Future schools programme  

 Abergavenny Hub – commitment to reprovide the library with the One Stop Shop in 
Abergavenny to conclude the creation of a Hub in each of the towns  

 Disabled Facilities Grants – the demand for grants is currently outstripping the budget, work is 
being undertaken to assess the level of investment required to maximize the impact and benefit 
for recipients. Subsequently Members agreed to supplement the existing DFG budget by 
£300k, from 2017-18 

 City Deal - 10 Authorities in the Cardiff City region are looking at a potential £1.2 billion City 
Deal. Agreement to commit to this programme is being sought across the region in January 
and so would impact on the capital MTFP. The potential impact on individual authority budgets 

Page 166



is currently being modelled in advance of decisions on specific projects and profiles in order for 
authorities to start reflecting the commitment in their MTFPs.  

 J and E Block – the office rationalization programme is being considered to see if there is a 
solution that would enable the Magor and Usk sites to be consolidated, releasing funding to 
pay for the necessary investment to bring the blocks into use.  

 
Capital Financing and Receipts 

 

3.3.5 Given the anticipated capital spending profile reported in para 3.4.1, the following financing 
mechanisms are expected to be utilised. 

 

MCC CAPITAL FINANCING BUDGET MONITORING 2017-18 at Month 2 by FINANCING 

CATEGORY 

CAPITAL 
FINANCING 

SCHEME 

Annual 
Financing 

 

Slippage 
Brought 
Forward 

 
 

Total 
Approved 
Financing 

Budget 
2017/18 

Provisional 
Budget 

Slippage to 
2018/19 

 

Revised 
Financing 

Budget 
2017/18 

 

Forecast 
Capital 

Financing 
Variance 
2017/18 

 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Supported Borrowing 2,402 0 2,402 (0) 2,402 0 

General Capital Grant 1,462 0 1,462 0 1,462 0 

Grants and 

Contributions 

15,185 5,629 15,185 (0 15,185 0 

S106 Contributions 316 522 522 (206) 316 (0) 

Unsupported borrowing 9,524 5,662 9,524 (0) 9,524 (0) 

Earmarked reserve & 

Revenue Funding 

320 302 320 (0) 320 (0) 

Capital Receipts 22,635 5,253 22,635 (0) 22,635 (0 

Low cost home 

ownership receipts 

0 0 0 0 0 (0) 

Unfinanced 0 0 0 0 0 0 

       

Capital Financing 

Total 2017-18 

51,844 17,368 52,050 (206) 51,844 (0) 

 

  

Page 167



 

 Useable Capital Receipts Available 

3.3.6 In the table below, the effect of the changes to the forecast capital receipts on the useable capital 
receipts balances available to meet future capital commitments is shown.  This is also compared 
to the balances forecast within the 2017/21 MTFP capital budget proposals.  

Movement in Available Useable Capital Receipts Forecast 

TOTAL RECEIPTS 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     

Balance b/f 1st April 19,043 (577) (289) 509 

     

Add:     

Receipts received in YTD 0     

Receipts forecast received 3,015  6,460  5,560  5,660  

Deferred capital receipts 4  4  4  4  

     

Less:     

Receipts to be applied (22,635) (6,172) (509) (509) 

Set aside 0  0 (4,257) (4,749) 

Predicted Year end receipts balance (577)  (289)  509 915  

         

Financial Planning Assumption 2017/21 
MTFP Capital Budget 

608  0  5,156  4,861  

         

Increase / (Decrease) compared to 
MTFP Capital Receipts Forecast 

(1,185) (289)  (4,657) (3,946)  

 

 

3.3.7 The balances forecast to be held at the 31st March each year are generally lower than forecast in 
the MTFP. The decrease of £4.0m remaining at 31st March 21 is due to the reduced capital receipt 
for the Abergavenny Cattle Market, which was replaced by £4.0m of deferred income to be received 
over 25 years. 

 
3.3.8 The expected slippage of LDP receipts has been offset by a delay in the set aside of capital receipts 

in 2016-17 and likely 2017-18.  
 
3.3.9 At Month 2, Capital receipts budgeted to be applied are greater than those brought forward into 

2017-18 plus those that are likely to be generated within the 2017-18 financial year. This may result 
in the need to substitute unsupported borrowing (£577,000) for capital receipts at year-end. This 
situation is fluid and does not require immediate action as during the year capital receipt funded 
schemes maybe slipped into 2018/19 financial year therefore easing the necessity to switch 
financing streams mid-year. 

 
3.3.10 There is still an increasingly significant risk to the Council resulting from the need to utilise capital 

receipts in the same year that they come into the Council.  This provides no tolerance or flexibility 
should the receipts be delayed, which isn’t uncommon, and would necessitate compensatory 
temporary borrowing which is more costly than utilising capital receipts and would necessitate 
additional revenue savings annually to afford.   

 
  

Page 168



 
3.4 Reserves 

 

 Reserve Usage 

 

3.4.1 Revenue and Capital monitoring reflects an approved use of reserves. At month 2, service managers’ 

presumptions are to fully utilise the reserve funding conveyed to them in 2017-18 budget.  Additionally 

there is proportion of 2016-17 reserve funded expenditure that was approved by Members on 6th June 

to transfer into 2017-18.  This wasn’t formally vired into the ledger during the monitoring period 

involved, so is shown as a separate column in the forecast year end position below.  

 

 
 

3.4.2 Earmarked reserves remain at limited levels unlikely to provide any material capacity/headroom to 
meet unanticipated volatility or significantly facilitate future service re-engineering and design. Current 
predicted use of the Priority investment reserve means it will expired at the end of 2017-18.  
Replenishment of earmarked reserves is considered at year end, subject to a favourable outturn 
position and if necessary redistribution of reserves will ensure positive balances are available to meet 
the following year’s requirement. 

 
3.4.3 Given the forecast use of earmarked reserves, Cabinet has previously approved a policy on 

earmarked reserves to ensure that earmarked reserves are focused on investment in areas where 

they can achieve most impact. 

  

Summary Earmarked Reserves Month 2 2017-18

Budgeted Budgeted Total Slippage Slippage Predicted

Usage Replenishment Budget From 1617 To 1819 Usage

Invest to Redesign -960,943 166,345 -134,779 -929,377 109,026 152,214 -668,137

IT Transformation -727,784 -727,784 146,500 22,888 -558,396

Insurance & Risk Management -1,083,295 -1,083,295 -1,083,295

Capital Receipt Generation -347,511 121,918 -225,593 20,526 -205,067

Treasury Equalisation -990,024 -990,024 -990,024

Redundancy & Pensions -795,297 298,484 -496,813 -496,813

Capital Investments -775,522 -775,522 145,185 -630,337

Priority Investments -1,000,171 966,053 -34,118 106,454 -411,087 -338,751

Museum Acquisitions -56,760 -56,760 -56,760

Elections -133,183 100,000 -25,000 -58,183 -58,183

Grass Routes Buses -184,391 -5,000 -189,391 38,307 -151,084

Sub Total -7,054,881 1,652,800 -164,779 -5,566,860 382,506 -411,087 358,594 -5,236,847

Restircted Use Reserves

Youth Offending Team -273,567 -273,567 -273,567

Building Control Trading -25,987 -25,987 -25,987

Outdoor Education Centres -190,280 -190,280 -190,280

Plant & Equipment (Highways) -75,000 -75,000 -75,000

Homeless Prevention Fund -4,619 -4,619 -4,619

Rural Development Plan -86,471 -86,471 62,717 -62,717 -86,471

CYP Maternity -93,590 -93,590 -93,590

Total Earmarked Reserves -7,804,395 1,652,800 -164,779 -6,316,374 445,223 -473,804 358,594 -5,986,361

Name of Reserve

Revenue Slippage CapitalEarmarked Reserves

Apr-17 Mar-18

Page 169



 

 Schools Reserves 

3.4.4 Each of the Authority’s Schools is directly governed by a Board of Governors, which is responsible for 
managing the school’s finances.  However, the Authority also holds a key responsibility for monitoring 
the overall financial performance of schools.  The net effect of an individual school’s annual surplus 
or deficit is shown in a ring-fence reserve for the particular school.  Details of the 2017-18 indicative 
outturn position based on their recent sc52 formal budget returns is shown in the table below. 

 

Outturn movement on reserves      

       

 

Opening 
reserves 
2017-18 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

In Year 
position 
at Month 
2 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

Projected 
carry 
forward at 
year end 
2017-18 
(Surplus)/ 
Deficit  

Notes 

      
Abergavenny cluster 

     

E003 King Henry VIII 
Comprehensive 

139,355 162,345 301,700 
  

E073 Cantref Primary (52,766) 24,658 (28,108) 
  

E072 Deri View Primary (27,297) (30,871) (58,168) 
 

Restructure due to Special Needs 
Resource Base closure. 

E035 Gilwern Jnr & Inf (39,636) 22,203 (17,433) 
 

Additional teacher employed to 
cover senior management release 
time. 

E037 Goytre Fawr Jnr & Inf (25,371) 33,110 7,739 
 

Incremental teaching and midday 
supervisory costs. 

E093 Llanfoist Fawr (68,056) 33,402 (34,654) 
 

Restructure of support staff has 
resulted in a saving. 

E044 Llantillio Pertholey Jnr & Inf (20,967) 20,765 (202) 
  

E045 Llanvihangel Crocorney Jnr 
& Inf 

3,117 22,369 25,486 
  

E090 Our Lady and St Michael´s 
RC Primary School 

(45,505) 38,862 (6,643) 
 

Additional Key Stage 1 teacher 
from 1/9/17 due to increase in pupil 
numbers above 60  

E067 Ysgol Gymraeg Y Fenni (48,966) 16,298 (32,668) 
 

Reduction in supply teacher 
allocation.  

  
 

  
  

Caldicot cluster   
 

  
  

E001 Caldicot Comprehensive (33,736) 31,425 (2,311) 
  

E068 Archbishop Rowan 
Williams Primary 

(49,657) 23,223 (26,434) 
  

E094 Castle Park 46,115 (6,750) 39,365 
  

E075 Dewstow Primary School (90,125) 51,302 (38,823) 
 

2 Teaching Assistants have left plus 
additional income from grants 

E034 Durand Jnr & Inf (53,931) 16,529 (37,402) 
  

E048 Magor Vol Aided Jnr & Inf (35,179) 11,339 (23,840) 
 

Saving on energy and additional 
income from grants 

E056 Rogiet Jnr & Inf (34,184) 24,415 (9,769) 
 

Maternity Leave and Sabbatical 

E063 Undy Jnr & Inf 50,037 (26,343) 23,694 
 

Administrative Team Restructure 

E069 Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin 67,410 15,481 82,891 
  

 
  

 
  

  

Chepstow cluster    
 

  
  

E002 Chepstow Comprehensive 81,068 (83,460) (2,392) 
  

Page 170



E091 Pembroke Primary School (8,826) 4,578 (4,248) 
  

E057 Shirenewton Jnr & Inf (87,369) 13,550 (73,819) 
 

Additional mangement time for 
staff. While this will be funded via 
grants, the additional time was not 
factored into the budget, but the 
income was.  

E058 St Mary´s Chepstow RC Jnr 
& Inf 

13,192 (5,036) 8,156 
 

Additional Teaching Assistant 
hours/Midday Supervisory absence 
and back dated incremental pay 
progression. 

E060 The Dell Jnr & Inf (46,094) 21,637 (24,457) 
 

Staff changes to hours from 
September and a TA post not being 
backfilled has resulted in savings 
being forecasted in comparison to 
the budget set. 

E061 Thornwell Jnr & Inf 20,534 (32,512) (11,978) 
  

 
  

 
  

  

Monmouth cluster   
 

  
  

E004 Monmouth Comprehensive 100,573 214,945 315,518 
 

An increase in the income forecast, 
mainly relating to prior financial 
year which was not accrued, has 
resulted in an improved position in 
relation to the budgeted figure. A 
recovery plan has been formulated 
and will be presented to the the 
Chief Officer at the end of June. 

E032 Cross Ash Jnr & Inf (45,620) 9,106 (36,514) 
  

E092 Kymin View Primary School (10,294) 4,949 (5,345) 
  

E039 Llandogo Jnr & Inf 9,736 1,754 11,490 
  

E074 Osbaston Church In Wales 
Primary 

(18,570) 2,573 (15,997) 
  

E051 Overmonnow Jnr & Inf (3,959) 3,399 (560) 
 

Staff savings  

E055 Raglan Jnr & Inf 111,977 40,340 152,317 
 

Staff savings  

E062 Trellech Jnr & Inf (85,762) 17,003 (68,759) 
  

E064 Usk CV Jnr & Inf (56,108) 50,228 (5,880) 
  

   
  

  

 
(344,862) 746,816 401,954 

  

Special Schools 
 

    
  

E020 Mounton House 142,417 (61,166) 81,251 
 

Additional agency staff currently 
being used to cover a staff sickness 
absence and to offer additional 
support to pupils. The school is 
working, however, to reduce costs 
further in order to bring forecast 
back in line with budget. 

E095 PRU (66,340) 11,119 (55,221) 
  

  
    

  

 
76,077 (50,047) 26,030 

  

  
    

  

 (268,786) 696,769 427,983   

 

 

3.4.5 12 schools exhibited a deficit position at the start of 2017/18.  By the end of this financial year this is 
anticipated to be 11, with Chepstow and Thornwell coming out of deficit, and Goytre Fawr going into 
deficit.  The main concern here though is that collectively schools enter a combined deficit reserve 
position contrary to current Fairer Funding guidance that Governing bodies have ascribed to.  In 
cashflow terms any collective schools deficit places a minor unforecast strain on the Treasury 
budget which will reduce its ability to mitigate cost pressures as traditionally has been the case. 

 Page 171



 
3.4.6 Collectively school balances have exhibited the following trend being supplemented late in the year 

by additional improvement grant funding through Welsh government and EAS.   
 

Financial Year-end Net level of School Balances 

2011-12 (965) 

2012-13 (1,240) 

2013-14 (988) 

2014-15 (1,140) 

2015-16  (1,156) 

2016-17 (269) 

2017-18 forecast 428 

 
  
3.4.7 Our Fairer Funding Regulations adopted by Council and Governing Bodies have traditionally 

precluded governing bodies from planning for a deficit position.  This was changed last year to allow 

licensed deficits where a recovery plan is agreed and followed.  However this flexibility only 

extended as far as there being a collective schools reserve surplus i.e. 

 “There is an arrangement in place whereby schools are allowed to plan for a deficit budget 

funded by a collective surplus of school balances held by the authority on behalf of 

schools.” 

3.4.8 In addition to the need to establish recovery plan for those schools in deficit, it remains unlikely that 
the collective level of reserves will sustain the traditional annual draw by schools on reserves in recent 
years, which will add additional focus to addressing the need to remain within budget going forward 
rather than passporting the consequences to their reserves, given that flexibility is now pretty much 
exhausted.   

 
4 REASONS 
 
4.1 To improve budget monitoring and forecasting information being provided to Senior Officers and 

Members. 
 
5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 As contained in the report. 
 
6 EQUALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The decisions highlighted in this report have no equality and sustainability implications. 
 

7 CONSULTEES 

Strategic Leadership Team 

All Cabinet Members 

All Select Committee Chairman 

Head of Legal Services 

Head of Finance 

  

Page 172



 

8   BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Outturn Monitoring Reports (Period 1), as per the hyperlink provided 

 

http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20172018/Forms/Q1.aspx 

 

9 AUTHOR 

Mark Howcroft – Assistant Head of Finance 

Dave Jarrett – Senior Accountant Business Support 

10 CONTACT DETAILS  

Tel. 01633 644740 

e-mail. markhowcroft@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Appendices (attached below) 

Appendix 1 Mandated Savings Progress Report 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 173

http://corphub/initiatives/Budgetmon/20172018/Forms/Q1.aspx
mailto:markhowcroft@monmouthshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Disinvestment by Directorate 2017-18
2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

YTD

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

REVENUE MONITORING 2017-18 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Children & Young People (395) (395) 0 0
Social Care & Health (627) (627) 0 0
Enterprise (84) (84) 0 0
Resources (266) (257) (9) 0
Chief Executives Units (1,324) (1,055) (129) (140)
Corporate Costs & Levies (118) (118) 0 0
Appropriations (1,608) (1,608) 0 0
Financing (885) (885) 0 0

DIRECTORATE Totals (5,308) (5,030) (138) (140)

Ref Children & Young People 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

B20 ALN (150) (150) High

Resources - Removal of training budget (8) (8) Low

Resources - Loss of 3 posts within support services (70) (70) Low

Resources - Removal of professional fees for the directorate (8) (8) Low

Early Years - To remove the funding provided to childcare voluntary 

organisations - Wales PPA, Mudiad Meithrin & Clybiau Plant Cymru Kids’ Club.

(15) (15) Medium

ALN - Reduce the Independent Special School Budget (50) (50) on target, but a fairly 

volatile service

Medium

Other - Reduction in pupil numbers (81) (81) Low

Other - Reduction in contribution required by EAS (14) (14) Low

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE Budgeted Savings Total (395) (395) 0 0

P
age 174



 

Ref Social Care & Health 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

34 Adult Social Care Service Transformation (200) (200) High

Adults - Parity on pricing structure between day service and community meals (25) (25) High

Adults - Development of café at Mardy park and establish private and 

business partnerships to develop catering services 

(2) (2) Low

Adults - Hire of Mardy Park outside or core hours (1) (1) Medium

Adults - Restructure finance and benefits advice team to replace 2 posts on 

lower grades

(16) (16) Medium

Adults - Reduce IT Development budget (10) (10) Low

Adults - alignment of welfare benefits information, advice and assistance 

services

(13) (13) Low

Adults - Detailed Contract Review (56) (56) Medium

Adults - Terminate room rental in Abergavenny (4) (4) Low

Adults - Changing transport practice.   two types of transport savings:- mileage 

incurred by staff to transport service users, and cost of providing transport

(27) (27) Medium

Adults - Review of transport policy to support people who can transport 

themselves

(32) (32) Medium

Adults - explore live in carer rather than hourly cost via care agency (47) (47) Medium

Adults - income generation from MDMY (3) (3) Low

Public Protection - training provided during core time rather than over time (7) (7) Low

Public Protection - FSA Grant for food safety management work (7) (7) Low

Public Protection - Start charging for health export certificates (3) (3) Low

Public Protection - food standards sampling grant (1) (1) Low

Public Protection - Implement "buy with confidence" trader approval scheme (3) (3) Low

Public Protection - Regional Animal Health Coordination (3) (3) Low

Public Protection - WHoTS Coordination  -recharge (3) (3) Low

Public Protection - Set up Primary Authority Partnership scheme for TS 

proactive work

(2) (2) Low

Public Protection - Restructure of licensing team (6) (6) Medium

P
age 175



 
 
  

Ref Social Care & Health 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Public Protection - Increase charge for marriages at Old Parlour Usk (1) (1) Low

Public Protection - Increase cost of certificates of "priority certificates" (6) (6) Low

Social Services income charge rise (150) (150) Medium

SOCIAL CARE & HEALTH Budgeted Savings Total (627) (627) 0 0

P
age 176



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ref Enterprise 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Development Plans - Reduce ‘Premises’ budget line B050 by £1,527 to £0 (2) (2) Low

Development Plans - End membership of Severn Estuary Partnership, reducing E002 budget line by £3,490(3) (3) Low

Development Plans - Reduce ‘Photocopying’ budget line D061 by £2,000 to £3,080 (2) (2) Low

Development Plans - Reduce ‘Postage’ budget line D161 by £1,000 to £1,290 (1) (1) Low

Development Plans - Reduce ‘Advertising’ budget line by £1,000 to £2,008 (1) (1) Low

Development Plans - Reduce ‘Professional Fees’ budget line D080 by £8,183 to £98,244 (8) (8) Low

Development Management - Additional fee income from pre-application 

advice fee charges

(5) (5) Low

Development Management - Move towards paperless planning files and 

consultations; reduction in copying and printing and postage

(5) (5) Low

Development Management - Additional fee income from i) a new Fast Track 

pre-application advice service and ii) a new Fast Track applications service for 

householder developments and lawful development certificates (for a 

proposed use or development)

(2) (2) Low

Development Management - Fee income from a new Completion certificates 

service for developers or solicitors/ householders buying and selling their 

home

(2) (2) Low

Development Management - Reduce Professional & Specialist Fees budget 

(D080)

(9) (9) Low

Development Control - Reduce supplies and services budget (£33k) by £2,638 (3) (3) Low

Housing - Decision already made to end the joint/shared Housing Solutions 

Service with TCBC and re-align the service to an MCC only focus.  

(20) (20) Low

Housing - Replace Flare grants software with Ferret software (6) (6) Low

Housing - Continue to tackle the use of B & B through increased prevention 

and private sector housing development

(8) (8) Low

Housing - Re-structure of Housing Renewal team (6) (6) Low

ENTERPRISE Budgeted Savings Total (84) (84) 0 0

P
age 177



 
 
 

Ref Chief Executive's Unit 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Garden waste income (50) (50) £35k in to date.  

Customers still 

registering so hopeful of 

target being achieved 

Medium

Communities, Hubs, Libraries - Re-structure of management level of 

Community hubs and SLS

(52) (52) Medium

Communities, Hubs, Libraries - Cease the purchase and rental of DVD’s (4) (4) Low

Communities, Hubs, Libraries - Amalgamation of SLS supporting posts from 2 

into 1

(34) (34) Medium

Contact Centres - Reduction of staff (Information Officer) by  half a post  (14) 0 (14) Delayed restructure - 

still under review

Medium

Legal - Colleague reducing days (31) (31) Medium

Policy - Reduce capacity of team by deleting some posts and replacing them 

with posts with reduced responsibilities and working hours

(13) (13) Low

Policy - Reduce non-pay budget by promoting more efficient use of mobile 

phones, printing and copying

(0) (0) Low

Community Safety - Reduce the purchase and maintenance capability for 

CCTV equipment and repairs to existing system.

(2) (2) Low

Partnerships - £5,900 non staff costs can be made through removal of 

professional fees and licenses 

(6) (6) Low

Communications - Reducing the budget for a post to a budget of £8,841 (this 

post is currently being filled by contractors on a day rate of £250 per day).

(18) (18) Low

PTU - Collaboration of passenger transport units with Newport CC( saving 

taken in 15/16 for management support this is in addition through 

restructuring )

(15) (15) Low

Fleet - To withdraw from renting Severn Bridge Social Club car park, Bulwark. (9) (9) Low

Fleet - To decrease general contracts maintenance budget (5) (5) Medium

Fleet - Proactively market the scheme with a view to increase numbers. (7) (7) Low

Fleet - Restructure/redesign within the Transport Section (posts) (9) (9) Low

Fleet - Savings on spare parts (12) (12) Low

Fleet - Savings on consumables & outside contract work (21) (21) Low

P
age 178



 

Ref Chief Executive's Unit 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Waste - Reduce grass cutting frequency to release core staff to focus on 

income generation and more external work

(100) (100) Not implemented - but 

saving achieved through 

other means, mainly 

through underspends in 

Pension Contribution

Low

Waste - Charge schools for the full cost of their waste collections and disposal (30) 0 (30) All schools in the South 

of the County have 

found alternative 

contractors.  The service 

has reported a £80k 

pressure with trade 

waste to which this 

contributes.  

High

Waste - Reduce scheduled cuts and maintenance of Monmouth sports 

grounds to level of original lease agreement

(15) 0 (15) This has not yet 

happened as it has been 

difficult to engage with 

the sports associations.  

Service is attempting to 

manage the pressure in 

budget 

Medium

Waste - Project Gwyrdd annuity payment from WG for 17-18 (70) (70) Achieved Low

Waste - Increase bulky waste collection charges by 50% (£12 to £18) and 

reduce our contribution to Homemakers accordingly

(10) (10) Achieved through 

negotiation with 

Homemakers 

Low

Waste - Additional income from trade waste (10) 0 (10) Not achieved - see 

comment above

High

Waste - Managing impact of reduced activity/ income on tree works (24) (24) Vacancy not yet 

released from budget so 

carrying pressure but 

trying to manage within 

resources at this stage 

Medium

P
age 179



 

Ref Chief Executive's Unit 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Highways - reduction in maintenance budget to reflect impact of investment 

in new (led) lanterns

(8) (8) Low

Highways - reduce pumping station maintenance budget (2) (2) Low

Highways - rsl veb1000 recycling plant : in place and operational saving (14) (14) Low

Highways - welfare units : in place and operational saving (10) (10) Low

Highways - overtime back office : adjust start and finish times (2) (2) Low

Highways - sim cards : review and reduce where not required (2) (2) Low

Highways - review all wales tenders : subject to 2nd layer of reducing cost (2) (2) Low

Highways - reduction in salt budget to reflect reduced usage over recent 

years. stock levels remain constant (budget pays for what is used rather than 

what is stocked). actual usage in year may result in overspend depending 

upon weather conditions

(20) (20) Low

Highways - bartering / hiring kit : partnerships with ncc / tcbc (4) (4) Low

Highways - reduction in response budget to reflect reduced winter 

maintenance (response to snowfall) in recent years. actual conditions during 

the winter will remain at current standards but a risk of resulting overspend 

exists

(10) (10) Low

Highways - review all wales tenders : subject to 2nd layer of reducing cost (2) (2) Low

Highways - cross hire within ops : use in house kit before hire (1) (1) Low

Highways - external hire (2) (2) Low

Highways - fill structure : release additional hours being worked (3) (3) Low

Highways - reduce the amount of scrim investigations undertaken each year. (3) (3) Low

Highways - reduce the amount of revenue structures maintenance 

undertaken each year.

(41) (41) Low

Highways - to increase road closure charges by 50% and recover costs against 

appropriate capital scheme 

(20) (20) Low

Highways - to increase skips, scaffolding licences and street name & 

numbering fee by 50% in 2016/ 2017

(10) (10) Low

Highways - to extend charges to other services (to be identified by working 

group)

(7) (7) Low

P
age 180



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ref Chief Executive's Unit 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Property Services - Train existing staff to carry out risk assessments (25) (25) Medium

Property Services - To withdraw the 60% of the Corporate Procurement 

Training budget.

(6) (6) Low

Property Services - Non replacement of Shared Facilities Manager, following 

resignation. (£11,500 saving) 

(7) (7) Low

Property Services - Mounton House Restructure (19) (19) Medium

Property Services - Increase School meal price from £2.00 to £2.10 (5p already 

in MTFP)

(21) (21) Low

Property Services - flexible retirement, reduced 5 days to 3 (11) (11) Low

Property Services - Vehicles – reduction in leasing costs for courier vehicles (2) (2) Low

Property Services - Press Notices – cease advertising Bank Holiday office 

closures in the Press

(3) (3) Still under review, 

savings have been 

delivered through a 

reduction in supplies 

and services 

expenditure.

Low

Property Services - Refreshment provision – cease providing refreshment 

supplies

(1) (1) Low

Property Services - Increase the time between risk assessments for 

Legionella, Asbestos, Fire & Glazing from the current 2/3 years to minimum of 

5 years

(10) (10) Medium

Property Services - 10% reduction in corporate building maintenance reactive 

budget

(54) (54) Low

Property Services - Realignment of budget for previous efficiencies achieved (15) (15) Low

Recycling Plant (70) (70) Low

Whole Place (100) 0 (100) Service still under 

review.

High

P
age 181



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ref Chief Executive's Unit 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Pension Contribution Savings (160) (160) Low

Procurement Savings (100) 0 (100) Procurement savings 

have yet to be 

identified.   A report 

from V4 has been 

commissioned to 

identify procurement 

initiatives that could be 

actioned to improve 

compliance, quality and 

vfm  but no action has 

taken place as yet.  

High

CHIEF EXECUTIVES' UNIT Budgeted Savings Total (1,324) (1,055) (129) (140)

P
age 182



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ref Resources 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Finance - Delete two part time vacant posts from structure (Cashiers & 

Systems)

(31) (31) Low

Finance - Revise and reduce the structure of the Benefits Shared service 

thereby reducing MCC’s annual contribution

(20) (20) Low

Finance - Reduce the Sections budget for postage costs to reflect the planned 

shift to automation, email and self service through the web

(6) (6) Low

Finance - Release savings from Security Carrier tender evaluation (10) (10) Low

Finance - Cancel contract for folding machine maintenance to reflect reduced 

mail in 5.3 and planned moved to outsourcing of mail to Canon

(4) (4) Low

Finance - Savings in insurance fees and studies (30) (30) Low

Finance - Cut the budget for consultancy across the Division (22) (22) Low

Finance - Reduce the number of cases referred to external Enforcement 

Agents

(5) (5) Low

Finance - Training budget internal audit (7) (7) Low

Digital - Reduction in Enterprise Agreement (13) (13) Low

Digital - General reduction in laptop replacement budget (30) (30) Low

Digital - Specific Server virtual management software no longer required, 

using existing software to remove cost

(23) (23) Low

Estates - Removal of Assistant Markets Officer Post (23) (18) (5) Delayed restructure Medium

Estates - Community Development Officer - 3 to 2 days (7) (3.5) (3.5) Delayed restructure Medium

Estates - Facilities Officer reduced hours (16) (16) Low

Estates - Savings from Solar Farm (9) (9) Medium

People, HR - Generate income from selling training (5) (5) Low

People, HR - Stop producing paper payslips for schools and move to electronic 

payslips 

(5) (5) Low

RESOURCES Budgeted Savings Total (266) (257) (9) 0

P
age 183



 
 

Ref Corporate Costs & Levies 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Crematoria Income (98) (98) on target Low

Grant Audit Fees (20) (20) on target Low

CORPORATE COSTS Budgeted Savings Total (118) (118) 0 0

Ref Appropriations 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

MRP Supported borrowing (1,536) (1,536) on target Low

Headroom in appropriations (12) (12) on target Low

Solar Farm income (160) (160) on target Low

Business rates headroom 100 100 on target Low

APPROPRIATIONS Budgeted Savings Total (1,608) (1,608) 0 0

Ref Financing 2017/18

Budgeted 

Savings

Value of 

Saving

forecast at 

Month 2

Delayed

Savings

Savings deemed

Unachievable

Traffic Light based Risk 

Assessment

ASSESSMENT of

Progress

'Risk of current forecast 

saving NOT being 

achieved ( High / 

Medium / Low )

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Reduced demand for CTRS payments (370) (370) on target Low

CT Base, rate & number of properties (515) (515) on target Low

FINANCING Budgeted Savings Total (885) (885) 0 0

P
age 184



 

Economy and Development Select Committee 

Action List 

13th July 2017 

Minute 
Item: 

Subject Officer Outcome 

 
4. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ICT in Schools Project Update 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Hazel Ilett / 

Sian Hayward 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hazel Ilett / 
Sian Hayward 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sian Hayward 
/ Sarah 

Stephens 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 The post 
evaluation 
review will be 
brought back to 
a future meeting 
of the Select 
Committee for 
scrutiny. 

 

 A Joint Select 
Committee 
meeting will be 
held in the 
future between 
the Economy 
and 
Development 
Select 
Committee and 
the Children 
and Young 
People Select 
Committee 
regarding 
moving from the 
primary to the 
secondary 
sector and 
apprenticeships. 

 

 To establish 
whether 
bandwidth could 
be sold to the 
open market. 

 
 
 
 

Page 185

Agenda Item 7



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Performance report 2016/17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Work Programme Report 

 
Sian Hayward 

/ Sarah 
Stephens 

 
 
 
 
 

Richard Jones 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hazel Ilett 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hazel Ilett 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 To establish 
whether rural 
communities 
could use the 
100MB 
bandwidth. 

 
 
The Policy and 
Performance Officer 
would take on board 
the questions raised by 
the Select Committee 
and liaise with officers 
with a view to 
ascertaining how to 
progress these 
matters. 
 
 

 Business 
Improvement for 
small 
businesses 
report to be 
emailed to 
Select 
Committee 
Members for 
context. 

 

 A workshop 
session would 
be held to 
discuss the 
Future 
Monmouthshire 
agenda with 
discussion to 
establish which 
items would be 
incorporated 
into this topic. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186



 
Hazel Ilett 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hazel Ilett 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hazel Ilett 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hazel Ilett 

 

 Employability 
Grant, as well 
as other reports 
identified in the 
report to be 
emailed to the 
Committee, 
initially.  
Members could 
then decide 
whether it 
required further 
scrutiny via the 
Select 
Committee. 
 

 The report 
regarding the 
return on 
Investment of 
the Velothon 
2016 will be 
emailed to 
Select 
Committee 
Members. 
 

 The Scrutiny 
Manager to 
liaise with 
Scrutiny 
Managers within 
border 
authorities with 
a view to 
initiating 
dialogue 
regarding cross 
border issues 
for further 
discussion later 
in the year. 

 

 Arrange for 
some 
workshops to be 
established 
from September 
2017. 

Page 187



 

Page 188



Monmouthshire’s Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 2017 
 

Economy Select Committee 

Meeting Date Subject Purpose of Scrutiny Responsibility Type of Scrutiny  

7th Sep 2017 

 

*Invite Strong 

Communities 

Members and 

Planning 

Committee* 

Annual Monitoring Report Report on how the Local Development Plan is 

delivering against targets (this will discuss both the 

LDP Review currently taking place and other issues 

raised by the committee such as housing, transport, 

enterprise). 

Mark Hand Performance 

Monitoring 

Budget Monitoring – 

Period 2 

To review the financial situation for the directorate, 

identifying trends, risks and issues on the horizon 

with overspends/underspends). 

Mark Howcroft Budget Monitoring 

17th Oct 2017 

WORKSHOP 

2pm 

 

*Invite all 

Members, 

Economy to 

lead* 

Future Mon Member 

Workshop  

 

To draw on Member’s 

expertise, skill-sets and 

ideas for Monmouthshire’s 

future growth and 

response to challenges 

Workshop with members to initially cover the 

following key areas which will be scrutinised in-depth 

over 2017-18: 

 

 Affordable housing, transport and the LDP 

 Impact of the removal of the Severn Tolls 

 City Deal and the regional agenda 

 Tourism and enterprise 

Kellie Beirne 

Mark Howcroft 

Mark Hand 

Cath Fallon 

Matthew Gatehouse  

Action Learning 

19th October 

2017 

Tourism performance and 

Destination Management 

Plan Review 

 Explanation of STEAM results (performance 

measures for tourism) for Monmouthshire. 

 Scrutiny of the Destination Management Plan 

(undergone recent public consultation). 

Nicola Edwards Performance 

Monitoring  

Pre-decision Scrutiny 

Tourism Supplementary 

Planning Guidance 

Approval of the SPG for adoption following 

consultation. 

Mark Hand Performance 

Monitoring 

Annual Planning Report 

 

 Report on performance against the Wales 

average/Welsh Government targets. 

Mark Hand Performance 

Monitoring 

P
age 189

A
genda Item

 8



Monmouthshire’s Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 2017 
 

Early Nov 2017 

CROSS BORDER 

VISIT 

 

TBC 

Meet 

border/neighbouring 

English councils  

 

 

Discussion on issues that cross county boundaries to 

explore any synergies/learning: 

 

 Affordable housing, transport  

 Impact of the removal of the Severn Tolls 

 Tourism and enterprise 

Kellie Beirne 

Mark Hand 

  

Action Learning 

30th November 

2017 

Budget Scrutiny  Scrutiny of the Budget proposals relating to the 

committee’s remit for 2018-2019 

Mark Howcroft Budget Scrutiny 

25th January 

2018  

Budget Monitoring - 

period 7 

To review the financial situation for the directorate, 

identifying trends, risks and issues on the horizon 

with overspends/underspends). 

Mark Howcroft Budget Monitoring 

15th March 

2018 

    

26th April 2018 Budget Monitoring  - 

Period 12 

To review the financial situation for the directorate, 

identifying trends, risks and issues on the horizon 

with overspends/underspends). 

Mark Howcroft Budget Monitoring 

 

Future Meeting Items: 

Agreed Scrutiny Focus for 2017-18: 

 Affordable housing, transport and the LDP 

 Impact of the removal of the Severn Tolls 

 City Deal and the regional agenda 

 Tourism and enterprise 

 

 ICT in Schools ~ scrutinise jointly with CYP Select ~ Post Evaluation Review to return.   Joint scrutiny of the outcomes for 

young people: Implementing the technology → delivering the teaching and learning → digital attainment levels.    

 

P
age 190



Monmouthshire’s Scrutiny Forward Work Programme 2017 
 

Work Programme Items for circulation: 

 

Agreed for the following reports to be emailed as opposed to tabled (unless requested by members): 

 Velethon Report for 2016, 2017 when available 

 I County Strategy 2 ~ revised strategy to incorporate digital maturity and culture ~ October 

 People Strategy ~ corporate strategy for staff ~ October 

 Information Strategy ~ linking 3 strands:  information governance, data insight and digital data ~ October 

 Employability Grant ~ October 

 ‘Inspire Programme’ Extension ~ October 

P
age 191



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
      

Council and Cabinet Business – Forward Plan 
 

Monmouthshire County Council is required to publish a Forward Plan of all key decisions to be taken in the 
following four months in advance and to update quarterly.  The Council has decided to extend the plan to twelve 
months in advance, and to update it on a monthly basis. 
 
Council and Cabinet agendas will only consider decisions that have been placed on the planner by the beginning of 
the preceding month, unless the item can be demonstrated to be urgent business 

 

 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

1ST MARCH 2017 - CABINET  
    

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2016/17 meeting 5 held on the 19th 
January 2017. 

 Dave Jarrett 

Outcomes of the Recycling 
Review. 

Cabinet to agree the Final Business Case 
determining the outcomes of the Recycling 
Review. 
 

 Rachel Jowitt 

Safeguarding Progress 
Report 

  Teresa Norris 

Effectiveness of Council 
Services: Quarter 3 
Progress 

  Matt Gatehouse 
 

Cemeteries - amendments 
to charging policy 

  Deb Hill Howells 

The Knoll, Abergavenny 
Section 106 funding 

  Mike Moran 

    

P
age 193

A
genda Item

 9



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

ADM – Business Case   Tracey Thomas 

EAS Business Case   Will Mclean 

Community Governance   Will Mclean 

2017/18 Education and 
Welsh Church Trust  Funds 
Investment and Fund  
 

The purpose of this report is to present to 
Cabinet for approval the 2017/18 Investment and 
Fund strategy for Trust Funds for which the 
Authority acts as sole or custodian trustee for 
adoption and to approve the 2017/18 grant 
allocation to Local Authority beneficiaries of the 
Welsh Church Fund. 
 

 Dave Jarrett 

    

8th MARCH 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

Private sector housing 
enforcement 

  Huw Owen 

PSPO x 2: Fairfield Car 
Park and Abergavenny 
Skate Park 

  Andrew Mason 

Homeless Reserve Fund   Ian Bakewell 

Fostering Fees Review   Claire Marchant 

Accounts Payable Strategy 
– Further automation of the 
procedure to  process 
payment 

  Lisa Widenham 

Appropriation of the land at 
Rockfield Farm, Undy 

From County farms use to planning use  Gareth King 

Cemeteries – amendments 
to charging policy 

  Deb Hill Howells 

Direct Care Leadership 
Restructure 

  Colin Richings 

Transport Policy   Clare Morgan 

Disposal of land on Garden 
City Way for Affordable 

  Ben Winstanley 

P
age 194



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Housing 

Cae Maldon Bus Routes   Christian Schmidt 

Monmouthshire Museums 
Centralisation of Staffing 
Structure 

  Cath Fallon 

9TH MARCH 2017 - COUNCIL 
    

Council Tax Resolution 
2017/18 and Revenue and 
Capital Budgets 2017/18 

To set budget and Council tax for 2017/18  Joy Robson 

Treasury Management 
Strategy 2017/18 

To accept the annual Treasury Management 
Strategy 

 Joy Robson 

Asset Investment Strategy    Peter Davies 

Outcome of Recycling 
Review 

To agree the Final Business Case determining 
the outcomes of the Recycling Review. 

 Rachel Jowitt 

Procurement Strategy for 
Household Waste Recycling 
Centre, Transfer Stations 
and Residual Haulage. 

For Council to approve the procurement strategy 
and affordability envelope for the procurement of 
a new contract running from 2018-2030 (7 years 
plus 5 years extension possibility).   

 Rachel Jowitt 

Approval of Car Park Capital 
Budget in 2017/18 

  Roger Hoggins 

20TH  MARCH 2017 - COUNCIL 
ADM Business Case   Tracey Thomas 

Pay Policy   Tracey Harry/Sally 
Thomas 

Well-being Assessments for 
the county and Objective 
setting for the Council 

i) Well-being of Future Generations Assessment 
(author Matthew Gatehouse) 
ii) Population Needs Assessment (authors 
Matthew Gatehouse/Phil Diamond) 
iii) Council’s Well-being Objectives and Plan 
(author Matthew Gatehouse/Richard Jones) 
iv) Biodiversity and Ecosystem Resilience 
Forward Plan (author Matthew Lewis) 

 Matt Gatehouse 

Safeguarding Progress 
Report 

  Teresa Norris 

P
age 195



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Position Statement report re: 
Social Services 

  Geoff Burrows 

Council Diary   Nicola Perry 

Chief Office CYP 
Appointment 

  Tracey Harry 

WAO Kerbcraft   Clare Marchant 

Community Governance   W. McLean 

29th MARCH 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Contracts Manager – Adult 
and Children’s 
Commissioning 

  Ceri York 

Proposed 40 Mph Speed 
Limit Portal Road And Link 
Road Monmouth 

  Paul Keeble 

Food Law enforcement 
policy - Monmouthshire 
alternative to prosecution 
policy (mapp) 

  David H Jones 

To make Permanent the 
current temporary post of 
the Carers Services 
Development Manager 

  Kim Sparrey 

Staffing Restructure: 
Development Management 
Team 

  Mark Hand 

Staffing Restructure: 
Planning Policy Team 

  Mark Hand 

Monmouthshire Lettings 
Service 

  Steve Griffiths 

Permanent appointment of 
Temporary Admin Support 
post (RBC13A). 

  Nigel George 

    

5th APRIL 2017 - CABINET 
    

P
age 196



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

    

Introduction of a fast-track 
service in relation to pre-
application advice; lawful 
development certificates 
and compliance letters, and 
amendments to pre-
application fees 

  Mark Hand 

12th APRIL 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Young Carers’ Strategy 
2017 -20 

  Kim Sparrey 

Supporting People Plan and 
Grant Spend  

  Chris Robinson 

Additional Grant Funding for 
Local Authority to deliver the 
High St Rates Relief 
Scheme 

  Ruth Donovan 

Proposed re-alignment of 
the Estates team to meet 
budget mandate savings  
 

Cllr Murphy  Deb Hill- Howells 

Living Levels Landscape 
Partnership:  

Cllr P Hobson  Matthew Lewis 

Flexible Early Retirement – 
Planning Services 

  Mark Hand 

Introduction of a fast-track 
service in relation to pre-
application advice; lawful 
development certificates and 
compliance letters, and 
amendments to pre-
application fees 

  Mark Hand 

26th APRIL 2017 – INDIVUDAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Welfare Rights Review 
 

ITEM DEFERRED TO 24/5/17  Tyrone Stokes 

P
age 197



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Proposed 20 MPH Speed 
Limit, A472 Usk 

Cllr B Jones  Paul Keeble 

Community Hubs 
Restructure 

Cllr RJB Greenland  Deb Hill Howells 

Monmouthshire Local 
Development Plan Draft 
Sustainable Tourism 
Accommodation 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

Cllr B Greenland  Martin Davies 

Monmouthshire Local 
Development Plan Rural 
Conversions To A 
Residential Or Tourism Use 
(Policies H4 & T2) 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

Cllr B Greenland  Martin Davies 

16TH  MAY 2016 – ANNUAL MEETING 
    

    

    

18TH MAY 2017 – DEFERRED BUSINESS COUNCIL 
    

    

24TH MAY 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Welfare Rights Review   Tyrone Stokes 

Event Opportunities – 
Summer 2017 

  Dan Davies 

 A40/A466 Wyebridge, 
Monmouth – Proposed 
Junction Improvement 

  Paul Keeble 

Proposed acquisition of land 
Magor 

  Deb Hill Howells 

7TH JUNE 2017  – CABINET  

P
age 198



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

    

To approve the Corporate 
Safeguarding Policy 

  Teresa Norris / 
Claire Marchant  

Anti Fraud, Bribery & 
Corruption Policy Statement 
– REVISED AND UPDATED 

  Andrew Wathan 

Welsh Language Progress 
Report. 

  Alan Burkitt 

Highway Grant and Section 
106 budgets 

  Paul Keeble 

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications for the Welsh Church Fund Working 
Group meeting 5 of the 2016/17 financial year 
held on the 20th March 2017. 

 

 Dave Jarrett 
 

Revenue & Capital 
Monitoring 2016/17 Outturn 
Forecast Statement 

To provide Members with information on the 
outturn position of the Authority for the 2016/17 
financial year 

 Mark Howcroft 

CYP Support Services Re-
Structure 

To propose a restructure within CYP support 
services to achieve saving from the Medium 
Term Financial Plan 

 Nikki Wellington / 
Sharon Randall 
Smith 

14TH JUNE 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Sale of Freehold  of Land at 
Plot 9a Wonastow Rd, 
Monmouth 

The sale of the Freehold has been agreed 
subject to approval to Mandarin Stone who 
currently lease the area on a long lease from 
MCC.  

 Nicola Howells 

Installation of charging 
points for electric cars in 
MCC public car parks 

To seek approval for the installation of charging 
points for electric cars in MCC car parks in the 
county. 
 

 Roger Hoggins 

Release of restrictive 
covenant at Former 
Abergavenny Magistrates 
Court and Police Station. 

  Nicholas Keyse 

P
age 199



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

28th JUNE 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Social Housing Grant   Shirley Wiggam 

Proposed Reduction in the 
size of the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority 

To respond to Welsh Government Consultation on the 
Proposed Reduction in the size of the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority 
 
 

CLLR BRYAN JONES Matthew Lewis 

29TH JUNE 2017 - COUNCIL 
CCTAudit Committee Zero 
Hour Contracts Report  

  Philip White 

Audit Committee Annual 
Report  

  Philip White  

5TH JULY 2017  –  CABINET 
Update and approval of 
matters arising from the 
Safeguarding arrangements 
action plan – kerbcraft 
scheme 

  Roger Hoggins / 
Paul Keeble / 
Graham Kinsella 

Youth Enterprise – European 
Structural Fund (Esf) 
Programmes - Inspire2work 
Extension. 

  Cath Fallon 

Annual Report of the 
Director of Social Services 

  Claire Marchant 

12TH JULY 2017- INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

14th JULY 2017 - SPECIAL CABINET 
CSC (Compound Semi-
Conductor) Project 

  Peter Davies 

26TH JULY 2017 – INDIVIUDAL CABINET  MEMBER DECISION 
Allocation of funding to 
Develop a Town Centre 
Regeneration Plan, Caldicot 

  Roger Hoggins 

10C Severnbridge Industrial 
Estate, Caldicot. 

 Cllr Murphy Deb Hill Howells 

P
age 200



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Raglan Village Hall 
Progress Update 

 Cllr Murphy Deb Hill Howells 

Disposal of agricultural land 
in Goytre on the open 
market’ 

 Cllr Murphy Gareth King 

Youth Enterprise – 
European Structural Fund 
(Esf) Programmes – Inspire 
Programmes – Finance 
Officer Re-Evaluation 
  

  Cath Fallon 

Rural Development 
Programme – New Post 
(Internal Secondment) 
Pollinator Project 
Coordinator 

  Cath Fallon 

Caldicot Town Team 
Funding - Enhancement of 
Pedestrian Area, Newport 
Road, Caldicot. 

ITEM DEFERRED TO 9TH AUGUST  Judith Langdon 

27TH JULY 2017 - COUNCIL 
Annual Report of the 
Director of Social Services 

  Claire Marchant 

Safeguarding Policy   Cath Sheen 

Monmouth Pool   Ian Saunders 

9TH AUGUST  2017 –  INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Caldicot Town Team 
Funding - Enhancement of 
Pedestrian Area, Newport 
Road, Caldicot. 

  Judith Langdon 

9TH AUGUST 2017 – SPECIAL CABINET 
Senior Leadership 
Realignment 

  Kellie Beirne 

    

23RD AUGUST 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

P
age 201



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

S106 funding: Pen y Fal 
bridge repairs 

 

To draw down appropriate S106 funding to fund 
the repairs to the footbridge at the Pen y Fal 
development in Abergavenny. (MOVED TO 14TH 
FEB 2018) 

 Rachel Jowitt/Roger 
Hoggins 

RDP funded Temporary 
Part time Coach Tourism 
Visitor Information Officer 
Post 

  Nicola Edwards 

Staffing Restructure: 
Development Management 
Team 

  Mark Hand 

Senior Social Worker Post 
in the Adult Disability 
Service, focussing on 
Continuing Health Care 
(CHC) Issues 

  Mike Logan 

6TH SEPTEMBER 2017 – CABINET 
Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this combined report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2017/18, meeting 1 held on the 29th 
June and meeting 2 held on 27th July 2017. 

 Dave Jarrett 

Contaminated Land 
Inspection Strategy 

  Huw Owen 

Community Engagement 
Review Update/Whole 
Place and Partnerships 
Team restructure 

  Cath Fallon 

Update on Fair Funding 
Regulations for Schools in a 
deficit budget 

To inform members of the current requirements 
through the fair funding regulations for schools 
that are reporting a deficit budgets and the 
actions required to address 

 Nikki Wellington 

To declare surplus the 
former sextons lodge at 
Chepstow Cemetery, 
Chepstow 

To declare the property surplus following the 
retirement of the previous sexton at the Chepstow 
Cemetery to enable the Council to begin the 
disposals process 

 Gareth King 

P
age 202



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Budget Monitoring report – 
period 2 

The purpose of this report is to provide Members 
with information on the forecast outturn position of 
the Authority at end of month reporting for 
2016/17 financial year. 
 

 Joy Robson/Mark 
Howcroft 

Section 106 Gilwern School   Richard Morgan 

    

13TH SEPTEMBER 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Adoption of Highway 
Management Plan including 
appointment of Highway 
Asset Inspector and 
changes to Asset Planning 
Officer posts 

  Paul Keeble 

DELIVERING SAVINGS – 
POLICY AND 
PERFORMANCE 

  Matt Gatehouse 

21st SEPTEMBER 2017 – COUNCIL 
MCC Audited Accounts 
2016/17 (formal approval) 

To present the audited Statement of Accounts for 
2016/17 for approval by Council 

 Joy Robson 

Stage 2 Improvement Plan 
2016/17 

To seek council approval of the Stage 2 
Improvement Plan for 2016/17. 
 
 

 Richard Jones 

Payment Guarantee by 
MCC to WG – City Deal 
Compound Semiconductor 
Project.  

   

ISA260 report – MCC 
Accounts -  

To provide external audits reports on the 
Statement of Accounts 2016/17 

 Joy Robson 

27th SEPTEMBER 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Revised Information 
Strategy following Audit 
Committee on 19th Sept 

  Sian Hayward 

4TH OCTOBER 2017 – CABINET 

P
age 203



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

MTFP and Budget 
Proposals for 2018/19 

To provide Cabinet with Revenue Budget 
proposals for 2018/19 for consultation purposes 

 Joy Robson 

Cash Receipting System 
Tender 

To seek approval and funding for Authority’s 
replacement cash receipting system 

 Ruth Donovan 

Funding for Caldicot Town 
Team Action Plan 2017/18 

 Sara Jones Judith Langdon 
 

Proposed sale of land at 
Crick Road to Melin Homes 

  Deb Hill Howells 

Office accommodation and 
the refurbishment of E & J 
blocks and Pen y Pound 
Community Learning Centre 

  Deb Hill Howells 

Volunteering Policy    Owen Wilce 

People Strategy   Paul Matthews 

iCounty strategy 2 Update to the iCounty strategy to incorporate 
digital maturity and culture 
 

 Sian Hayward 

11TH OCTOBER 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISON 
    

25TH OCTOBER 2017  –  INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

    

1ST NOVEMBER 2017 – CABINET 
Capital Budget Proposals To outline the proposed capital budget for 

2018/19 and indicative capital budgets for the 3 
years 2019/20 to 2021/22 

 Joy Robson 

Review of Fees and 
Charges 

To review all fees and charges made for services 
across the Council and identify proposals for 
increasing them in 2018/19 

 Joy Robson 

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2017/18, meeting 3 held on the 21st 
September 2017. 

 Dave Jarrett 

8TH NOVEMBER 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

P
age 204



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

9TH NOVEMBER 2017 – COUNCIL 
Appointment of the 
Preferred Bidder for the 
Heads of the Valleys Food 
Waste Treatment 
Procurement 

  Rachel Jowitt 

Office accommodation and 
the refurbishment of E & J 
blocks and Pen y Pound 
Community Learning Centre 

  Deb Hill Howells 

22ND NOVEMBER 2017– INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

6TH DECEMBER 2017  – CABINET 
Council Tax base 2018/19 
and associated matters 

To agree the Council Tax Base figure for 
submission to the Welsh Government, together 
with the collection rate to be applied for 2018/19 
and to make other necessary related statutory 
decisions. 

 Sue Deacy/Wendy 
Woods 

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2017/18, meeting 4 held on the 9th 
November 2017 

 Dave Jarrett 

13TH DECEMBER 2017 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Local Government (Wales) 
Act 1994 The Local 
Authorities 
(Precepts)(Wales)Regulatio
ns 1995 

To see approval of the proposals for consultation 
purposes regarding payments to precepting 
Authorities during 2018/19 financial year as 
required by statute 

 Joy Robson 

    

14TH DECEMBER 2017 - COUNCIL 

    

3RD JANUARY 2018 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

 

10TH JANUARY 2018 – CABINET 

P
age 205



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group  

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2017/18, meeting 5 held on the 14th 
December 2017 

 Dave Jarrett 

Final Draft Budget 
Proposals or 
recommendation to Council 

  Joy Robson 

Budget Monitoring Report – 
Period 7 

The purpose of this report is to provide Members 
with information on the forecast outturn position 
of the Authority at end of month reporting for 
2016/17 financial year. 
 

 Joy Robson/Mark 
Howcroft 

17TH JANUARY 2018 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
Local Government 
(Wales)Act 1994  The Local 
Authorities 
(Precepts)(Wales)Regulatio
ns 1995 

To seek members approval of the results of the 
consultation process regarding payment to 
precepting Authorities for 2018/19 as required by 
statute 

 Joy Robson 

    

18TH JANUARY 2018 - COUNCIL 
Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 2018/19 

  Ruth Donovan 

    

31ST JANUARY 2018  – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

7TH FEBRUARY 2018 –  CABINET 

    

    

14TH FEBRUARY 2018  –  INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
S106 funding: Pen y Fal 
bridge repairs 

 

To draw down appropriate S106 funding to fund 
the repairs to the footbridge at the Pen y Fal 
development in Abergavenny.  

 Rachel Jowitt 

    

22ND FEBRUARY 2018 – COUNCIL 

P
age 206



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

    

28TH FEBRUARY 2018 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

    

1ST MARCH 2018 - COUNCIL 
Council Tax Resolution 
2018/19 

  Ruth Donovan 

7TH MARCH 2018 - CABINET 
2018/19 Education and 
Welsh Church Trust Funds 
Investment and Fund 
Strategies 

The purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet 
for approval the 2018/19 Investment and Fund 
Strategy for Trust Funds for which the Authority 
acts as sole or custodian trustee for adoption and 
to approve the 2017/18 grant allocation to Local 
Authority beneficiaries of the Welsh Church Fund. 

 Dave Jarrett 

14TH MARCH 2018 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

    

28TH MARCH 2018 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

11TH APRIL 2018 - CABINET 
Welsh Church Fund 
Working Group 

The purpose of this report is to make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the Schedule of 
Applications 2017/18, meeting 6 held on the 22nd 
February 2018 

 Dave Jarrett 

    

18TH APRIL 2018 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

19TH APRIL 2018  - COUNCIL 
    

    

9TH MAY 2018 – INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 
    

    

P
age 207



 
Subject 

 

 
Purpose 

 
Consultees 

 
Author 

 
    

 
    

 
Hannah Jones would like to come to Cabinet in July 2018 to update on Youth Enterprise - European Structural Fund (ESF) 
Programmes - Inspire2Work extension (originally brought to Cabinet July 2017). 

P
age 208


	Agenda
	4 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting.
	Minutes

	5 Monmouthshire Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring Report.
	1b Appendix 1 - LDP AMR 2017
	1c Appendix 2 Future Gens Evaluation (Equal and Sus Assessment) - AMR 2017

	6 Revenue & Capital Monitoring 2017/18 Outturn Statement.
	7 List of actions arising from the previous meeting.
	8 Economy and Development Select Committee Forward Work Programme.
	9 Council and Cabinet Business Forward Plan.



